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Thanks 
Chiranjeev Jain TEAM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 5 
 
 
 

FEEDBACK ABOUT SIR’S CLASSES 
Shalaka Tiwari - Shastri, Hyderabad 
I have taken the classes for CA Final FR from Chiranjeev Jain 
sir and I believe he is an great teacher and a amazing mentor.  
His methodology of teaching is unique, while in class there's no 
concept untaught. He teaches whole heartedly and makes sure 
that you get your basics right.  
I have no other words to express this better. 
I will say, just join him and u will see the results !! 
CJ sir ROCKS !!!!! 

Amit Jain, Kolkata  
Hi Students, I am CA Amit Kumar Jain, practicing in 
Gurgaon. I am one of the old students of CA Chiranjeev Sir, 
and belong to his first CA final batch in kolkata. Today, on 
Teacher's Day, I would love to convey my gratitude to him for 
his wonderful coaching classes. The learnings shared by him 
both related to course and related to practical life after CA, 
has been very useful in my journey. He is one of the best CA 
Final teacher in India and I recommend all students to join 
him. 

Navneet Singh , Hyderabad 
When I started my journey to become a Chartered accountant, 
the only fear I had was will I be able to have that conceptual 
knowledge which is needed the most in a profession like ours.!! 
Now after completing my CA I can tell you that starting from 
Accounts in CPT then with Accounts in IPCC and to end with 
Financial reporting in CA Final, the conceptual understanding of 
the subject which I gained from you helped me become what I 
am now.. Thank you Sir once again to be available whenever 
asked for and help me achieve my dream of becoming a CA. 

Obaid Khan , Hyderabad 
To begin with a quote "It takes a big heart to help shape little 
minds.”  
Thank You Sir, for being an Amazing faculty throughout CA 
journey. Now that I completed my journey, I feel immensely 
honoured for being your student and learning the concepts 
precisely in a manner that helps in application too.  
Words might fall short to express the gratitude, for you have 
been an Amazing teacher, mentor and a friend. 
Just a small appreciation post from a student, moreover from 
a Fan of your ideas and teaching. 

Isan Singh, Kolkata 
i have taken FR classes from CA Chiranjeev Jain Sir….He is best 
in this subject…. It’s because of Sir I get to know so much about 
accounts especially IND AS, 
I have also taken accounts from him in CA IPCC and I scored 
very good marks in IPCC even though I was average in accounts 
subject. He teach from base which makes easy for average 
students to score high in exams. He gives through conceptual 
knowledge do that students will able to write worst paper in 
exams with ease. 
Thanks sir for ur valuable teaching. 

Arihant Kothari, Hyderabad 
Thanks to the man with great caps,a perfect guide who has 
really helped us at every point and gave his helpful hands 
without any complaints .. You be the best sir   โโโ 
It is to thankyou for those priceless teachings   โI m really 
thankfull for all you good words that kept me motivated and 
focussed towards my goal . I feel lucky to get a place under 
your umbrella .. Whatever be the results your imprints will 
always be there sir .Thanks a lot sir !โ 

Ashutosh Lahoti, Hyderabad 
Thank you sir for providing us the best lectures with an ease. It 
was an amazing time spending with you. I'm very lucky to learn 
the subject of Accountancy that too of IPCC level under your 
guidance. You made this subject very easy with your experience 
and teaching quality. Actually your friendly nature towards the 
students made it more easier to understand the subject. Even 
your scoldings were like roses without thornes.  
Thank you so much sir for helping us get through our targets. 
Will be missing those class fun but hope to see you soon in CA 
final classes.  
ཾProud to be CHIRANJEEVIAN ཾ 

Niharika Phalod , Hyderabad 
"A good teacher can inspire hope, ignite the imagination and 
instill a love of learning" 
I would truly like to appreciate the great effort you have put 
into tutoring and enlightening my way. Because of your 
guidance and patience, I've come this far in my CA journey. 
Thankyou for always being there in all my confusions and 
helping me deal with all the stress during ipcc days!  
Accounts couldn't be more easier and all the credit goes to 
your easy techniques. 
Thankyou for being my mentor. I'm truly blessed to be your 
student! Wish you a very happy teachers day Sir.  โ 

Nikita Simran, Hyderabad 
I'm so grateful to be your student. Thank you for instilling in me 
the passion for learning. You've put in selfless efforts in shaping 
our career! We're truly blessed to have a mentor like you โ 
Lastly I would like to say-Now I see the world in a different light 
I can discriminate between wrong and right, I perceive things in 
a different style, I have learnt to go the extra mile, I have a 
deeper understanding of things Dear teacher you have truly 
given me wings � 
Thank you for everything sir � 

Shalaka Tiwari - Shastri, Hyderabad 
I have taken the classes for CA Final FR from Chiranjeev Jain 
sir and I believe he is an great teacher and a amazing mentor.  
His methodology of teaching is unique, while in class there's 
no concept untaught. He teaches whole heartedly and makes 
sure that you get your basics right.  
I have no other words to express this better. 
I will say,just join him and u will see the results !! 
CJ sir ROCKS !!!! 
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Chinna Poojari , Bangalore 
Sir,. It's very glad to have these words to you..u r d person who 
stands with me not only as my guru but as a family member 
during my tough times.. The way you teach us makes ourself to 
Mold towards subject conceptually...Coz of u only I have got 
AIR's in IPCC and CMA.... Being ur student makes me 
proud...gives me confidence that I can achieve all thru 
success.....finally thank you is not enough for ur services...Just 
will show thanks in the form of results in our exams....  
Not only the subject your personality as a Chartered Accountant 
tis the Perfect Example for all Budding CA's. 
One word about my guru ."CA Chiranjeevi sir is the 
BAADSHAH OF IND AS " in india. 

Venkata Sumanth, Vijaywada 
Teachers usually make us study... Chiranjeev Jain sir made us 
enjoy the subject...We stepped out of the class with tonnes of 
confidence and belief ..... 
Thank you very much sir.... 
We never found in your class, a teacher- student 
relationship...We always felt that we are being taught by a best 
friend and well-wisher... 
We will be grateful forever sir.... 
With tonnes of love... 
One word about Chiranjeevi Jain sir .... 
You taught us from your Heart...not from book... 

Afsar Shaik, Hyderabad 
Sir...trust me...before starting of this batch....I wondered how ur 
gonna complete this in 70 days...wr as other faculies r taking for 
3 or 4 mnths....but finally  I got my answer....u gave us the main 
thing what we want actually  i.e, conceptual clarity....thank u soo 
much sir 
Ashish Soni, Hyderabad 
Sir you can inspire hope, ignite the imagination, and instill a love 
of learning..motivating...Thank You Sir ## CJ Sir the Best# 

Ankitha Baldwa , Hyderabad 
Thank you so much sir u be the best lecturer of my life Apka 
padane ka style baat karne ka style Apki shyaris Kya baat sir, 
missing all my memorable moments of ur class โ 

Chaitanya , Hyderabad 
Your way of teaching is something different that we will be in 
a thought that you are teaching slow but we’ll get to know 
your fast once we missed your class and seeing the notes the 
next day. Really loved the class very much sir. Thankuuuuu so 
much sir.  
The real life stories you teaches in class are inspired. Sir, we 
will go through many teachers in life sir. But only few we can 
remember lifelong. You’re one among them and one you got 
the position with 70 days time while with everyone I spent not 
less than 2 years. Once again Thank you sir. 
Sir, I may not score 90+ in exam, But I’m sure I’ll give my 
200% for getting 90+. Because we have only two options. 
Either 90+ or 90+. 

Sakshi Sharma, Hyderabad 
I have been taught by so many teachers but amongst them all you 
made the greatest impact by not only teaching by guiding us too. 
The loving ways of teachers like you is difference between 
teaching and educating thanks for teaching us, educating us, and 
empowering us thanks a lot sir 
Khushi Srivastava, Hyderabad 
I pursued 61 in accounting just because of Chiranjeev Jain Sir. 
His notes are not less than a face to face teaching...he covers each 
and every minute stuff...lucky to be his student. 

Soujanya V M, Bangalore 
I have attended his classes and he is very knowledgeable..He 
teaches the complex things in a very simple manner...He is a 
good guide for a student ...Because of him I got exemption in 
IPCC accounts...Students who are interested in conceptual 
learning can join his classes without any second thought...! 
The chart prepared by him is simple and easily 
understandable...Very much useful for the students for last 
minute revision... 
Thank you sir for all the teaching and guidance...!! 

Rakhi Jha, Hyderabad 
#SIR Ji # THANK YOU, I joined Yeshas just because you were 
teaching us ACCOUNTS  #Your the most coolest & friendly 
faculty #You always motivated us  #You always guided us on 
right path #Yet I can't believe that today was our last IPCC class 
# I personally never ever saw a great faculty like YOU # We all 
gonna miss you so much� #You always helped us SIR JI # You 
were just like our friend's #A BIG BIG THANK YOU SIR JI # 
See you soon in CA-FINAL #WILL MISS YOU SIR JI 
#LOVE YOU TONS & TONS  

Shams Afaq , Hyderabad 
I have done my schooling from science stream,so at the start of 
CPT only I was nervous, if I will be able to do accounts. But 
my whole nervousness was transformed into interest of 
learning by Chiranjeev Sir. He created a strong foundation for 
me with conceptual clarity. It was his easy going approach 
even when the concepts were challenging, I scored 44/60 in 
CPT and then 76/100 in IPCC. I will always be grateful to you. 
You are phenomenal. Keep up the good work! 

Nithin Mundada, Hyderabad 
The way you teach.. The knowledge you share..  The care you 
take..The love you shower..Makes you.. The world's best sir....It's 
my pleasure to have such a nice sir with charming smile..and I 
have never seen such a sir like.....  
Jaya Chandra, Visakhapatnam 
Sir's notes is very helpful during revision and he teaches from 
basics on which we generally don't pay much attention. The way 
he links each topic is good and he has much clarity in how to 
teach complex topics. 

Naveen Pspk  , Hyderabad 
Scored 75 in Accounts..its just because of Mr.CA 
chiranjeevjain sir...initially I was bothered about DAT subject 
as I was from science background... But then I met with sir 
classes it changed whole scenario ....&d result is dis....tq sir tq 
so much.... 
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COMPILATION OF AS QUESTIONS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARD INTRODUCTION 

Question 1:  

Write short note on NACAS.    [Nov 2008, 4 Marks] 

Answer: NACAS: Under Section 210 A of the Companies Act 1956, the Central Government, by 
notification, has constituted a committee to advise the Central Government on the formulation of 
accounting policies and accounting standards for adoption by companies or class of companies 
specified under the Act. Based on the recommendations of NACAS, the Central Government has 
notified AS 1 to AS 7 and AS 9 to AS 29 in Dec. 2006 in the form of Companies (Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2006. 

Question 2:  

What are the issues with which Accounting Standards deal?   

Answer: Accounting Standards deal with the issues of 

1. Recognition of events and transactions in the financial statements, 

2. Measurement of these transactions and events, 

3. Presentation of these transactions and events in the financial statements in a manner that is 
meaningful and understandable to the reader, and 

4. Disclosure requirements to get an insight into what these financial statements are trying to 
reflect and thereby facilitating them to take prudent and informed business decisions. 

Question 3:  

State the exemptions/relaxations available to Small and Medium Sized Corporate (SMCs) in 
complying with the notified Accounting Standards as provided by the Central Government.   

[RTP, May 2013] 

Answer: The SMCs are given the following exemptions / relaxations in complying with the notified 
accounting standards: 

1.  AS 3 “Cash flow Statement” and AS 17 “Segment Reporting” are not applicable to SMCs in their 
entirety. 

2.  AS 21 “Consoildated Financial Statements”, AS 23 “Accounting for Investment in Associates in 
Consolidated Financial Statements” and AS 27 “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint 
Ventures” are also not applicable to SMCs since the relevant regulations require compliance 
with them only by certain Non-SMCs. 

3.  The SMCs have been given following relaxations as regards AS 15 "Employee Benefits": 
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-  SMCs need not comply paras 11 to 16 of AS 15 to extent they deal with recognition and 
measurement of short-term accumulated compensating absences. 

-  Discounting the amount payable after 12 months of balance sheet as regards defined 
contribution plans and termination benefits. 

-  Recognition, measurement and disclosure principles in respect of defined benefit plans 
and other long-term employee benefits plan. However such enterprises should provide 
and disclose the accrued liability in respect of defined benefit plan and other long-term 
employee benefit plan as per actuarial valuation based on projected unit credit method 
and discount rate based on yield on Government bonds. 

4.  SMCs need not disclose diluted EPS as per AS 20 "Earnings Per Share".  

5.  SMCs need not comply with disclosure requirements regarding operating lease given under 
sub-paras (b) & (d) of para 46; sub-paras (a), (b) & (e) of para 25; sub-paras (a) & (f) of para 37 
and sub-paras (c), (e) & (f) of para 22 of AS 19 regarding disclosure requirements for finance 
lease by the lessor and lessee respectively. 

6.  ‘Value in use’ has been differently defined for SMCs which provides an alternate to calculate 
‘value in use’ based on a reasonable estimate of future cash flows. 

7.  SMCs are exempt from disclosure requirements of paras 66 and 67 of AS 29 “Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” regarding provisions and its descriptions. 

Question 4:  

A company was classified as Non-SMC in 2011-12. In 2012-13 it has been classified as SMC. The 
management desires to avail the exemption or relaxations available for SMCs in 2012-13. However, 
the accountant of the company does not agree with the same. Comment.  [RTP, May 2013] 

Answer: As per Rule 5 of the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, an existing company, 
which was previously not an SMC and subsequently becomes an SMC, shall not be qualified for 
exemption or relaxation in respect of accounting standards available to an SMC until the company 
remains an SMC for two consecutive accounting periods. Therefore, the management of the 
company cannot avail the exemptions available with the SMCs for the year ended 31st March, 2013. 

Question 5:  

M/s Omega & Co. (a partnership firm), had a turnover of Rs. 1.25 crores (excluding other income) 
and borrowings of Rs. 0.95 crores in the previous year. It wants to avail the exemptions available in 
application of Accounting Standards to non-corporate entities for the year ended 31.3.2013. Advise 
the management of M/s Omega & Co in respect of the exemptions of provisions of ASs, as per the 
directive issued by the ICAI.    [RTP, Nov 2013] 

Answer: The question deals with the issue of Applicability of Accounting Standards to a non 
corporate entity. For availment of the exemptions, first of all, it has to be seen that M/s Omega & 
Co. falls in which level of the non-corporate entities. Its classification will be done on the basis of the 
classification of non-corporate entities as prescribed by the ICAI. According to the ICAI, non-
corporate entities can be classified under 3 levels viz Level I, Level II (SMEs) and Level III (SMEs). 
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If an entity whose turnover (excluding other income) exceeds rupees fifty crore in the immediately 
preceding accounting year, it does not fall under the category of Level I entities. Non-corporate 
entities which are not Level I entities but fall in any one or more of the following categories are 
classified as Level II entities: 

(i) All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities, whose turnover (excluding other 
income) exceeds rupees one crore but does not exceed rupees fifty crore in the immediately 
preceding accounting year. 

(ii)  All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities having borrowings (including public 
deposits) in excess of rupees one crore but not in excess of rupees ten crore at any time during 
the immediately preceding accounting year. 

(iii)  Holding and subsidiary entities of any one of the above. 

As the turnover of M/s Omega & Co. is more than Rs. 1 crore, it falls under 1st criteria of Level II 
non-corporate entities as defined above. Even if its borrowings of Rs. 0.95 crores is less than Rs. 1 
crores, it will be classified as Level II Entity. In this case, AS 3, AS 17, AS 21, AS 23, AS 27 will not be 
applicable to M/s Omega & Co. Relaxations from certain requirements in respect of AS 15, AS 19, AS 
20, AS 25, AS 28 and AS 29 are also available to M/s Omega & Co. 

DISCLOSURES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (AS 1) 
Question 1: 

A company has switched over to weighted average formula for ascertaining cost of 
inventory, from the earlier practice of using FIFO. If the closing inventory by FIFO is Rs.2 lakh 
and that by weighted average formula is Rs.1.8 lakh, the change in accounting policy pulls 
down profit and value of inventory by Rs.20,000. Show by notes to account how the 
company should disclose the change in accounting policy. 
   

Answer: The company may disclose the change in accounting policy in the following 
manner:” The company values its inventory at lower of cost and net realisable value. Since 
net realisable value of all items of inventory in the current year was greater than respective 
costs, the company valued its inventory at cost. In the present year the company has 
changed to weighted average formula, which better reflects the consumption pattern of 
inventory, for ascertaining inventory costs from the earlier practice of using FIFO for the 
purpose. The change in policy has reduce profit and value of inventory by Rs.20,000. 

Question 2:  

VIP Ltd. made a right issue of shares in 1997. In the offer document to its members, it had 
projected as surplus of Rs. 40 crores during the accounting year to ended on 31-3-1998. The 
draft results for the year prepared on the higher to followed accounting policies and 
presented for perusal of the Board of Directors showed a deficit of Rs. 10 crores. The Board 
in consultation with MD, decided on the following: 
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a) Value yearend inventory at works cost (Rs. 50 crores instead of hitherto method of 
valuation of inventory at prime cost (Rs. 30 Crores). 

b) Provide Depreciation for the Year on SLM on account of substantial additions in gross 
block during the year, instead of on the WDV, which was hitherto adopted, as a 
consequence, the charge for depreciation at Rs. 27 crores is lower than the amount of 
Rs. 45 crores which would have been provided had the old method been followed, by 
Rs. 18 crores. 

c) Not to provide for after sales service during the warranty period. Till the last Year, a 
provision at 2% of sales used to be made under the concept of matching costs against 
revenue and the actual Expenses used to be charged against the provision. The Board 
now decided to account for expenses as and when actually incurred sales during the 
year totaled to Rs. 600 crores. 

d) Provide for permanent fall in the value of investments which fall had take place over 
the past five years, the provision being 10 crores. 

As chief Account of Company, you are asked by MD to draft the Notes on Accounts for 
inclusion in the Annual Report for 1998-99. You can make necessary assumptions.  [May 
1998, 15 Marks] 

Answer: Notes on Accounts: 

(i) During the year in inventory has been valued at factory cost, against the practice of 
valuing it at prime cost as was the practice till last year. This has been done to take 
cognizance of the more capital intensive method of production on account of heavy 
capital expenditure during the year. As a result of this change, the year-end inventory 
has been valued at Rs. 50 crores and the profit for the year is greater by Rs. 20 corers. 

(ii) In view of the heavy capital-intensive method of production introduced during the 
year, the company has decided to change the method of providing depreciation from 
reducing balance method to straight-line method. As a result of this change, 
depreciation has been provided at Rs. 27 crores which is lower than the charge, which 
would have been made, had the old method and the old rates been applied, by Rs. 18 
crores. To that extent, the profit for the year is greater. 

(iii) So far, the company has been providing 2% of sales for meeting “after sales expenses” 
during the warranty period. With the improved method of production, the probability 
of defects occurring in the products has reduced considerably. Hence, the company has 
decided not to make provision for such expenses but to account for the same as and 
when expenses are incurred. Due to this change, the profit of the year is greater by Rs. 
12 crores than would have been the case if the old policy were to continue. 

(iv) The company has decided to provide Rs. 10 crores of the permanent fall in the value of 
investments which has taken place over the period of past five years The provision so 
made has reduced the profit disclosed in the accounts by Rs. 10 crores. 
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Question 3:  

X Limited has sold its building for Rs. 50 lakhs to the purchaser who has paid the full price. 
Company has given possession to the purchaser. The book value of the building is Rs. 35 
lakhs. As at 31st March, 2013, documentation and legal formalities are pending. The 
company has not recorded the disposal. It has shown the amount received as advance. Do 
you agree with this accounting treatment done by X Ltd.? If not, then suggest the correct 
accounting treatment in this regard.    

Answer: Although legal title has not been transferred, the economic reality and substance is 
that the rights and beneficial interest in the immovable property have been transferred. 
Therefore, recording of disposal by the transferor would in substance represent the 
transaction entered into. 

In view of this, X Ltd. should record the sales and recognize the profit of Rs. 15 lakhs in its 
Statement of Profit & Loss. It should remove building account from its balance sheet. 
Further, in its ‘Notes to Accounts’, X Ltd. should disclose the following: 

“Building has been sold and full consideration has been received and possession of the same 
has been handed over to the buyer. However, documentation and legal formalities are 
pending as on 31.3.2013.” 

Question 4:  

ABC Ltd. was making provision for non-moving stocks based on no issues for the last 12 
months up to 31.3.2005. The company wants to provide during the year ending 31.3.2006 
based on technical evaluation: 

Total value of stock  Rs. 100 lakhs 

Provision required based on 12 months issue  Rs. 3.5 lakhs 

Provision required based on technical evaluation  Rs. 2.5 lakhs 

Does this amount to change in Accounting Policy? Can the company change the method of 
provision? 

Answer: The decision of making provision for non-moving stocks on the basis of technical 
evaluation does not amount to change in accounting policy. Accounting policy of a company 
may require that provision for non-moving stocks should be made. The method of estimating 
the amount of provision may be changed in case a more prudent estimate can be made. 

In the given case, considering the total value of stock, the change in the amount of required 
provision of non-moving stock from Rs.3.5 lakhs to Rs.2.5 lakhs is also not material. The 
disclosure can be made for such change in the following lines by way of notes to the 
accounts in the annual accounts of ABC Ltd. for the year 2005-06: 

“The company has provided for non-moving stocks on the basis of technical evaluation 
unlike preceding years. Had the same method been followed as in the previous year, the 
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profit for the year and the corresponding effect on the year end net assets would have been 
higher by Rs.1 lakh.” 

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES (AS 2) 
Q 1 Night Ltd. sells beer to customers; some of the customers consume the beer in the 

bars run by Night Limited. While leaving the bars, the consumers leave the empty 
bottles in the bars and the company takes possession of these empty bottles. The 
company has laid down a detailed internal record procedure for accounting for these 
empty bottles which are sold by the company by calling for tenders. Keeping this in 
view:  

(i)  Decide whether the stock of empty bottles is an asset of the company;  

(ii)  If so, whether the stock of empty bottles existing as on the date of Balance Sheet is to 
be considered as inventories of the company and valued as per AS-2 or to be treated 
as scrap and shown at realizable value with corresponding credit to ‘Other Income’? 

Ans:  Tangible objects or intangible rights carrying probable future benefits, owned by an 
enterprise are called assets. Night Ltd. sells these empty bottles by calling tenders. It 
means further benefits are accrued on its sale. Therefore, empty bottles are assets for 
the company.  

 As per AS 2 “Valuation of Inventories”, inventories are assets held for sale in the 
ordinary course of business. Stock of empty bottles existing on the Balance Sheet date 
is the inventory and Night Ltd. has detailed controlled recording and accounting 
procedure which duly signify its materiality. Hence stock of empty bottles cannot be 
considered as scrap and should be valued as inventory in accordance with AS 2. 

Q 2 An enterprise ordered 13,000 Kg. of certain material at Rs 90 per unit. The purchase 
price includes excise duty Rs 5 per Kg., in respect of which full CENVAT credit is 
admissible. Freight incurred amounted to Rs 80,600. Normal transit loss is 4%. The 
enterprise actually received 12,400 Kg and consumed 10,000 Kg. Calculate the cost of 
inventory.    

Ans:  Normal cost per Kg. 

Purchase price (13,000 Kg. x Rs. 90)  11,70,000 
Less: CENVAT Credit (13,000 Kg. x Rs. 5)       65,000 
 11,05,000 
Add: Freight   80,600 
A. Total material cost  11,85,600 
B. Number units normally received = 96% of 13,000 Kg.  Kg. 12,480 
C. Normal cost per Kg. (A/B)  95 

 Allocation of material cost 
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 Kg.  Rs./Kg.  Rs. 
Materials consumed  10,000  95  9,50,000 
Cost of inventory  2,400  95  2,28,000 
Abnormal loss  80  95  7,600 
Total material cost  12,480  95  11,85,600 

 Note: Abnormal losses are recognised as separate expense 

Q 3 On 31st March 2013 a business firm finds that cost of a partly finished unit on that 
date is Rs 530. The unit can be finished in 2013-14 by an additional expenditure of Rs 
310. The finished unit can be sold for Rs 750 subject to payment of 4% brokerage on 
selling price. 

 The firm seeks your advice regarding:- 

(i)  the amount at which the unfinished unit should be valued as at 31st March, 
2013 for preparation of final accounts and 

(ii) the desirability or otherwise of producing the finished unit.  

Ans:  Valuation of unfinished unit  

Net selling price  750 
Less: Estimated cost of completion  (310) 
 440 
Less: Brokerage (4% of 750)  30 
Net Realisable Value  410 
Cost of inventory  530 
Value of inventory (Lower of cost and net realisable value)  410 

 Incremental cost Rs 310 (cost to complete) is less than incremental revenue Rs 720 
(Rs 750- Rs 30). The enterprise will therefore decide to finish the unit for sale at Rs 
750. 

 Note: The above answer is given on the assumption that partly finished unit cannot be 
sold in semi finished form and its NRV is zero without processing it further. 

Q 4 CC Ltd., a Pharmaceutical Company, while valuing its finished stock at the yearend 
wants to include interest on Bank Overdraft as an element of cost, for the reason that 
overdraft has been taken specifically for the purpose of financing current assets like 
inventory and for meeting day to day working expenses. [May 2005, Nov 2010] 

Ans: As per Accounting Standard 2 “Valuation of Inventories”, cost of inventories 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. However, it makes 
clear that interest and other borrowing costs are usually not included in the cost of 
inventories because generally such costs are not related in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Therefore, the proposal of CC Ltd. to include 
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interest on bank overdraft as an element of cost is not acceptable because it does not 
form part of cost of production. 

Q 5:  The Company X Ltd., has to pay for delay in cotton clearing charges. The company up 
to 31.3.2006 has included such charges in the valuation of closing stock. This being in 
the nature of interest, X Ltd. decided to exclude such charges from closing stock for 
the year 2006-07. This would result in decrease in profit by Rs 5 lakhs. Comment. 

Ans:  As per AS 2, interest and other borrowing costs are usually considered as not relating 
to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition and are therefore, 
usually not included in the cost of inventories. However, X Ltd. was in practice to 
charge the cost for delay in cotton clearing in the closing stock. As X Ltd. decided to 
change this valuation procedure of closing stock, this treatment will be considered as 
a change in accounting policy and such fact to be disclosed as per AS 1 and AS 5. 

 Therefore, any change in amount mentioned in financial statement, which will affect 
the financial position of the company should be disclosed properly as per AS 1, AS 2 
and AS 5. 

 Also a note should be given in the annual accounts that, had the company followed 
earlier system of valuation of closing stock, the profit before tax would have been 
higher by Rs 5 lakhs. 

Q 6:  Raw materials inventory of a company includes certain material purchased at Rs 100 
per kg. The price of the material is on decline and replacement cost of the inventory 
at the year end is Rs 75 per kg. It is possible to convert the material into finished 
product at conversion cost of Rs 125. Decide whether to make the product or not to 
make the product, if selling price is (i) Rs 175 and (ii) Rs 225. Also find out the value of 
inventory in each case.  

Ans:  As per AS 2 ‘Valuation of Inventories’, materials and other supplies held for use in the 
production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in 
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. However, 
when there has been a decline in the price of materials and it is estimated that the 
cost of the finished products will exceed net realizable value, the materials are 
written down to net realisable value. In such circumstances, the replacement cost of 
the materials may be the best available measure of their net realisable value. 

(i)  When selling price is Rs 175 

 Incremental Profit = Rs 175 - Rs 125 = Rs 50 

 Current price of the material = Rs 75 

 Therefore, it is better not to make the product. Raw material inventory would 
be valued at net realisable value i.e. Rs 75 because the selling price of the 
finished product is less than Rs 225 (100+125) per kg. 
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(ii)  When selling price is Rs 225 

 Incremental Profit = Rs 225 - Rs 125 = Rs 100 

 Current price of the raw material = Rs 75. 

 Therefore, it is better to make the product. Raw material inventory would be 
valued at Rs 100 per kg because the selling price of the finished product is not 
less than Rs 225. 

Note: Abnormal losses are recognised as separate expense 

Q 7:  The closing inventory at cost of a company amounted to Rs 2,84,700. The following 
items were included at cost in the total: 

(a)  400 coats, which had cost Rs 80 each and normally sold for Rs 150 each. Owing to a 
defect in manufacture, they were all sold after the balance sheet date at 50% of their 
normal price. Selling expenses amounted to 5% of the proceeds. 

(b)  800 skirts, which had cost Rs 20 each. These too were found to be defective. Remedial 
work in April cost Rs 5 per skirt, and selling expenses for the batch totaled Rs 800. 
They were sold for Rs 28 each. 

 What should the inventory value be according to AS 2 after considering the above 
items? 

Ans:  Valuation of Closing Stock 

Particulars  Rs  Rs 
Closing Stock at cost   2,84,700 
Less :Cost of 400 coats (400 x 80)  32,000  
Less: Net Realisable Value (400 x 75) – 5%  28,500      3,500 
Value of Closing Stock  2,81,200 

 Provision for repairing cost Of Rs. 4,000 (800 x 5) to be incurred in future should be 
created as per AS 29 

Q 8:  Calculate the value of raw materials and closing stock based on the following 
information: 

 Raw material X  

 Closing balance  500 units 

  Rs. per unit 

 Cost price including excise duty  200 

 Excise duty (Cenvat credit is receivable on the excise duty paid)  10 

 Freight inward  20 
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 Unloading charges  10 

 Replacement cost  150 

 Finished goods Y  

 Closing Balance  1200 units 

  Rs. per unit 

 Material consumed  220 

 Direct labour  60 

 Direct overhead  40 

 Total Fixed overhead for the year was Rs. 2,00,000 on normal capacity of 20,000 units. 

 Calculate the value of the closing stock, when 

(i) Net Realizable Value of the Finished Goods Y is Rs. 400. 

(ii) Net Realizable Value of the Finished Goods Y is Rs. 300.  [May 2016] 

Ans: Working Notes: 

Raw Material X  Rs. 
Cost Price  200 
Less: Cenvat Credit  (10) 
 190 
Add: Freight Inward  20 
Unloading charges  10 
Cost  220 
Finished goods Y  Rs. 
Materials consumed  220 
Direct Labour  60 
Direct overhead  40 
Fixed overheads (Rs. 2,00,000/20,000 units)  10 
Cost  330 

 Situation (i) 

 When Net Realisable Value of the Finished Goods Y is Rs. 400 

 NRV is greater than the cost of Finished Goods Y i.e. Rs. 330 

 Hence, Raw Material and Finished Goods are to be valued at cost 

 Value of Closing Stock: 

 Qty  Rate  Amount (Rs.) 
Raw Material X  500  220  1,10,000 
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Finished Goods Y  1,200  330  3,96,000 
Total Cost of Closing Stock    5,06,000 

 Situation (ii) 

 When Net Realisable Value of the Finished Goods Y is Rs. 300 

 NRV is less than the cost of Finished Goods Y i.e. Rs. 330 

 Hence, Raw Material is to be valued at replacement cost and Finished Goods are to be 
valued at NRV since NRV is less than the cost 

 Value of Closing Stock: 

 Qty  Rate  Amount (Rs.) 
Raw Material X  500  150  75,000 
Finished Goods Y  1,200  300  3,60,000 
Total Cost of Closing 

Stock  
  4,35,000 

 Note: It has been considered that Raw Material X is used for the production of 
Finished Goods Y. 

Q 9:  Mr. Mehul gives the following information relating to items forming part of inventory 
as on 31-3-2015. His factory produces Product X using Raw material A. 

(i)  600 units of Raw material A (purchased @ Rs. 120). Replacement cost of raw material 
A as on 31-3-2015 is Rs. 90 per unit. 

(ii)  500 units of partly finished goods in the process of producing X and cost incurred till 
date Rs. 260 per unit. These units can be finished next year by incurring additional 
cost of Rs. 60 per unit. 

(iii)  1500 units of finished Product X and total cost incurred Rs. 320 per unit. 

 Expected selling price of Product X is Rs. 300 per unit. 

 Determine how each item of inventory will be valued as on 31-3-2015. Also calculate 
the value of total inventory as on 31-3-2015.  

Ans: As per AS 2 “Valuation of Inventories”, materials and other supplies held for use in the 
production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in 
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at cost or above cost. 
However, when there has been a decline in the price of materials and it is estimated 
that the cost of the finished products will exceed net realizable value, the materials 
are written down to net realizable value. In such circumstances, the replacement cost 
of the materials may be the best available measure of their net realizable value. In the 
given case, selling price of product X is Rs. 300 and total cost per unit for production is 
Rs. 320. 
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 Hence the valuation will be done as under: 

(i)  600 units of raw material will be written down to replacement cost as market value of 
finished product is less than its cost, hence valued at Rs. 90 per unit. 

(ii)  500 units of partly finished goods will be valued at 240 per unit i.e. lower of cost Rs. 
320 (Rs. 260 + additional cost Rs. 60) or Net estimated selling price Rs. 240 (Estimated 
selling price Rs. 300 per unit less additional cost of Rs. 60). 

(iii)  1500 units of finished product X will be valued at NRV of Rs. 300 per unit since it is 
lower than cost Rs. 320 of product X 

 Valuation of Total Inventory as on 31.03.2015: 

Units  Cost (Rs.)  NRV/Replacement Value = (cost or units x 
  Cost NRV)Lower value 
Raw material A 600 120 90 54,000 
Partly finished goods 500 260 240 1,20,000 
Finished goods X 1,500 320 300 4,50,000 
Value of Inventory     6,24,000 

Q 9 In a manufacturing process of Vijoy Limited, one by-product BP emerges besides two 
main products MP1 and MP2 apart from scrap. Details of cost of production process 
are here under: 

 Item  Unit  Amount Output (unit) Closing stock as 

   (Rs.)  on 31-03-2012 

 Raw material  15,000  1,60,000  MP1-6,250  800 

 Wages  -  82,000  MP2- 5,000  200 

 Fixed overhead  -  58,000  BP-1,600  - 

 Variable overhead  -  40,000   - 

 Average market price of MP1 and MP2 is Rs. 80 per unit and Rs. 50 per unit 
respectively, by product is sold @ Rs. 25 per unit. There is a profit of Rs. 5,000 on sale 
of by-product after incurring separate processing charges of Rs. 4,000 and packing 
charges of Rs. 6,000, Rs. 6,000 was realised from sale of scrap. 

 Calculate the value of closing stock of MP1 and MP2 as on 31-03-2012.   

Ans: As per para 10 of AS 2 ‘Valuation of Inventories’, most by-products as well as scrap or 
waste materials, by their nature, are immaterial. They are often measured at net 
realizable value and this value is deducted from the cost of the main product. 

1.  Calculation of net realizable value of by-product, BP Rs 
 Selling price of by-product BP (1,600 units x RRs. 25 per unit)  40,000 
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 Less: Separate processing charges of by- product BP (4,000) 
 Packing charges  (6,000) 
 Net realizable value of by-product BP  30,000 
2.  Calculation of cost of conversion for allocation between joint products MP1 

and MP2 
  Rs.  Rs. 
 Raw material   1,60,000 
 Wages   82,000 
 Fixed overhead   58,000 
 Variable overhead   40,000 
  3,40,000  
 Less: NRV of by-product BP ( See calculation 1)  (30,000)  
 Sale value of scrap  (6,000)  (36,000) 
 Joint cost to be allocated between MP1 and MP2   3,04,000 
3.   Determination of “basis for allocation” and allocation of joint cost to MP1 

and MP2 
  MP1  MP2 
 Output in units (a)  6,250 units  5,000 units 
 Sales price per unit (b)  Rs. 80  Rs. 50 
 Sales value (a x b)  Rs. 5,00,000  Rs.2,50,000 
 Ratio of allocation  2  1 
 Joint cost of Rs. 3,04,000 allocated in the ratio of 

2:1 (c)  
Rs. 2,02,667  Rs. 1,01,333 

 Cost per unit [c/a]  Rs. 32.43  Rs. 20.27 
4.   Determination of value of closing stock of MP1 

and MP2 
  

  MP1  MP2 
 Closing stock in units  800 units  200 units 
 Cost per unit  Rs. 32.43  Rs. 20.27 
 Value of closing stock  Rs. 25,944  Rs.4,054 

Q 10 T Ltd. commenced its manufacturing activities from 1st April, 2012. In the course of 
production the company generated certain by-products. As at 31st March 2013 the 
company did not value the by-products considering the value as insignificant. The 
management of the company is of the opinion that the by-products are inventory of 
the company and it should be valued and brought into books of account. Comment. 

Ans:  As per AS 2 on “Valuation of Inventories”, a production process may result in more 
than one product being produced simultaneously. This is the case when joint products 
are produced or when there is a main product & a by-product. If the costs of 
conversion of each product are not separable, they are allocated on a rational & 
consistent basis. 
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 Most of the by-products as well as scrap or waste materials, by their nature, are 
immaterial. They are often measured at net realizable value and this value is 
deducted from the cost of the main product. In the given case, as the value of the by-
products is insignificant, the realizable value of by products should be ascertained and 
it should be deducted from the cost of the main product. 

 Hence, T Ltd. should deduct the realizable value of its by products from the cost of 
production of main product. 

Q 11: Sun Ltd. has fabricated special equipment (solar power panel) during 2014-15 as per 
drawing and design supplied by the customer. However, due to a liquidity crunch, the 
customer has requested the company for postponement in delivery schedule and 
requested the company to withhold the delivery of finished goods products and 
discontinue the production of balance items.  

 As a result of the above, the details of customer balance and the goods held by the 
company as work-in-progress and finished goods as on 31-03-2016 are as follows:  

 Solar power panel (WIP) Rs. 85 lakhs  

 Solar power panel (finished products) Rs. 55 lakhs  

 Sundry Debtor (solar power panel) Rs. 65 lakhs  

 The petition for winding up against the customer has been filed during 2015-16 by 
Sun Ltd.  

 Comment with explanation on provision to be made of Rs. 205 lakh included in Sundry 
Debtors, Finished Goods and Work-in-progress in the financial statements of 2015-16. 

Ans: From the fact given in the question it is obvious that Sun Ltd. is a manufacturer of 
solar power panel. As per AS 2 ‘Valuation of Inventories’, inventories are assets (a) 
held for sale in the ordinary course of business; (b) in the process of production for 
such sale; or (c) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production 
process or in the rendering of services. Therefore, solar power panel held in its stock 
will be considered as its inventory. Further, as per the standard, inventory at the end 
of the year are to be valued at lower of cost or NRV.  

 As the customer has postponed the delivery schedule due to liquidity crunch the 
entire cost incurred for solar power panel which were to be supplied has been shown 
in Inventory. The solar power panel are in the possession of the Company which can 
be sold in the market. Hence company should value such inventory as per principle 
laid down in AS 2 i.e. lower of Cost or NRV. Though, the goods were produced as per 
specifications of buyer the Company should determine the NRV of these goods in the 
market and value the goods accordingly. Change in value of such solar power panel 
should be provided for in the books. In the absence of the NRV of WIP and Finished 
product given in the question, assuming that cost is lower, the company shall value its 
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inventory as per AS 2 for Rs. 140 lakhs [i.e solar power panel (WIP) Rs. 85 lakhs + solar 
power panel (finished products) Rs. 55 lakhs].  

 Note: Alternatively, if it is assumed that there is no buyer for such fabricated solar 
power panel, then the NRV will be Nil. In such a case, full value of finished goods and 
WIP will be provided for in the books.  

 As regards Sundry Debtors balance, since the Company has filed a petition for winding 
up against the customer in 2015-16, it is probable that amount is not recoverable 
from the party. Hence, the provision for doubtful debts for Rs. 65 lakhs shall be made 
in the books against the debtors amount. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (AS 3) 
Q 1:  Arrange and redraft the following Cash Flow Statement in proper order keeping in 

mind the requirements of AS 3: 

 Rs. (in lacs)  Rs. (in lacs) 
Net Profit   60,000 
Add: Sale of Investments   70,000 
Depreciation on Assets   11,000 
Issue of Preference Shares   9,000 
Loan raised   4,500 
Decrease in Stock        12,000 
  1,66,500 
Less: Purchase of Fixed Assets  65,000  
Decrease in Creditors  6,000  
Increase in Debtors  8,000  
Exchange gain  8,000  
Profit on sale of investments  12,000  
Redemption of Debenture  5,700  
Dividend paid  1,400  
Interest paid       945  1,07,045 
  59,455 
Add: Opening cash and cash equivalent       12,341 
Closing cash and cash equivalent       71,796 

Ans: Cash Flow Statement 

Cash flows from operating activities   (Rs. in lacs) 
Net profit   60,000 
Less: Exchange gain   (8,000) 
Less: Profit on sale of investments   (12,000) 
  40,000 
Add: Depreciation on assets   11,000 
Change in current assets and current liabilities   51,000 
(-) Increase in debtors  (8,000)  
(+) Decrease in stock  12,000  
(-) Decrease in creditors   (6,000)  (2,000) 
Net cash from operating activities   49,000 
Cash flows from investing activities   
Sale of investments  70,000  
Purchase of fixed assets  (65,000)  
Net cash from Investing activities   5,000 
Cash flows from financing activities   
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Issue of preference shares  9,000  
Loan raised  4,500  
Redemption of Debentures  (5,700)  
Interest paid  (945)  
Dividend paid    (1,400)  
Net cash from financing activities     5,455 
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents   59,455 
Add: Opening cash and cash equivalents   12,341 
Closing cash and cash equivalents   71,796 

Q 2:  Bellhop LLC submits the following information pertaining to year 2011. Using the 
data, you are required to find the ending cash and bank balances given an opening 
figure thereof was Rs. 1.55 million by preparing cash flow statement. 

 (Rs. millions) 
Additional shares issued  6.50 
CAPEX (Capital expenditure)  9.90 
Proceeds from assets sold  1.60 
Dividends declared  0.50 
Gain from disposal of assets  (1.20) 
Net income  3.30 
Increase in Accounts Receivable  1.50 
Redemption of 4.5% debentures  2.50 
Depreciation & Amortization  0.75 

Ans: Cash Flow Statement of Bellhop LLC for the year ended 31st March, 2011 

 Rs. in millions  Rs. in 
millions 

Cash flows from operating activities   
Net income  3.30  
Add: Depreciation & amortization  0.75  
Loss from disposal of assets  1.20  
Less: Increase in accounts receivables  (1.50)  
Net cash generated from operating activities   3.75 
Cash flows from investing activities   
Capital expenditure  (9.90)  
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  1.60  
Net cash used in investing activities   (8.30) 
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issuance of additional shares  6.50  
Dividend declared  (0.50)  
Redemption of 4.5% debentures  (2.50)  
Net cash generated from financing activities   3.50 
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Net decrease in cash   (1.05) 
Cash at beginning of the period   1.55 
Cash at end of the period (Balancing figure)   0.50 

 

CONTINGENCIES AND EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER 
THE BALANCE SHEET DATE (AS 4) 

Q 1 A company follows April-March as its financial year. Sometimes the company receives 
cheques dated 31 March or before, after 31 March but before approval of financial 
statements. It recognizes such cheques by debiting Cheques in hand A/c and crediting 
the Debtors A/c. The Cheques in hand is shown in the balance sheet as an item of 
cash and cash equivalents. All the Cheques in hand are presented to bank in the 
month of April and are also realized in the same month in the normal course after 
deposit in the bank. 

Ans: Event occurred – Receipt of cheques 

Timing of event – between balance sheet date and date of approval by the board 

Condition existing – None. The cheques were received after the balance sheet date 

Hence, the collection of cheques is not an adjusting event. 

Recognition of cheques in hand is therefore not consistent with the requirements of 
AS 4. 

Also, it does not represent material change or commitments affecting financial 
position and so no disclosure in Directors’ Report is necessary. 

Q 2:  Cashier of A-One Limited embezzled cash amounting to Rs. 6,00,000 during March, 
2012. However same comes to the notice of Company management during April, 
2012 only. Financial statement of the company is not yet approved by the Board of 
Directors of the company. With the help of provisions of AS 4 “Contingencies and 
Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date” decide, whether the embezzlement of 
cash should be adjusted in the books of accounts for the year ending March, 2012?   

 What will be your reply, if embezzlement of cash comes to the notice of company 
management only after approval of financial statements by the Boar Directors of the 
company?    [May 2012] 

Ans: As per AS 4, assets and liabilities should be adjusted for events occurring after the 
balance sheet date that provide additional evidence to assist the estimation of 
amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet date. 
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 Though the theft, by the cashier Rs. 6,00,000, was detected after the balance sheet 
date (before approval of financial statements) but it is an additional information 
materially affecting the determination of the cash amount relating to conditions 
existing at the balance sheet date. Therefore, it is necessary to make the necessary 
adjustments in the financial statements of the company for the year ended 31st 
March, 2012 for recognition of the loss amounting Rs. 6,00,000.  

 If embezzlement of cash comes to the notice of company management only after 
approval of financial statements by board of directors of the company, then the 
treatment will be done as per the provisions of AS 5. This being extra ordinary item 
should be disclosed in the statement of profit and loss as a part of loss for the year 
ending March, 2013. The nature and the amount of prior period items should be 
separately disclosed on the statement of profit and loss in a manner that its impact on 
current profit or loss can be perceived. 

Q 3:  X and Y entered into an agreement on 20.12.2005 which provided for the sale of an 
asset (book value Rs 2,50,000) for Rs 3,70,000 to Y. The sale deed was to be registered 
and other formalities completed on 15.1.2006. Y has paid an advance money of Rs 
50,000 to X on 20.12.2005.  Both X and Y prepare final accounts on December 31 
every year and present in April next. How the transaction be shown in the books of X 
and  for the year 2005.  

Ans: Books of X: Agreement to sell has been entered on 20.12.2005 and he has received an 
advance of Rs 50,000 on the same date. But the actual sale has taken place only on 
15.1.2006 (next year). Though, the sale has taken place before approval of accounts, 
yet the profit of Rs 1,20,000 (i.e. Rs 3,70,000 – Rs 2,50,000) need not be recognised in 
the financial statements for the year 2005. The amount received as advance shall be 
shown as a liability in the balance sheet and there should be an disclosure in Notes to 
Accounts about the agreement to sell. The profit should be recognized only in the 
year 2006, when it is actually realized. 

 Books of Y: He has paid an advance of Rs 50,000 and it should be shown in the 
balance sheet. There should be a disclosure in the Notes to Accounts for the year 
2005, that agreement for purchase of an asset at a price of Rs 3,70,000 has been 
entered and an advance of Rs 50,000 has been paid. 

Q 4:  A Ltd. was under audit for the year-ended 31.03.2004. An appeal filed by A Ltd. 
against the demand of Excise Duty of Rs.26 Crores was pending before the Supreme 
Court for which neither provision was made nor was disclosed in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements. On 12th July 2004, the Auditor came to know through paper 
reports that the point involved in the appeal of A Ltd. was adjudicated by the 
Supreme Court in the case of some other assessee, which is in favour of the 
Department of Excise Duty. The Auditor insisted that provisions be made of Rs.26 
Crores in the Financial Statements. The Management was of the view that since its 
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own case is still pending, no provision is called for. It was also of the view that the 
event does not have any effect on the financial position of the Company on the date 
of the Balance Sheet. Is the view of the Management tenable? [Nov 2004] 

Ans: Since the demand already existed on the Balance Sheet date (but was appealed 
against) and subsequent events provide additional evidence thereto, AS-4 is 
applicable in this case.  

 As per AS 4, assets and liabilities should be adjusted for Events occurring after Balance 
date that provide additional evidence to assist the estimation of amounts relating to 
conditions sting at the Balance Sheet date  

 The Company should provide for the Excise Duty liability of Rs.26 Crores for the year 
ending March 2004. The Management’s contention is not tenable. 

Q 5:  A Limited Company closed its accounting year on 30.6.2005 and the accounts for that 
period were considered and approved by the board of directors on 20th August, 2005. 
The company was engaged in laying pipe line for an oil company deep beneath the 
earth. While doing the boring work on 1.9.2005 it had met a rocky surface for which it 
was estimated that there would be an extra cost to the tune of Rs 80 lakhs. You are 
required to state with reasons, how the event would he dealt with in the financial 
statements for the year ended 30. 6.2005. [May 1999] 

Ans: In this case the incidence, which was expected to push up cost, became evident after 
the date of approval of the balance sheet. So that was not any ‘event occurring after 
the balance sheet date’. If the cost-push up is believed to be material, this may be 
mentioned in the Directors’ Report. (Even if the contract is profitable after taking into 
account the additional cost, it would be prudent to disclose the fact of increase in the 
cost of the contract in the directors’ report).  

Q 6 A Limited company closes its accounts on 31st March every year. It issued a cheque in 
favour of one of its customers towards the refund of advance in December, 2004. In 
April 2005, the customer returned the cheque to the company without presentation 
to the bank while accounts of the company for that year were being finalized. Since 
the cheque was cancelled, the reversal entry was passed in the books of account as 
on 31.3.2005 with a view to disclose the correct balance as on that date, instead of 
showing the bank balance lower by treating the cheque as “issued but not encashed 
as on 31.3.2005”. Whether the reversal entry passed in the books of account of the 
company as on 31.3.2005 was proper since the cheque was cancelled before closing 
of the accounts for the year.   

Ans: Bank balance as on the date of balance sheet should not be adjusted by passing a 
reversal entry since the event of cancellation of cheque after the balance sheet date 
did not relate to conditions existing at the balance sheet date. However, if the 
amount of the cheque is material enough to affect the financial position of the 
company, its disclosure should be made in the report of the approving authority. 
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Q 7 Neel Limited has its corporate office in Mumbai and sells its products to stockists all 
over India. On 31st March, 2013, the company wants to recognize receipt of cheques 
bearing date 31st March, 2013 or before, as "Cheques in Hand" by reducing "Trade 
Receivables". The "Cheques in Hand" is shown in the Balance Sheet as an item of cash 
and cash equivalents. All cheques are presented to the bank in the month of April 
2013 and are also realized in the same month in normal course after deposit in the 
bank. State with reasons, whether each of the following is an adjusting event and how 
this fact is to be disclosed by the company, with reference to the relevant accounting 
standard. 

(i)  Cheques collected by the marketing personnel of the company from the stockists on 
or before 31st March, 2013. 

(ii)  Cheques sent by the stockists through courier on or before 31st March, 2013.  

Ans:  

(i)  Cheques collected by the marketing personnel of the company is an adjusting event 
as the marketing personnel are employees of the company and therefore, are 
representatives of the company. Handing over of cheques by the stockist to the 
marketing employees discharges the liability of the stockist. Therefore, cheques 
collected by the marketing personnel of the company on or before 31st March, 2013 
require adjustment from the stockists’ accounts i.e. from ‘Trade Receivables A/c’ even 
though these cheques (dated on or before 31st March, 2013) are presented in the 
bank in the month of April, 2013 in the normal course. Hence, collection of cheques 
by the marketing personnel is an adjusting event as per AS 4 ‘Contingencies and 
Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date’. Such ‘cheques in hand’ will be shown 
in the Balance Sheet as ‘Cash and Cash equivalents’ with a disclosure in the Notes to 
accounts about the accounting policy followed by the company for such cheques. 

(ii)  Even if the cheques bear the date 31st March or before and are sent by the stockists 
through courier on or before 31st March, 2013, it is presumed that the cheques will 
be received after 31st March. Collection of cheques after 31st March, 2013 does not 
represent any condition existing on the balance sheet date i.e. 31st March. Thus, the 
collection of cheques after balance sheet date is not an adjusting event. Cheques that 
are received after the balance sheet date should be accounted for in the period in 
which they are received even though the same may be dated 31st March or before as 
per AS 4. Moreover, the collection of cheques after balance sheet date does not 
represent any material change affecting financial position of the enterprise, so no 
disclosure in the Director’s Report is necessary. 

Q 8 An earthquake destroyed a major warehouse of ACO Ltd. on 20.5.2009. The 
accounting year of the company ended on 31.3.2009. The accounts were approved on 
30.6.2009. The loss from earthquake is estimated at Rs.30 lakhs. State with reasons, 
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whether the loss due to earthquake is an adjusting or non-adjusting event and how 
the fact of loss is to be disclosed by the company?  [Nov 2009] 

Ans: AS 4 “Contingencies and Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date”, states that 
adjustments to assets and liabilities are not appropriate for events occurring after the 
balance sheet date, if such events do not relate to conditions existing at the balance 
sheet date. The destruction of warehouse due to earthquake did not exist on the 
balance sheet date i.e. 31.3.2009. Therefore, loss occurred due to earthquake is not 
to be recognised in the financial year 2008-2009. 

 However, according to AS 4 unusual changes affecting the existence or substratum of 
the enterprise after the balance sheet date may indicate a need to consider the use of 
fundamental accounting assumption of going concern in the preparation of the 
financial statements. As per the information given in the question, the earthquake has 
caused major destruction; therefore then annual accounts would have to be prepared 
by not following the fundamental accounting assumption of going concern despite 
the fact that the event has occurred after the balance sheet date.  

Q 9 The account of ABC Ltd., for the year ended 31st March, 2001, was approved by the 
BOD of the Co. on 19th May 2001. The Director recommended a dividend @ 10%. 
However, the Directors feel that this need not be disclosed in the accounts of the Co. 
for the year ended 31st March 2001 since it does not provide any additional 
information to the condition prevailing on the date Balance Sheet i.e. on 31st March 
2001. Do you agree with the BOD of ABC Ltd.?  [Nov 1989, Nov 2010] 

Ans:  As per para 8 of AS 4 "Contingencies and Events occurring after the Balance sheet 
Date”, adjustments to assets and liabilities are required for events occurring after the 
balance sheet date that provide additional information materially affecting the 
determination of the amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet 
date. 

 Accordingly, proposed dividend is not an adjusting event. If an enterprise declares 
dividends to shareholders after the balance sheet date, the enterprise should not 
recognise those dividends as a liability at the balance sheet date unless a statute 
requires otherwise. Such dividends should be disclosed in notes.  

 Note: In the Schedule III of Companies Act 2013, this needs to be disclosed in the 
notes.  

Q 10 During the year 2012-2013, Raj Ltd. was sued by a competitor for Rs. 15 lakhs for 
infringement of a trademark. Based on the advice of the company's legal counsel, Raj 
Ltd. provided for a sum of Rs. 10 lakhs in its financial statements for the year ended 
31st March, 2013. On 18th May, 2013, the Court decided in favour of the party 
alleging infringement of the trademark and ordered Raj Ltd. to pay the aggrieved 
party a sum of Rs. 14 lakhs. The financial statements were prepared by the company's 
management on 30th April, 2013, and approved by the board on 30th May, 2013.   
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Ans:  As per para 8 of AS 4 “Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet 
Date, adjustments to assets and liabilities are required for events occurring after the 
balance sheet date that provide additional information materially affecting the 
determination of the amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet 
date. 

 In the given case, since Raj Ltd. was sued by a competitor for infringement of a 
trademark during the year 2012-13 for which the provision was also made by it, the 
decision of the Court on 18th May, 2013, for payment of the penalty will constitute as 
an adjusting event because it is an event occurred before approval of the financial 
statements. Therefore, Raj Ltd. should adjust the provision upward by Rs. 4 lakhs to 
reflect the award decreed by the Court to be paid by them to its competitor. 

Q 11 Pure Oil Ltd. closed the books of accounts on March 31, 2006 for which financial 
statement was finalized by the Board of Directors on September 04, 2006. During the 
month of December 2005, company under took the project of lying a pipeline across 
the country and during May 2006 engineers realized that due to unexpected heavy 
rain, the total cost of the project will be inflated by Rs. 50 lakhs. How this should be 
provided for in the balance sheet of 2005-06 accordance to AS 4?  

Ans: This event occurred after March 31, 2006 but before September 04, 2006 it is event 
occurring after the balance sheet date. But this event is not affecting financial position 
on the date of balance sheet therefore, no adjustment to assets and liabilities need be 
required. And also it would not require disclosure in the financial statements. Since it 
is a material change affecting the financial position of the enterprise that took place 
due to the event occurring after the balance sheet date, the fact and financial 
implications thereof need to be disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 

Q 12 Balance Sheet of Anurag Trading Co. on 31st March, 2014 is given below: 

 Liabilities  Amount (Rs.)  Assets  Amount (Rs.) 

 Capital  50,000  Fixed Assets  69,000 

 Profit and Loss A/c  22,000  Stock in Trade  36,000 

 10% Loan  43,000  Trade Receivables  10,000 

 Trade Payables  18,000  Deferred Expenditure  15,000 

   Bank  3,000 

  1,33,000   1,33,000 

Additional Information: 

(i)  Remaining life of fixed assets is 5 years with even use. The net realizable value affixed 
assets as on 31st March, 2015 was Rs. 64,000. 
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(ii)  Firm’s sales and purchases for the year 2014-15 amounted to Rs. 5 lacs and Rs.4.50 
lacs respectively. 

(iii)  The cost and net realizable value of the stock were Rs. 34,000 and Rs.38,000 
respectively. 

(iv)  General Expenses for the year 2014-15 were Rs. 16,500. 

(v)  Deferred Expenditure is normally amortised equally over 4 years starting from F.Y. 
2013-14 i.e. Rs. 5,000 per year. 

(vi)  Out of debtors worth Rs. 10,000, collection of Rs. 4,000 depends on successful 
redesign of certain product already supplied to the customer. 

(vii)  Closing trade payable is Rs. 10,000, which is likely to be settled at 95%. 

(viii)  There is pre-payment penalty of Rs. 2,000 for Bank loan outstanding. 

 Prepare Profit & loss Account for the year ended 31st March, 2015 by assuming it is 
not a Going Concern.    

Ans: Profit and Loss Account of Anurag Trading Co. for the year ended 31st March, 2015 

 (Assuming business is not a going concern) 

 Rs.  Rs. 
To Opening Stock  36,000  By Sales  5,00,000 
To Purchases  4,50,000 By Trade payables  500 
To Expenses  16,500  By Closing Stock  38,000 
To Depreciation (69,000-
64,000)  

5,000   

To Provision for doubtful debts  4,000   
To Deferred expenditure  15,000   
To Loan penalty  2,000   
To Net Profit  10,000   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5,38,500   5,38,500 
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NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD, PRIOR 
PERIOD ITEMS AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES (AS 5) 
Q 1 The company finds that the stock sheets of 31.3.2097 did not include two pages 

containing details of inventory worth Rs. 20 lakhs. State, how will you deal with this 
matter in the accounts of A Ltd. for the year ended 31st March, 2008 with reference 
to AS 5.  

Ans: As per para 16 of AS 5 on ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period. Prior Period Items and 
Changes in Accounting Policies”, omission of two pages containing details of inventory 
worth Rs.20 lakhs in 31.3.2007 is a prior period item. 

 As per para 19 of the standard, prior period items are normally included in the 
determination of net profit or loss for the current period. Accordingly, Rs.20 lakhs 
must be added to opening stock of 1.4.2007. An alternative approach is to show such 
items in the statement of profit and loss after determination of current net profit or 
loss. In either case, the objective is to indicate the effect of such items on the current 
profit or loss. 

Q 2 Y Ltd. provided Rs 25 lakhs for inventory obsolescence in 1998-1999. In the 
subsequent year, it was determined that 50% of such stock was usable. The company 
wants to adjust the same through prior period adjustment account as the provision 
was made in the earlier year.  

Ans: The revision of the estimate, by its nature, does not bring the adjustment within the 
definitions of an extraordinary item or a prior period item. In this case, T Ltd. provided 
Rs 25 lakhs for inventory obsolescence in 1998-99. In the subsequent year due to 
changed circumstances, it was determined that 50% of such stock was usable. 
Revision of such an estimate does not bring the resulting amount of Rs 12.5 lakhs 
within the definition either of a prior period item or of an extra-ordinary item. The 
amount, however, involved is material and requires separate disclosure to understand 
the financial position and performance of enterprises. Accordingly, the accounting 
treatment followed by the company is not proper. 

Q 3 There was a major theft of stores valued at Rs 10 lakhs in the preceding year which 
was detected only during current financial year (2005-2006). How will you deal with 
this information in preparing the financial statements of R Ltd. for the year ended 
31st March, 2006.   [May 1998] 

Ans: Due to major theft of stores in the preceding year (2004-2005) which was detected 
only during the current financial year (2005- 2006), there was overstatement of 
closing stock of stores in the preceding year. This must have also resulted in the 
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overstatement of profits of previous year, brought forward to the current year. The 
adjustments are required to be made in the current year as ‘Prior Period Items’ as per 
AS 5 (Revised) on Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in 
Accounting Policies. Accordingly, the adjustments relating to both opening stock of 
the current year and profit brought forward from the previous year should be 
separately disclosed in the statement of profit and loss together with their nature and 
amount in a manner that their impact on the current profit or loss can be perceived.  

 Note: Alternatively, it may be assumed that in the preceding year, the value of stock 
of stores as found out by physical verification of stocks was considered in the 
preparation of financial statements of the preceding year. In such a case, only the 
disclosure as to the theft and the resulting loss is required in the notes to the 
accounts for the current year i.e, year ended 31st March, 2006. 

Q 4 M/s Dinesh & Company signed an agreement with workers for increase in wages with 
retrospective effect. The out–flow on account of arrears was for 2005–06–Rs 10.00 
lakhs, for 2006–07–Rs 12.00 lakhs and for 2007–08–Rs 12.00 lakhs. This amount is 
payable in September, 2008. The accountant wants to charge Rs 22.00 lakhs as prior 
period charges in financial statement for 2008–09. Discuss. [Nov 2008] 

Ans: According to AS 5 (Revised) “Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and 
Changes in Accounting Policies”, the term prior period item refers only to income or 
expenses which arise in the current period as a result of errors or omission in the 
preparation of the financial statements of one or more prior periods. The term does 
not include other adjustments necessitated by circumstances, which though related 
to prior periods are determined in the current period. The full amount of wage arrears 
paid to workers will be treated as an expense of current year and it will be charged to 
profit and loss account as current expenses and not as prior period expenses. 

 It may be mentioned that additional wages is an expense arising from the ordinary 
activities of the company. Although abnormal in amount, such an expense does not 
qualify as an extraordinary item. However, as per Para 12 of AS 5 (Revised), when 
items of income and expense within profit or loss from ordinary activities are of such 
size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance 
of the enterprise for the period, the nature and amount of such items should be 
disclosed separately. 

Q 5 Goods of Rs.5,00,000 were destroyed due to flood in September 2006. A Claim was 
lodged with insurance company. But no entry was passed in the books for insurance 
claim. In March, 2009, the claim was passed and the company received a payment of 
Rs.3,50,000 against the claim. Explain the treatment of such receipt in final accounts 
for the year ended 31st March 2009.   

Ans:  As per provisions of AS 5 “Net Profit or Loss for the period, prior period items and 
changes in accounting policies”, prior period items are income or expenses, which 
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arise, in the current period as a result of error or omissions in the preparation of 
financial statements of one or more prior periods. Further, the nature and amount of 
prior period items should be separately disclosed in the statement of profit and loss in 
a manner that their impact on current profit or loss can be perceived. 

 In the given example, it is clearly a case of error in preparation of financial statement 
for financial year 2006-07. Hence, claim received in financial year 2008-09 is a prior 
period items and should be separately disclosed in the statement of Profit and Loss. 

Q 6 A Limited company created a provision for bad and doubtful debts at 5% on debtors 
in preparing the financial statements for the year 2009-10. Subsequently on a review 
of the credit period allowed and financial capacity of the customers, the company 
decided to increase the provision to 10% on debtors as on 31-03-2010. The accounts 
are not approved by the Board of Directors till the date of decision. While applying 
the relevant accounting standard, can this revision be considered as an extraordinary 
item or prior period item? 

Ans: As per AS 5 ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in 
Accounting Policies’, the preparation of financial statements involve making estimates 
which are based on the circumstances existing at the time when the financial 
statements are prepared. It may be necessary to revise an estimate in a subsequent 
period if there is a change in the circumstances on which the estimate was based. 
Revision of an estimate, by its nature, does not bring the adjustment within the 
definitions of a prior period item or an extra ordinary item. 

 In the given case, company created 5% provision for doubtful debts for the year 2009-
10. Subsequently in 2010, the company revised the estimates based on the changed 
circumstances and wants to create 10% provision. As per AS 5 (Revised) this change in 
estimate is neither a prior period item nor an extra ordinary item. 

 However, as per para 27 of the standard, a change in accounting estimate which has 
material effect in the current period should be disclosed and quantified. Any change 
in the accounting estimate which is expected to have a material effect in later periods 
should also be disclosed and quantified. 

Q 7:  ABC Ltd. was making provision for non-moving stocks based on no issues for the last 
12 months upto 31-03-2002. The company wants to provide during the year ending 
31-03-2003 based on technical evaluation: 

 Total value of stock Rs. 100 lakhs 

 Provision required based on 12 months issue Rs. 3.5 lakhs 

 Provision required based on technical evaluation Rs. 2.5 lakhs 

 Does this amount to change in accounting policy? Can the Company change the 
method of provision? [May 2003, Nov 2009, May 2012, May 2015]  
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Ans:  Basis of provisioning whether on no issues or on technical evaluation is the basis of 
making estimates and cannot be considered as Accounting Policy. As per AS 5, due to 
uncertainties inherent in business activities, many financial statement items cannot 
be measured with precision but can only be estimated. The estimation process 
involves judgments based on the latest information available. An estimate may have 
to be revised if changes occur regarding the circumstances on which the estimate was 
based, or as a result of new information, more experience or subsequent 
developments. 

 The basis of change in provisioning is a guideline and the better way of estimating the 
provision for non-moving stock on account of change. Hence, it is not a change in 
accounting policy. Accounting policy is the valuation of inventory on cost or on net 
realizable value or on lower of cost or net realizable value. Any interchange of this 
valuation base would have constituted change in accounting policy. 

 Further, the company should be able to demonstrate satisfactorily that having regard 
to circumstances provision made on the basis of technical evaluation provides more 
satisfactory results than provision based on 12 months issue. If that is the case, then 
the company can change the method of provision. 

Q 8 Closing Stock for the year ending on 31st March, 2013 is Rs. 1,50,000 which includes 
stock damaged in a fire in 2011-12. On 31st March, 2012, the estimated net realizable 
value of the damaged stock was Rs. 12,000. The revised estimate of net realizable 
value of damaged stock included in closing stock at 2012-13 is Rs. 4,000. Find the 
value of closing stock to be shown in Profit and Loss Account for the year 2012-13, 
using provisions of Accounting Standard 5.  
   

Ans: The fall in estimated net realisable value of damaged stock Rs. 8,000 is the effect of 
change in accounting estimate. As per para 25 of AS 5 ‘Net Profit or Loss the Period, 
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies’, the effect of a change in 
accounting estimate should be classified using the same classification in the 
statement of profit and loss as was used previously for the estimate. It is presumed 
that the loss by fire in the year ended 31.3.2012, i.e. difference of cost and NRV was 
shown in the profit and loss account as an extra-ordinary item. Therefore, in the year 
2012-13, revision in accounting estimate should also be classified as extra-ordinary 
item in the profit and loss account and closing stock should be shown excluding the 
value of damaged stock. Value of closing stock for the year 2012-13 will be as follows:
  

    Rs. 

 Closing Stock (including damaged goods)   1,50,000 

 Less: Revised value of damaged goods    (4,000) 
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 Closing stock (excluding damaged goods)  1,46,000 

Q 9 A Limited company has been including interest in the valuation of closing stock. In 
2005- 2006 the management of the company decided to follow AS 2 and accordingly 
interest has been excluded from the valuation of closing stock. This has resulted in a 
decrease in profits by Rs 3,00,000. Is a disclosure necessary?  

Ans: As per AS 5, Change in accounting policy can be made for many reasons, one of these 
is for compliance with an accounting standard. In the instant case, the company has 
changed its accounting policy in order to conform with the AS 2 (Revised) on 
Valuation of Inventories. Therefore, a disclosure is necessary in the following lines by 
way of notes to the annual accounts for the year 2005-2006. 

Q 10 The company has to pay delayed cotton clearing charges over and above the 
negotiated price for taking delayed delivery of cotton from the Suppliers’ Godown. 
Upto 2004-05, the company has regularly included such charges in the valuation of 
closing stock. This being in the nature of interest the company has decided to exclude 
it from closing stock valuation for the year 2005-06. This would result into decrease in 
profit by Rs 7.60 lakhs. [Nov 2012] 

Ans:  AS 5 (Revised) ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in 
Accounting Policies” states that a change in an accounting policy should be made only 
if the adoption of a different accounting policy is required by statute or for 
compliance with an accounting standard or if it is considered that the change would 
result in a more appropriate presentation of the financial statements of an enterprise. 
Therefore the change in the method of stock valuation is justified in view of the fact 
that the change is in line with the recommendations of AS 2 (Revised) ‘Valuation of 
Inventories’ and would result in more appropriate preparation of the financial 
statements. As per AS 2, this accounting policy adopted for valuation of inventories 
including the cost formulae used should be disclosed in the financial statements. 

 Also, appropriate disclosure of the change and the amount by which any item in the 
financial statements is affected by such change is necessary as per AS 1, AS 2 and AS 
5. Therefore, the under mentioned note should be given in the annual accounts. 

 “In compliance with the Accounting Standards issued by the ICAl, delayed cotton 
clearing charges which are in the nature of interest have been excluded from the 
valuation of closing stock unlike preceding years. Had the company continued the 
accounting practice followed earlier, the value of closing stock as well as profit before 
tax for the year would have been higher by Rs 7.60 lakhs.” 

Q 11 Explain whether the following will constitute a change in accounting policy or not as 
per AS-5. 

(i)  Introduction of a formal retirement gratuity scheme by an employer in place of ad hoc 
ex-gratia payments to employees on retirement. 
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(ii)  Management decided to pay pension to those employees who have retired after 
completing 5 years of service in the organisation. Such employees will get pension of 
Rs. 20,000 per month. Earlier there was no such scheme of pension in the 
organization? 

Ans:  As per AS 5 ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in 
Accounting Policies’, the adoption of an accounting policy for events or transactions 
that differ in substance from previously occurring events or transactions, will not be 
considered as a change in accounting policy. 

(i)  Accordingly, introduction of a formal retirement gratuity scheme by an employer in 
place of ad hoc ex-gratia payments to employees on retirement is not a change in an 
accounting policy. 

(ii)  Similarly, the adoption of a new accounting policy for events or transactions which did 
not occur previously or that were immaterial will not be treated as a change in an 
accounting policy. 

Q 12:  During the course of last three years, the company has lost four helicopters. Since, 
after the crash, the maintenance provision created in respect of the respective 
helicopters are no longer required, it is written back to the profit and loss account as 
prior period item. Is that correct?    

Ans: The write-back of the balance of maintenance provision, no longer required due to 
crash of the helicopters, is not a prior period item because there was no error in the 
preparation of previous periods financial statements. The amount so written-back, if 
material, should be disclosed as an exceptional item as per AS-5. 

 

REVENUE RECOGNITION (AS 9) 
Q 1:   M/s. Moon Ltd. sold goods worth Rs. 6,50,000 to Mr. Star. Mr. Star asked for a trade 

discount amounting to Rs. 53,000 and same was agreed to by M/s. Moon Ltd. The sale 
was effected and goods were dispatched. The accountant of M/s. Moon Ltd. booked 
the sale for Rs. 5,97,000. Discuss the contention of the accountant with reference to 
Accounting Standard (AS) 9. 

Ans: As per AS 9 ‘Revenue Recognition’, revenue is the gross inflow of cash, receivable or 
other consideration arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an enterprise 
from the sale of goods. However, trade discounts and volume rebates given in the 
ordinary course of business should be deducted in determining revenue.  

 In the given case, if trade discounts allowed by M/s. Moon Ltd. are given in the 
ordinary course of business, M/s. Moon Ltd. should record the sales at Rs. 5,97,000 
(i.e. Rs. 6,50,000 – Rs. 53,000). 
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 However, when trade discount allowed by M/s. Moon Ltd. is not in the ordinary 
course of business, M/s. Moon Ltd. should record the sales at gross value of Rs. 
6,50,000. Discount of Rs. 53,000 in price is to be adjusted by suitable provisions.  

Q 2:  The stages of production and sale of a producer are as follows (all in Rupees): 

 Stage  Activity  Costs to date  NRV 

 A  Raw Materials  10,000  8,000 

 B  WIP 1  12,000  13,000 

 C  WIP 2  15,000  19,000 

 D  Finished Product  17,000  30,000 

 E  Ready for Sale 17,000  30,000 

 F  Sale Agreed  17,000  30,000 

 G  Delivered  18,000  30,000 

 H  Paid For  18,000  30,000 

 State and explain the stage at which you think revenue will be recognized and how 
much would be gross profit and net profit on a unit of this product? 

Ans:  According to AS – 9, sales will be recognized only following two conditions are 
satisfied: 

(i) The sale value is fixed and determinable. 

(ii) Property of the goods is transferred to the customer. 

Both these conditions are satisfied only at Stage F when sales are agreed upon at a 
price and goods allocated for delivery purpose. 

However if delivery of goods has been delayed through the fault of the seller and the 
goods are at the risk seller as regards any loss which might not have occurred, then 
revenue should be recognised at stage G. 

Q 3 Sarita Publications publishes a monthly magazine on the 15th of every month. It sells 
advertising space in the magazine to advertisers on the terms of 80% sale value 
payable in advance and the balance within 30 days of the release of the publication. 
The sale of space for the March 2014 issue was made in February 2014. The magazine 
was published on its scheduled date. It received Rs. 2,40,000 on 10.3.2014 and 
Rs.60,000 on 10.4.2014 for the March 2014 issue. 

 Discuss in the context of AS 9 the amount of revenue to be recognized and the 
treatment of the amount received from advertisers for the year ending 31.3.2014. 
What will be the treatment if the publication is delayed till 2.4.2014? [Nov 2014] 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 38 
 
 
 

Ans: As per AS 9 ‘Revenue Recognition’, in a transaction involving the rendering of services, 
performance should be measured either under the completed service contract 
method rounder the proportionate completion method as the service is performed, 
whichever relates the revenue to the work accomplished. 

 In the given case, income accrues when the related advertisement appears before 
public. The advertisement service would be considered as performed on the day the 
advertisement is seen by public and hence revenue is recognized on that date. In this 
case, it is 15.03.2014, the date of publication of the magazine. 

 Hence, Rs. 3,00,000 (Rs. 2,40,000 + Rs. 60,000) is recognized as income in March, 
2014. The terms of payment are not relevant for considering the date on which 
revenue is to be recognized. Rs. 60,000 is treated as amount due from advertisers as 
on 31.03.2014 and Rs. 2,40,000 will be treated as payment received against the sale. 

 However, if the publication is delayed till 02.04.2014 revenue recognition will also be 
delayed till the advertisements get published in the magazine. In that case revenue of 
Rs. 3,00,000 will be recognized for the year ended 31.03.2015 after the magazine is 
published on 02.04.2014. The amount received from sale of advertising space 
on10.03.2014 of Rs. 2,40,000 will be considered as an advance from advertisers as 
on31.03.2014. 

Q 4 M/s. Sea Ltd. recognized Rs. 5.00 lakhs, on accrual basis, income from dividend during 
the year 2010-11, on shares of the face value of Rs. 25.00 lakhs held by it in Rock Ltd. 
as at 31st March, 2011. Rock Ltd. proposed dividend @ 20% on 10th April, 2011. 
However, dividend was declared on 30th June, 2011. Please state with reference to 
relevant Accounting Standard, whether the treatment accorded by Sea Ltd. is in 
order.  

Ans:  Para 8.4 of AS 9 “Revenue Recognition” states that dividend from investments in 
shares are not recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss until the right to receive 
dividend is established. 

 In the given case, the dividend is proposed on 10th April, 2011, while it was declared 
on 30th June, 2011. Hence, the right to receive dividend is established on 30th June, 
2011 only. Therefore, on applying the provisions stated in the standard, income from 
dividend on shares should be recognized by Sea Ltd. in the financial year 2011-2012 
only. 

 Therefore, the recognition of income from dividend of Rs. 5 lakhs, on accrual basis, in 
the financial year 2010-11 is not in accordance with AS 9. 

Q 5:  The Board of Directors of X Ltd. decided on 31.3.2007 to increase sale price of certain 
items of goods sold retrospectively from 1st January, 2007. As a result of this decision 
the company has to receive Rs 5 lakhs from its customers in respect of sales made 
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from 1.1.2007 to 31.3.2007. But the Company’s Accountant was reluctant to make-up 
his mind. You are asked to offer your suggestion. [Nov 2007] 

Ans:  As per AS 9 ‘Revenue Recognition’, the additional revenue on account of increase in 
sales price with retrospective effect, as decided by Board of Directors of X Ltd., of Rs5 
lakhs to be recognised as income for financial year 2006-07, only if the company is 
able to assess the ultimate collection with reasonable certainty. If at the time of 
raising of any claim it is unreasonable to expect ultimate collection, revenue 
recognition should be postponed. 

Q 6: SCL Ltd., sells agriculture products to dealers One of the condition of sale is that 
interest is payable at the rate of 2% p.m., for delayed payments. Percentage of 
interest recover is only 10% on such overdue outstanding due to various reasons. 
During the year 2002-2003 the company wants to recognize the entire interest 
receivable. Do you agree? 

Ans:  As per AS 9 to recognize the revenue there should not be significant uncertainty in 
ultimate collection of the amount. In the instant case it appears that these are 
uncertainties in the collection of interest. Therefore income can be recognized only if 
the amount can be measured reliably and ultimate collection is reasonably certain. 

Q 7: As an auditor state your views on the following situation: T Ltd. purchased goods on 
credit for Rs 5 crore for export from ABC Ltd. Upon the export order being cancelled 
T. Ltd. decided to sell the same in the domestic market at a discounted price. 
Accordingly ABC ltd. was requested to offer a price discount of 25%. ABC Ltd. wants to 
adjust the sales figure to the extent of discount requested by T Ltd.                                             
  

Ans:  When the uncertainty relating to collectability arises subsequent to the time of sale or 
the rendering of the service, it is more appropriate to make a separate provision to 
reflect the uncertainty rather than to adjust the amount of revenue originally 
recorded. 

 Therefore such discount should be written off to the profit and loss account and not 
shown as deduction from the sales figure. 

Q 8 P Co. is in regular business with Railways and dealings with them are shown in its 
financial statements as ordinary activities of the business. A claim lodged with the 
Railways in March, 2004 for loss of goods of Rs. 2,00,000 had been passed for 
payment in March, 2007 for Rs. 1,50,000. No entry was passed in the books of the 
Company, when the claim was lodged. Advise P Co. Ltd. about the treatment of the 
following in the Final Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2007.   

Ans:  Prudence suggests non-consideration of claim as an asset in anticipation. So receipt of 
claims is generally recognised on cash basis. Para 9.2 of AS 9 on Revenue Recognition 
states that where the ability to assess the ultimate collection with reasonable 
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certainty is lacking at the time of raising any claim, revenue recognition is postponed 
to the extent of uncertainty involved. Para 9.5 of AS 9 states that when recognition of 
revenue is postponed due to the effect of uncertainties, it is considered as revenue of 
the period in which it is properly recognised. In this case it may be assumed that 
collectability of claim was not certain in the earlier periods. This is supposed from the 
fact that only Rs. 1,50,000 were collected against a claim of Rs. 2,00,000. So this 
transaction cannot be taken as a Prior Period Item. 

 In the light of revised AS 5, it will not be treated as extraordinary item. However, para 
12 of AS 5 (Revised) states that when items of income and expense within profit or 
loss from ordinary activities are of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure 
is relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, the nature and 
amount of such items should be disclosed separately. Accordingly, the nature and 
amount of this item should be disclosed separately as per para 12 of AS 5 (Revised) 

Q 9:  Golden Eagle Ltd., has been successful jewellers for the past 100 years and sales are 
against cash only. The company diversified into apparels. A young senior executive 
was put in charge of Apparels business and sales increased 5 times. One of the 
conditions for sales that dealers can return the unsold stocks within one month of the 
end of season. Sales return for the past years was 25% of sales. Suggest a suitable 
Revenue Recognition Policy with references to AS-9. [Nov 2008] 

Ans: As per AS 9 “Revenue recognition’, revenue recognition is mainly concerned with the 
timing of recognition of revenue in statement of profit and loss of an enterprise. The 
amount of revenue arising on a transaction is usually determined by the agreement 
between the parties involved in the transaction. When uncertainties exist regarding 
the determination of the amount, or its associated costs, these uncertainties may 
influence the timing of revenue recognition. 

 In the case of the Jeweller’ Business the company is selling for cash and returns are 
negligible. Hence, revenue can be recognized on sales. On the other hand, in Apparels 
Industry, the dealers have a right to return the unsold goods within one month of the 
end of the season. In this case, the company is bearing the risk of sales return and 
therefore, the company should not recognize the revenue to the extent of 25% of its 
sales. The company may disclose suitable revenue recognition policy in its financial 
statements separately for both Jewellery and Apparels business. 

Q 10:  Given the following information of M/s. Paper Products Ltd. 

(i)  Goods of Rs. 60,000 were sold on 20-3-2015 but at the request of the buyer these 
were delivered on 10-4-2015. 

(ii)  On 15-1-20l5 goods of Rs. 1,50,000 were sent on consignment basis of which 20% of 
the goods unsold are lying with the consignee as on 31-3-2015. 
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(iii)  Rs. 1,20,000 worth of goods were sold on approval basis on 1-12-2014. The period of 
approval was 3 months after which they were considered sold. Buyer sent approval 
for 75% goods up to 31-1-2015 and no approval or disapproval received for the 
remaining goods till 31-3-2015. 

(iv)  Apart from the above, the company has made cash sales of Rs. 7,80,000 (gross).Trade 
discount of 5% was allowed on the cash sales. 

 You are required to advise the accountant of M/s. Paper Products Ltd., with valid 
reasons, the amount to be recognized as revenue in above cases in the context of AS-
9and also determine the total revenue to be recognized for the year ending 31-3-
2015.  

Ans: In case (i): 

The sale is complete but delivery has been postponed at buyer’s request. M/s Paper 
Products Ltd. should recognize the entire sale of Rs. 60,000 for the year ended 
31stMarch, 2015. 

In case (ii): 

20% goods lying unsold with consignee should be treated as closing inventory and 
sales should be recognized for Rs. 1,20,000 (80% of Rs. 1,50,000). In case of 
consignment sale revenue should not be recognized until the goods are sold to a third 
party. 

In case (iii): 

In case of goods sold on approval basis, revenue should not be recognized until the 
goods have been formally accepted by the buyer or the buyer has done an act 
adopting the transaction or the time period for rejection has elapsed or where no 
time has been fixed, a reasonable time has elapsed. Therefore, in case (iii) revenue 
should be recognized for the total sales amounting Rs. 1,20,000 as the time period for 
rejecting the goods had expired. 

In case (iv): 

Trade discounts given should be deducted in determining revenue. Thus Rs. 
39,000should be deducted from the amount of turnover of Rs. 7,80,000 for the 
purpose of recognition of revenue. Thus, revenue should be Rs. 7,41,000. 

Thus total revenue amounting Rs. 10,41,000 (60,000 + 1,20,000+ 1,20,000+7,41,000) 
will be recognized for the year ended 31st March, 2015 in the books of M/s Paper 
Products Ltd. 

Q 11:  On 25th September, 2009, Planet Advertising Limited obtained advertisement rights 
for World Cup Hockey Tournament to be held in Nov/Dec., 2009 for 520 lakhs. They 
furnish the following information: 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 42 
 
 
 

(1)  The company obtained the advertisements for 70% of available time for 700 lakhs by 
30th September, 09. 

(2)  For the balance time they got bookings in October, 09 for 240 lakhs. 

(3)  All the advertisers paid the full amount at the time of booking the advertisements. 

(4)  40% of the advertisements appeared before the public in Nov. 09 and balance 60% 
appeared in the month of December, 09. 

 You are required to calculate the amount of profit/loss to be recognized for the 
month November and December, 2009 as per Accounting Standard-9.  

Ans:  As per AS 9 ‘Revenue Recognition’, in a transaction involving the rendering of services, 
performance should be measured either under the completed service contract 
method or under the proportionate completion method, whichever relates the 
revenue to the work accomplished. Further, appendix to AS 9 states that revenue 
from advertising should be recognized when the service is completed. The service as 
regards advertisement is deemed to be completed when the related advertisement 
appears before the public. 

 In the given problem, 40% of the advertisement appeared before the public in 
November, 2009 and balance 60% in December, 2009. 

 Total profit will be computed as follows:   Rs in lakhs 

 Advertisement for 70% of available time obtained by 30th September, 2009  700 

 Advertisement for 30% of available time obtained in by October, 2009  240 

 Total:    900 

 Less: Cost of advertisement rights   (520) 

 Profit:   420 

 The profit amounting Rs. 420 lakhs should be apportioned in the ratio of 40:60 for the 
months of November and December, 2009. Thus, the company should recognise 
Rs168 lakhs (i.e. Rs420 lakhs x 40%) in November, 09 and rest Rs. 252 lakhs (i.e. Rs. 
420 lakhs x 60%) in December, 2009. 

Q 12:  Arjun Ltd. sold farm equipment through its dealers. One of the conditions at the time 
of sale is, payment of consideration in 14 days and in the event of delay interest is 
chargeable @ 15% per annum. The Company has not realized interest from the 
dealers in the past. However, for the year ended 31.3.2006, it wants to recognise 
interest due on the balances due from dealers. The amount is ascertained at Rs9 
lakhs. Decide whether the income by way of interest from dealers is eligible for 
recognition as per AS 9.   [May 2006] 
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Ans:  As per AS 9 “Revenue Recognition”, where the ability to assess the ultimate collection 
with reasonable certainty is lacking at the time of raising any claim, the revenue 
recognition is postponed to the extent of uncertainty inverted. In such cases, the 
revenue is recognized only when it is reasonably certain that the ultimate collection 
will be made. 

 In this case, the company never realized interest for the delayed payments made by 
the dealers Hence, it has to recognize the interest only if the ultimate collection is 
certain. The interest income hence is not to be recognized. 

Q 13 A company is engaged in the business of ship building and ship repair. On completion 
of the repair work, a work completion certificate is prepared and countersigned by 
ship owner (customer). Subsequently, invoice is prepared based on the work 
completion certificate describing the nature of work done together with the rate and 
the amount. Customer scrutinizes the invoice and any variation is informed to the 
company. Negotiations take place between the company and the customer. 
Negotiations may result in a deduction being allowed from the invoiced amount 
either as a lumpsum or as a percentage of the invoiced amount. The accounting 
treatment followed by the company is as follows: 

(i)  When the invoice is raised, the customer’s account is debited and ship repair income 
account is credited with the invoiced amount. 

(ii)  Deduction, if any, arrived after negotiation is treated as trade discount by debiting the 
ship repair income account. 

(iii)  At the close of the year, negotiation in respect of certain invoices had not been 
completed. In such cases, based on past experience, a provision for anticipated loss is 
created by debiting the Profit and Loss account. The provision is disclosed in Balance 
Sheet. 

 Following two aspects are settled in the negotiations: 

(i)  Errors in billing arising on account of variation between the quantities as per work 
completion certificate and invoice and other clerical errors in preparing the invoice. 

(ii) Disagreement between the company and customer about the rate/cost on which 
prior agreement has not been reached between them. 

 Comment whether the accounting treatment of deduction as trade discount is 
correct? If not, state the correct accounting treatment.   

Ans:  As per AS 9 “Revenue Recognition”, revenue is recognized at the time when the 
invoice is raised to the customers; however the treatment of deduction as trade 
discount is not as per AS 9. Considering the treatment prescribed by AS 4 
“Contingencies and Events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date”, the correct 
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treatment of the difference between the invoice amount and finally settled amount 
should be under: 

 The adjustment of the difference between the invoiced amount and the amount 
finally settled against “Ship Repair Income” account is in order. Events occurring up to 
the date of approval of the accounts by the Board of Directors should be taken into 
consideration in determining the amount of adjustment to be made in this regard. 
The description of the difference as “trade discount” is not appropriate. 

Q 14 A public sector company is trading gold in India for its customers, after purchasing 
gold the price of gold is fixed within 120 days as per rules and regulations of Indian 
Bullion Market by the customer. At the close of year, price of some gold was not fixed 
on March 31, 2006. The details are given below: 

 Quantity of Gold =  10,000 TT Bars 

 Gold Rate as on March 31, 2006 =  Rs. 275 per TT Bar 

 Gold Rate was fixed on June 26, 2006 before thefinalization  

 of accounts of company =  Rs. 273 per TT Bar 

 Calculate the amount of sales regarding 10,000 TT Bars to be booked in the 
company’s account for the year ended March 31, 2006.   

Ans: We need to refer to AS 4 along with AS 9 in this case; since gold is an item which has 
ready market hence they should be valued at the market price. So, as event occurring 
after the balance sheet date, the price of gold is fixed at Rs. 273 per TT Bar, gold will 
be valued at that rate. 

Q 15 A company sells the goods with right to return. The following pattern has been 
observed: 

 Timeframe of return from date of purchase  % of cumulative sales 

 Within 10 days  5% 

 Between 11 days and 20 days  7 % 

 Between 21 days and 30 days  8% 

 Between 31 days and 45 days  9 % 

 Company has made sale of Rs. 30 lacs in the month of February 2015 and of Rs. 36 
lacs inthe month of March, 2015. The total sales for the financial year have been Rs. 
450 lacs andthe cost of sales was Rs. 360 lacs. 

 Determine the amount of provision to be made and revenue to be recognised 
inaccordance with AS 9. A year may be considered of 360 days. [May 2015] 

Ans: Accounting treatment for recognition of revenue 
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 Revenue in respect of sale of goods is recognised fully at the time of sale itself 
assumedthat the company has complied with the conditions stated in AS 9 relating to 
recognitionof revenue in the case of sale of goods. AS 9 also provides that in case of 
retail salesoffering a guarantee of ‘money back, if not completely satisfied, it may be 
appropriate torecognize the sale but to make a suitable provisions for returns based 
on previousexperiences. 

 Therefore, sale of Rs. 30,00,000 and Rs. 36,00,000 made in the month of February 
andMarch, 2015 will be recognized at full value. 

 Amount of provision 

 The goods are sold with a right to return. The existence of such right gives rise to a 
present obligation on the company as per AS 29, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets'. According to the standard, a provision should be created on the 
Balance sheet date, for sales returns after the Balance Sheet date, at the best 
estimate of the loss expected, along with any estimated incremental cost that would 
be necessaryto resell the goods expected to be returned. 

 It is assumed that the sales has been made evenly throughout the month and every 
month is of 30 days based on the information given in the question i.e. a year is of 
360days. 

Sales during  Sales 
value 

Sales value Likely Likely Provision @ 

 (Rs. in 
lacs) 

(cumulative) returns returns 20% (Rs. in 
lacs) 

  (Rs. in lacs) (%) (Rs. in 
lacs) 

(Refer W.N.) 

Last 10 days of  March 36/3 or 
12  

12  5%  0.600  0.120 

Previous 10 days of 
March 

36/3 or 
12  

24  7%  1.680  0.336 

Previous 10 days of 
March 

36/3 or 
12  

36  8%  2.880  0.576 

Last 15 days of 
February 

30/2 or 
15  

51  9%  4.590  0.918 

Total     9.75  1.950 

 Working Note: 

Calculation of Profit % on sales (Rs. in lacs) 
Sales for the year  450 
Less: Cost of sales  (360) 
Profit  90 
Profit mark up on sales (90/450) x 100 =  20% 
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 Note: The above solution is on the basis of the facts given in the question. 

Q 16 B Ltd. entered into an agreement on 1st March, 2013 to buy computer spares from S 
Ltd. at prevailing market price for Rs. 1200 lakhs on which S Ltd. made a profit of 20% 
and received full advance payment. The transaction was concluded on 15th March, 
2013. On the same day S Ltd. agrees to buy on 15th Sept., 2013 the same goods from 
B Ltd. at 20% over cost. The 20% mark up compensates B Ltd. for its inventory holding 
costs till sale date. You are required to show how both the buyer and seller account 
for the above transaction in the year 2012-13 explaining in brief the justification for 
your treatment and also draft the Notes on Account on disclosure if any required in 
the annual accounts of year ended 31st March, 2013. [May 2013] 

Ans: In this case S Ltd. concurrently agrees to repurchase the same goods from B Ltd. at a 
later date. Also, the repurchase price is predetermined and covers B Limited’s 
purchasing and holding costs. Hence, the transaction between S Limited and B Limited 
on 15th March, 2013 should be accounted for as financing transaction rather than as 
sale. The resulting cash inflow of Rs. 1,200 lakhs is not revenue as per AS-9 ‘Revenue 
Recognition’. 

 Journal entries in the books of S Limited   Rs. in lakhs 

15.3.2013  Bank A/c  
To Advance from B Limited A/c 

(Being amount received from B Ltd. as per 
sale and repurchasing agreement) 

Dr.  1,200  
   1,200 
    

31.3.2013  Financing Charges A/c  
To Advance from B Ltd. A/c 

(Financing charges 20% of Rs. 1200 lakhs 
for ½ month i.e. 240 x 0.5/6) 

Dr.  20  
   20 
    

31.3.2013  Profit and Loss A/c  
To Financing charges 

(Being amount transferred to profit and 
loss account) 

Dr.  20  
   20 
    

 Disclosure in the Balance Sheet 

1  Balance Sheet of S Limited as on 31.3.2013 (Extract) (Rs.) in 
lakhs 

 Assets (Under the head “Current Assets)  
 Short-term loans and advances  
 Goods lying with B Limited (under sale and repurchase 

agreement)  
1,000∗ 

 Liabilities (under the head “Secured Loans)  
 Advance from B Limited  1,200 
 Add: Accrued finance charges  20 
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  1,220 

2.  Notes to accounts:  

(a)  Goods lying with B Limited costing Rs. 1,000 lakhs to be repurchased after 6 
months at Rs. 1,440 lakhs. 

(b)  Goods sold to B Limited for Rs. 1,200 lakhs (cost Rs. 1,000 lakhs) on repurchase 
agreement. The difference between sale price and repurchase price is treated 
as financing charges and allocated proportionately in the current accounting 
period. 

 Journal entries in the Books of B Limited   Rs. in lakhs 

15.3.2013  Advance from B Limited A/c  
To Bank A/c 
(Being amount paid to S Ltd. as per sale and 
repurchase agreement) 

Dr.  1,200  
   1,200 
    

 ∗ 20% profit on cost price has been considered in the sale transaction 
between B Ltd. and S Ltd. on 1st March, 2013. 

31.3.2013  Accrued Finance Income A/c  
To Finance income 

(Financing charges 20% of Rs.1200 lakhs for 
½ month i.e. 240 x0 .5/6) 

Dr.  20  
   20 
    

31.3.2013  Financing Income A/c  
To Profit and Loss A/c 

(Being financing charges received 
transferred to profit and loss account) 

Dr.  20  
   20 
    

 Disclosure in the Balance Sheet 
1.  Balance sheet of B Ltd. as on 31.3.2013 (An Extract)  
 Assets (Under the head ‘Current Assets)’  
 Short-term loans and advances  
 Advance to S Ltd. (Under sale and repurchase agreement) -  Rs. 1,200 lakhs 
 Accrued Finance income -  Rs. 20 lakhs 
 (This advance is fully secured by goods of S Ltd. Market value 

of Rs. 1,200 lakhs lying with company as security) 
 

2.  Notes to Account 
 Rs. 1,200 lakhs paid to S Limited against the sale and repurchase agreement 

against the security of goods of S Limited whose market value is Rs. 1,200 
Lakhs. 

 The transaction being in the nature of a financing arrangement is not 
recognized as a sale and hence the excess of repurchase price over sale price 
amounting to Rs. 240 lakhs have been treated as Finance charges allocated 
proportionately between accounting periods 2012-13 and 2013-14. The value 
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of the computer spares lying with B Ltd. on Balance Sheet date is considered as 
part of the company’s inventory held as security for the Financing obligation. 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (AS 7) 
Q 1:  Calculate the contract revenue from the following details:   (Rs. in crores) 

 Years  I  II  III  
1. Initial contract revenue  1000  1000  1000  
2. Revenue increase due to escalation in IInd 
year  

-  200  - 

3. Claims  -  -  100  
4. Incentive Payments  -  -  150  
5. Penalties  -  50  - 

Ans:  Calculation of contract revenue     

Years  I  II  III  
Initial contract value  1000  1000  1000  
Increase in revenue due to escalation  -  200  200  
Claims  -  -  100  
Incentive  -  -  150  
Penalties  -  (50)  (50)  
Contract revenue  1000  1150  1400  

Q 2:  On 1st December 2005 Vishwakarma Construction Co. Ltd undertook a contract to 
construct a building for Rs 85 lakhs. On 31 st March 2006 the company found that it 
had already spent Rs 64,99,000 on the construction. Prudent estimate of additional 
cost for completion was Rs 32,01,000. What amount should be charged to revenue in 
the final accounts for the year ended 31st March 2006 as per provisions of Accounting 
Standard 7 (Revised)?                      

Ans:   

 Rs. 
Cost incurred till 31st March, 2006  64,99,000 
Prudent estimate of additional cost for completion  32,01,000 
Total cost of construction  97,00,000 
Less: Contract price  85,00,000 
Total foreseeable loss  12,00,000 

According to para 35 of AS 7 (Revised 2002), the amount of Rs. 12,00,000 is required 
to be recognized as an expense. 

Contract work in progress = Rs. 64,99,000 / 97,00,000  × 100 = 67% 
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Proportion of total contract value recognized as turnover as per para 21 of AS 7 
(Revised) on Construction Contracts. = 67% of Rs.85,00,000 = Rs.56,95,000. 

Loss to be recognised for the year ended = Rs. 64,99,000 - Rs.56,95,000 = Rs. 8,04,000 

Additional provision required to be made = 12,00,000 - Rs. 8,04,000 = 3,96,000 

Q 3:  X Ltd. commenced a construction contract on 01/04/05. The contract price agreed 
was reimbursable cost plus 20%. The company incurred Rs.1,00,000 in 2005 06, of 
which Rs.90,000 is reimbursable. The further non reimbursable costs to be incurred to 
complete the contract are estimated at Rs. 5,000. The other costs to complete the 
contract could not be estimated reliably. Prepare Profit & Loss A/c. 

Ans:  The Profit & Loss A/c extract of X Ltd. for 2005-06 is shown below: 

Profit & Loss A/c 

 Rs. 000   Rs.000 
To Construction Costs  100  By Contract Price  90 
To Provision for loss  5  By Net loss  15 
 105   105 

Q 4:   B Ltd. undertook a construction contract for Rs 50 crores in April, 2007. The cost of 
construction was initially estimated at Rs 35 crores. The contract is to be completed in 
3 years. While executing the contract, the company estimated the cost of completion 
of the contract at Rs 53 crores. Can the company provide for the expected loss in the 
book of account for the year ended 31st March, 2008?   

Ans: As per para 35 of AS 7 “Construction Contracts”, when it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss should be 
recognised as an expense immediately. Therefore, The foreseeable loss of Rs 3 crores 
(Rs 53 crores less Rs 50 crores) should be recognised as an expense immediately in 
the year ended 31st march, 2008. The amount of loss is determined irrespective of 

(i)  Whether or not work has commenced on the contract;  

(ii)  Stage of completion of contract activity; or 

(iii) The amount of profits expected to arise on other contracts which are not 
treated as a single construction contract in accordance with para 8 of AS 7. 

Q 5:  X Co negotiates with Indian Oil for construction of “franchisee retail petrol, outlet 
stations”. Based on proposals submitted to different Zonal offices of Indian Oil, the 
final approval for one outlet each in Berhampore, Salem, Vadodara and Warangal is 
awarded to X Co. Agreement (in single document) is entered into with Indian Oil for 
Rs.245 lacs. The agreement lays down values for each of the four outlets (Rs 44 + 66 + 
80 + 55 lacs) in addition to individual completion time. Comment whether X Co. will 
treat it as a single contract or four separate contracts?  
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Ans: In this situation, each asset will be treated as a “single contract notwithstanding the 
fact that there is only one document of contract. Four contract accounts have to be 
recorded in the books of X Co. For each contract account, principles of revenue and 
cost recognition have to be applied separately, and net income determined for each 
asset. 

Q 6: An entity was awarded a Rs. 5,000,000 fixed price contract by a transport authority to 
construct a 1,000 kilometre road including the construction of a bridge on that stretch 
of road. As required by the transport authority, the entity submitted a single tender 
for the construction of the road and the bridge. The transport authority considered 
the tenders received in a single competitive bidding process and awarded the entity 
the project for the construction of the road and the bridge. Comment whether entity 
will treat it as a single contract or four separate contracts? 

Ans: The construction of the road and the bridge cannot be treated as separate 
construction contracts since the criteria in paragraph 23.19 are not met. Separate 
proposals were not submitted for construction of the road and the bridge. 
Furthermore, tenders for the construction of the road and the bridge were considered 
as a single project.  

 Therefore, even if these two assets had been contractually separate agreements, they 
would still need to be combined. 

Q 7:  A construction contractor has a fixed price contract for Rs. 9,000 lacs to build a bridge 
in 3years time frame. A summary of some of the financial data is a under:  

    (Amount Rs. in lacs) 

  Year 1  Year 2  Year 3 

 Initial Amount for revenue agreed in contract  9,000  9,000  9,000 

 Variation in Revenue (+)  -  200  200 

 Contracts costs incurred up to the reporting date 2093  6168*  8100** 

 Estimated profit for whole contract  950  1000  1000 

* Includes Rs. 100 lacs for standard materials stored at the site to be used in year 3 
tocomplete the work. 

** Excludes Rs. 100 lacs for standard material brought forward from year 2. 

 The variation in cost and revenue in year 2 has been approved by customer. 

 Compute year wise amount of revenue, expenses, contract cost to complete and 
profit orloss to be recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss as per AS-7 (revised)
 [May 2015] 
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Ans: The amounts of revenue, expenses and profit recognized in the statement of profit 
andloss in three years are shown below: 

   (Amount in Rs. lakhs) 

 Upto the Recognized 
in 

Recognized 
in 

 reporting 
date 

prior years current year 

Year 1    
Revenue (9,000 x 26%) 2,340 - 2,340 
Expenses (8,050 x 26%) 2,093 - 2,093 
Profit  247  -  247 
Year 2    
Revenue (9,200 x 74%) 6,808 2,340 4,468 
Expenses (8,200 x 74%) 6,068 2,093 3,975 
Profit  740  247  493 
Year 3    
Revenue (9,200 x 100%) 9,200 6,808 2,392 
Expenses (8,200 x 100%) 8,200 6,068 2,132 
Profit  1,000  740  260 

 Working Note: 

 Year 1  Year 2  Year 3 
Revenue after consider variations 9,000 9,200 9,200 
Less: Estimated profit for whole contract 950 1,000 1,000 
Estimated total cost of the contract (A)  8,050  8,200  8,200 
Actual cost incurred upto the reporting date 
(B)  

2,093  6,068 8,200 

  (6,168-
100) 

(8,100+100) 

Degree of completion (B/A)  26%  74%  100% 

Q 8 Trustworthy Ltd. is a construction company, well known for its expertise in building 
flyovers and maintaining these structures. Impressed with Trustworthy Ltd.'s track 
record, the local municipal authorities have awarded them a contract for two years to 
build a super flyover in the heart of the city (the largest in the region) and another 
contract for maintenance of the flyover for ten years after completion of the 
construction. Payment for both the contracts is paid considering it as a single package. 

 Evaluate whether these two contracts should be segmented or combined into one 
contract for the purpose of AS 7.  [RTP] 

Ans:  As per para 8 of AS 7 ‘Construction Contracts’, a group of contracts with a single 
customer, should be treated as a single construction contract when: 
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(i)  the group of contracts is negotiated as a single package; 

(ii)  the contracts are so closely interrelated that they are, in effect, part of a single 
project with an overall profit margin; and 

(iii)  the contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence. 

 Accordingly, in the given case, the two contracts should be combined and treated as a 
single contract since they meet all the three criteria stated above. 

Q 9  PRZ & Sons Ltd. are Heavy Engineering contractors specializing in construction of 
dams. From the records of the company, the following data is available pertaining to 
year ended 31st March, 2012. Using this data and applying the relevant Accounting 
Standard you are required to: 

(i)  Compute the amount of profit/loss for the year ended 31st March, 2012. 

(ii)  Arrive at the contract work in progress as at the end of financial year 2011-12. 

(iii)  Determine the amount of revenue to be recognized out of the total contract value. 

(iv)  Work out the amount due from/to customers as at year end. 

(v)  List down relevant disclosures with figures as per relevant Account Standard 

      (Rs. crore) 

  Total Contract Price  2,400 

Work Certified   1,250 

Work pending certification  250 

Estimated further cost to completion  1,750 

Stage wise payments received  1,100 

Progress payments in pipe line  300 

  [May 2012] 

Ans: 

(i)  Calculation of profit/ loss for the year ended 31st March, 
2012  

(Rs. in crores) 

 Total estimated cost of construction (1,250 + 250 + 1,750)  3,250 
 Less: Total contract price  (2,400) 
 Total foreseeable loss to be recognized as expense  850 

 According to para 35 of AS 7 (Revised 2002) “Construction Contracts”, when it is 
probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected 
loss should be recognized as an expense immediately. 
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(ii)  Contract work-in-progress i.e. cost incurred to date  (Rs. in crores) 
 Work certified  1,250 
 Work not certified  250 
  1,500 

(iii)  Proportion of total contract value recognised as revenue 

 Percentage of completion of contract to total estimated cost of construction 

 = (1,500 / 3,250)´100 = 46.15% 

 Revenue to be recognized till date = 46.15% of Rs. 2,400 crores = Rs. 1,107.60 
crores. 

(iv)  Amount due from / to customers = Contract costs + Recognised profits – 
Recognised losses – (Progress payments received + Progress payments to be 
received) 

 = Rs. [1,500 + Nil – 850 – (1100 + 300)] crores 

 = Rs. [1,500 – 850 – 1,400] crores 

 Amount due to customers (shown as liability) = Rs. 750 crores. 

(v)  The relevant disclosures under AS 7 (Revised) are given 
below: 

Rs. in crores 

 Contract revenue till 31st March, 2012  1,107.60 
 Contract expenses till 31st March, 2012  1,500.00 
 Recognized losses for the year 31st March, 2012  (850) 
 Progress billings Rs. (1,100 + 300)  1,400 
 Retentions (billed but not received from contractee)  300 
 Gross amount due to customers  750 

Q 10: A construction contractor has a fixed price contract for Rs. 13,500 lakhs to build a 
railway tunnel. The contractor's initial estimate of contract costs is Rs. 12,000 lakhs. It 
will take 3 years to build the tunnel.  

 By the end of year, 1, the contractor's estimate of contract costs has increased to Rs. 
12,075 Iakhs.  

 In year 2, the Railway Authority approves a variation resulting in an increase in 
contract revenue of Rs. 300 lakhs and estimated additional contract costs of Rs. 225 
Iakhs. At the end of year 2, costs incurred include Rs. 200 lakhs for materials at site to 
be used fully in year 3, to complete the work.  

 Contract costs incurred up to the reporting date of  

 Year 1  Rs. 3,139 Iakhs 

 Year 2  Rs. 9,102 lakhs  
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 Year 3  Rs. 12,300 lakhs  

 You are required to find out the amount of revenue, expenses and profit to be 
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in all the three years.   
  [Nov 2016] 

Ans: Statement showing stage of completion in percentage (Rs.in lakhs) 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Initial amount of revenue agreed in contract 13,500 13,500 13,500 
Variation  300 300 
Total contract revenue 13,500 13,800 13,800 
Contract costs incurred upto the reporting 
date A 

3,139 9,102 12,300 

Contract costs to complete 8,936 3,198 — 
Total estimated contract costs B 12,075 12,300 12,300 
Estimated Profit 1,425 1,500 1,500 
Stage of completion (rounded off)[(A/B x100)] 26% 72.37%* 100% 

*Note: The stage of completion for year 2 i.e. 72.37% is determined by excluding from 
contract costs incurred for work performed upto the reporting date, Rs. 200 lakhs of 
materials stored at the site for use in year 3. 

The amounts of revenue, expenses and profit recognised in the statement of profit 
and loss in the three years are as follows: 

   (Rs. in lakhs) 
 Total Recognised 

in 
Recognised 

in  
  prior years current year 
Year 1    
Revenue (13,500 x 26%) 3,510 - 3,510 
Expenses 3,139 - 3,139 
Profit 371 - 371 
Year 2    
Revenue (13,800 x 72.37%) 9,987 3,510 6,477 
Expenses 8,902 3,139 5,763 
Profit 1,085 371 714 
Year 3    
Revenue 13,800 9,987 3,813 
Expenses 12,300 8,902 3,398 
Profit 1,500 1,085 415 
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (AS 10) 
Q 1 J Ltd. purchased machinery from K Ltd. on 30.09.2005. The price was Rs. 370.44 lakhs 

after charging 8% GST and giving a trade discount of 2% on the quoted price. 
Transport charges were 0.25% on the quoted price and installation charges come to 
1% on the quoted price. 

 A loan of Rs. 300 lakhs was taken from the bank on which interest at 15% per annum 
was to be paid. Expenditure incurred on the trial run was Materials Rs. 35,000, Wages 
Rs. 25,000 and Overheads Rs. 15,000. Machinery was ready for use on 1.12.2005. 
However, it was actually put to use only on 1.5.2006. 

 Find out the cost of the machine and suggest the accounting treatment for the 
expenses incurred in the interval between the dates 1.12.2005to 1.5.2006. The entire 
loan amount remained unpaid on 1.5.2006.            

Ans:   (Rs. in Lakhs) 

 Quoted price (refer to working note)   350.00 

 Less: 2% Trade Discount   7.00 

   343.00 

 Add: 8% GST (8% × Rs. 343 lakhs)   27.44 

   370.44 

 Transport charges (0.25% × Rs. 350 lakhs) (approx.)  0.88  

 Installation charges (1% × Rs. 350 lakhs)   3.50 

 Financing cost (15% on Rs.300 Lakhs) for the period 30.9.2005 to 1.12.200 57.50 

 Trial Run Expenses 

 Material  0.35 

 Wages  0.25 

 Overheads  0.15   0.75 

 Total cost   383.07 

 Interest on loan for the period 1.12.2005 to 1.05.2006 is Rs. 300 lakhs X 15% X 5/12= 
Rs.18.75 lakhs 

 This expenditure will be charged to Profit and Loss Account It has been assumed that 
no other expenses are incurred on the machine during this period. 

 Working Note: 
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 Let the quoted price ‘X’ 

 Less: Trade Discount 0.02X. 

 Actual Price = 0.98X. 

 Sale Tax @8% = 1.08 × 0.98X; X= Rs. 350 lakhs 

Q 2 ABC Ltd. is constructing a fixed asset. Following are the expenses incurred on the 
construction:  

 Materials Rs 10,00,000 

 Direct Expenses     Rs 2,50,000 

 Direct Labour      Rs 5,00,000 

 (1/10th of the total labour time was chargeable to the construction   

 Total office & administrative expenses Rs 8,00,000 

 (5% is chargeable to the construction)  

 Depreciation on the assets used for the construction of this assets Rs 10,000 

 Calculate the cost of fixed assets                                                           

Ans:  Calculation of the cost of construction of Assets 

 Direct Materials  10,00,000 

 Direct Labour  50,000 

 Direct Expenses  2,50,000 

 Office & Administrative Expenses  40,000 

 Depreciation       10,000 

 Cost of the Asset  13,50,000 

Q 3  Amna Ltd. contracted with a supplier to purchase a specific machinery to be installed 
in Department A in two months time. Special foundations were required for the plant, 
which were to be prepared within this supply lead time. The cost of site preparation 
and laying foundations were Rs. 47,290. These activities were supervised by a 
technician during the entire period, who is employed for this purpose of Rs. 15,000 
per month. The Technician's services were given to Department A by Department B, 
which billed the services at Rs. 16,500 per month after adding 10% profit margin. 

 The machine was purchased at Rs. 52,78,000. Sales Tax was charged at 4% on the 
invoice Rs. 18,590 transportation charges were incurred to bring the machine to the 
factory. An Architect was engaged at a fee of Rs. 10,000 to supervise machinery 
installation at the factory premises. Also, payment under the invoice was due in 3 
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months. However, the Company made the payment in 2nd month. The company 
operates on Bank Overdraft@ 11%. 

 Ascertain the amount at which the asset should be capitalized under AS 10. [Nov 
2013] 

Ans: Calculation of Cost of Fixed Asset (i.e. Machine) 

Particulars   Rs. 
Purchase Price  Given  52,78,000 
Add: Sales Tax at 4%  Rs. 52,78,000 x 4%  2,11,120 
Site Preparation Cost  Given  47,290 
Technician’s Salary  Specific/Attributable 

overheads 
 

 for 2 months (See Note) 30,000 
Initial Delivery Cost  Transportation  18,590 
Professional Fees for Installation  Architect’s Fees  10,000 
Total Cost of Asset   55,95,000 

Note: 

(i) Interest on Bank Overdraft for earlier payment of invoice is not relevant under 
AS 10. It may be noted that overdraft facility is generally used for working 
capital purpose. 

(ii)  Internally booked profits should be eliminated in arriving at the cost of Fixed 
Assets. 

(iii)  In the absence of information about excise, CENVAT credit has been ignored. 

(iv)  It has been assumed that the purchase price of Rs. 52,78,000 excludes amount 
of sales tax. 

Q 4 In the books of Optic Fiber Ltd., plant and machinery stood at Rs. 6,32,000 on 
1.4.2013.However on scrutiny it was found that machinery worth Rs. 1,20,000 was 
included in thepurchases on 1.6.2013. On 30.6.2013 the company disposed a machine 
having bookvalue of Rs. 1,89,000 on 1.4.2013 at Rs. 1,75,000 in part exchange of a 
new machine costing Rs.2,56,000. The company charges depreciation @ 20% WDV on 
plant and machinery.You are required to calculate: 

(i)  Depreciation to be charged to P/L 

(ii)  Book value of Plant and Machinery A/c as on 31.3.2014 

(iii)  Loss on exchange of machinery.   [Npv 2011, Nov 2014] 

Answer: 

(i)  Depreciation to be charged in the Profit and Loss Account  (Rs.) 
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 Depreciation on old Machinery   
 [20% on Rs.6,32,000 for 3 months(01.4.13 to 30.6.13)]  31,600 
 Add: Depreciation machinery acquired on 01.06.2013   
 (Rs. 1,20,000 x 20% x 10/12)   20,000 
 Depreciation on Machinery after adjustment of Exchange   
 [20% of Rs.(6,32,000 -1,89,000+2,56,000) for 9 months]   1,04,850 
 Total Depreciation to be charged in Profit and Loss A/c   1,56,450 
(ii)  Book Value of Plant and Machinery as on 31.03.2014 Rs. Rs. 
 Balance as per books on 01.04.2013   6,32,000 
 Add: Included in purchases on 01.06.2013  1,20,000  
 Add: Purchase on 30.06.2013  2,56,000  3,76,000 
   10,08,000 
 Less: Book value of Machine sold on 30.06.2013   (1,89,000) 
   8,19,000 
 Less: Depreciation on machinery in use (1,56,450-9,450)   (1,47,000) 
 Book Value as on 31.03.2014   6,72,000 
(iii)  Loss on exchange of Machinery   
 Book value of machinery as on 01.04.2013   1,89,000 
 Less: Depreciation for 3 months   9,450 
 WDV as on 30.06.2013   1,79,550 
 Less: Exchange value   1,75,000 
 Loss on exchange of machinery   4,550 

Q 5 M/s. Versatile Limited purchased machinery for 4,80,000 (inclusive of excise duty 
of40,000). CENVAT credit is available for 50% of the duty paid. The company incurred 
thefollowing other expenses for installation. 
  Rs. 

 Cost of preparation of site for installation  21,000 

 Total labour charges  66,000 

 (200 out of the total of 600 men hours worked, were spent for installation  

 of the machinery)  

 Spare parts and tools consumed in installation  6,000 

 Total salary of supervisor  24,000 

 (time spent for installation was 25% of the total time worked.)  

 Total administrative expenses  32,000 

 (1/10 relates to the plant installation)  

 Test run and experimental production expenses  23,000 
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 Consultancy changes to architect for plant set up  9,000 

 Depreciation on assets used for the installation  12,000 

 The machine was ready for use on 15-1-2015 but was used from 1-2-2015. Due to 
thisdelay further expenses of Rs. 19,000 were incurred. Calculate the value at which 
the plantshould be capitalized in the books of M/s. Versatile Limited.  [May 2015] 

Ans: Calculation of Cost of Fixed Asset (i.e. Machine) 

Particulars   Rs. 
Purchase Price  Given  4,80,000 
Add:   
Site Preparation Cost Given 21,000 
Labour charges (66,000/600x200) 22,000 
Spare parts Given 6,000 
Supervisor’s Salary  25% of Rs. 24,000  6,000 
Administrative costs 1/10 of Rs. 32,000 3,200 
Test run and experimental production 
charges 

Given 23,000 

Architect Fees for set up Given 9,000 
Depreciation on assets used for installation Given 12,000 
Total Cost of Asset  5,82,200 
Less: Cenvat credit receivable 50% of Rs. 40,000 20,000 
  5,62,200 

 Note: Expenses of Rs. 19,000 from 15.1.2015 to 1.2.2015 to be charged to profit and 
loss A/c as plant were ready for production on 15.1.2015. 

Q 6. MS Ltd. has acquired a heavy machinery at a cost of Rs. 1,00,00,000 (with no breakdown of 
the component parts). The estimated useful life is 10 years. At the end of the sixth year, one 
of the major components, the turbine requires replacement, as further maintenance is 
uneconomical. The remainder of the machine is perfect and is expected to last for the next 
four years. The cost of a new turbine is Rs. 45,00,000.  

  Can the cost of the new turbine be recognised as an asset, and, if so, what treatment should 
be used?  

Ans: The new turbine will produce economic benefits to MS Ltd., and the cost is measurable. 
Hence, the item should be recognised as an asset. The original invoice for the machine did 
not specify the cost of the turbine; however, the cost of the replacement — Rs. 45,00,000 — 
can be used as an indication (usually by discounting) of the likely cost, six years previously.  

  If an appropriate discount rate is 5% per annum, Rs. 45,00,000 discounted back six years 
amounts to Rs. 33,57,900 [Rs. 45,00,000/(1.05)6], i.e., the approximate cost of turbine before 
6 years.  
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  The current carrying amount of the turbine which is required to be replaced of Rs. 13,43,160 
would be derecognised from the books of account, (i.e., Original Cost Rs. 33,57,900 as 
reduced by accumulated depreciation for past 6 years Rs. 20,14,740, assuming depreciation 
is charged on straight-line basis.)  

  The cost of the new turbine, Rs. 45,00,000 would be added to the cost of machine, resulting 
in a revision of carrying amount of machine to Rs. 71,56,840. (i.e., Rs. 40,00,000* – Rs. 
13,43,160 + Rs. 45,00,000).  

  *Original cost of machine Rs. 1,00,00,000 reduced by accumulated depreciation (till the end 
of 6 years) Rs. 60,00,000. 

Q 7 On 1st April 20X1, an item of property is offered for sale at Rs. 10 million, with payment 
terms being three equal installments of Rs. 33,33,333 over a two years period (payments are 
made on 1st April 20X1, 31st March 20X2 and 31st March 20X3).  

The property developer is offering a discount of 5 percent (i.e. Rs0.5 million) if payment is 
made in full at the time of completion of sale. Implicit interest rate of 5.36 percent p.a.  

Show how the property will be recorded in accordance of AS 10.  

Ans: AS 10 requires that the cost of an item of PPE is the cash price equivalent at the recognition 
date. Hence, the purchaser that takes up the deferred payment terms will recognise the 
acquisition of the asset as follows: 

On 1st April 20X1  
Property, Plant and Equipment Dr. 

To Cash  
To Accounts Payable  

(Initial recognition of property)  

(INR)  
95,00,000  

(INR)  
 

33,33,333  
61,66,667  

On 31st March 20X2  
Interest Expense Dr. 
Accounts payable Dr. 

To Cash  
(Recognition of interest expense and payment of second 
installment)  

 
3,30,533  

30,02,800  

 
 
 

33,33,333  

On 31st March 20X3  
Interest Expense Dr. 
Accounts payable Dr. 

To Cash  
(Recognition of interest expense and payment of final 
installment)  

 
1,69,467  

31,63,867  

 
 
 

33,33,334  

Q 8 Pluto Ltd owns land and building which are carried in its balance sheet at an aggregate 
carrying amount of Rs. 10 million. The fair value of such asset is Rs. 15 million. It exchanges 
the land and building for a private jet, which has a fair value of Rs. 18 million, and pays 
additional Rs. 3 million in cash. 

Show the necessary treatment as per AS 10. 
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Ans: Provided that the transaction has commercial substance, the entity should recognised the 
private jet at a cost of Rs. 18 million (its fair value) and should recognise a profit on disposal 
of the land and building of Rs. 5 million, calculated as follow: 

     (Rs. 000) 

Fair value of Asset acquired   18,000 

Less: Carrying amount of land and building disposed  (10,000) 

Cash Paid   (3,000) 

Profit on exchange of assets   5,000 

The required journal entry is therefore as follow: 

Property, Plant and Equipment (Private Jet)  Dr. 18,000 

To Property, Plant and Equipment (Land and Building)  10,000 

To Cash   3,000 

To Profit on exchange of assets  5,000 

Q 9 Jupiter Ltd. has an item of plant with an initial cost of Rs. 100,000. At the date of revaluation 
accumulated depreciation amounted to Rs. 55,000. The fair value of asset, by reference to 
transactions in similar assets, is assessed to be Rs. 65,000. Find out the entries to be passed?  

Ans: Method – I:  

 Accumulated depreciation  Dr. 55,000  

 To Asset Cost    55,000  

 Asset Cost  Dr. 20,000  

 To Revaluation reserve    20,000  

 The net result is that the asset has a carrying amount of Rs. 65,000 (100,000 – 55,000 + 
20,000).  

 Method – II:  

 Carrying amount (100,000 – 55,000) =   45,000  

 Fair value (revalued amount)   65,000  

 Surplus   20,000  

 % of surplus (20,000/ 45,000) 44.44%  

 Entries to be Made:  

 Asset (1,00,000 x 44.44%)  Dr. 44,444  

 To Accumulated Depreciation (55,000 x 44.44%)    24,444  

 To Surplus on Revaluation    20,000 
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Q 10:  Venus Ltd. is a large manufacturing group. It owns a considerable number of industrial 
buildings, such as factories and warehouses, and office buildings in several capital cities. The 
industrial buildings are located in industrial zones whereas the office buildings are in central 
business districts of the cities. Venus’s Ltd. management want to apply the AS 10 revaluation 
model to the subsequent measurement of the office buildings but continue to apply the 
historical cost model to the industrial buildings. Is this acceptable under AS 10, Property, 
Plant and Equipment?  

Ans: Venus's Ltd. management can apply the revaluation model to just the office buildings. The 
office buildings can be clearly distinguished from the industrial buildings in terms of their 
function, their nature and their general location. AS 10 permits assets to be revalued on a 
class-by-class basis (AS 10). The different characteristics of the buildings enable them to be 
classified as different PPE classes. The different measurement models can therefore be 
applied to these classes for subsequent measurement. All properties within the class of office 
buildings must therefore be carried at revalued amount. Separate disclosure of the two 
classes must be given in accordance with AS 10. 

Q 11: An item of PPE was purchased for Rs. 9,00,000 on 1 April 20X1. It is estimated to have a 
useful life of 10 years and is depreciated on a straight line basis. On 1 April 20X3, the asset is 
revalued to Rs. 9,60,000. The useful life remains unchanged at ten years. 

 Show the necessary treatment as per AS 10. 

Ans: Calculation of Additional Depreciation: 

 Actual depreciation for 20X3-20X4 based on revalued amount (9,60,000/8) 1,20,000 

 Depreciation for 20X4-20X5 based on historical cost (9,00,000/10)  (90,000) 

 Additional Depreciation  30,000 

 In the profit or loss for 20X3-20X4, a depreciation expense of Rs. 1,20,000 will be charged. A 
reserve transfer, which will be shown in the statement of changes in equity, may be 
undertaken as follows: 

 Revaluation surplus  Dr. 30,000 

 To Retained earnings  30,000 

 The closing balance on the revaluation surplus on 31 March 20X4 will therefore be as follows: 

 Balance arising on revaluation (9,60,000 – 7,20,000)  2,40,000 

 Transfer to retained earnings  (30,000) 

   2,10,000 

Q 12: An asset which cost Rs. 10,000 was estimated to have a useful life of 10 years and residual 
value Rs. 2000. After two years, useful life was revised to 4 remaining years. 

  Calculate the depreciation charge. 

Ans:     INR 
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  Year-1 Year-2 Year-3 

 Cost 10,000 10,000 10,000 

 Less: Accumulated Depreciation (800) (1,600) (3,200)  

 Carrying Amount 9,200 8,400 6,800 

 Charges for year  (10,000-2000)/10 (10,000-2000)/10 (8,400-2,000)/4 

  800 800 1,600 

Q 13: An entity acquired an asset 3 years ago at a cost of Rs. 5 million. The depreciation method 
adopted for the asset was 10 percent reducing balance method.  

  At the end of Year 3, the entity estimates that the remaining useful life of the asset is 8 years 
and determines to adopt straight –line method from that date so as to reflect the revised 
estimated pattern of recovery of economic benefits.  

  Show the necessary treatment in accordance of AS 10.  

Ans: Change in Depreciation Method shall be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate 
in accordance of Ind AS 8 and hence will have a prospective effect.  

  Depreciation Charges for year 1 to 11 will be as follows:  

  Year 1   Rs. 500,000  

  Year 2   Rs. 450,000  

  Year 3   Rs. 405,000  

  Year 4 to Year 11  Rs. 456,000 p.a.  

Q 14  On April 1, 20X1, XYZ Ltd. acquired a machine under the following terms:  

   Rs. 

 List price of machine   80,00,000 

 Import duty   5,00,000 

 Delivery fees   1,00,000 

 Electrical installation costs   10,00,000 

 Pre-production testing   4,00,000 

 Purchase of a five-year maintenance contract with vendor   7,00,000 

 In addition to the above information XYZ Ltd. was granted a trade discount of 10% on the 
initial list price of the asset and a settlement discount of 5%, if payment for the machine was 
received within one month of purchase. XYZ Ltd. paid for the plant on April 20, 20X1. At what 
cost the asset will be recognised?  
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Ans: In accordance with AS 10, all costs required to bring an asset to its present location and 
condition for its intended use should be capitalised. Therefore, the initial purchase price of 
the asset should be: 

  Rs. 
List price  80,00,000  
Less: trade discount (10%)  (8,00,000)  
 72,00,000 
Import duty  5,00,000  
Delivery fees  1,00,000  
Electrical installation costs  10,00,000  
Pre-production testing  4,00,000  
Total amount to be capitalised at April 1, 20X1  92,00,000  

 Maintenance contract is a separate contract to get service, therefore, the maintenance 
contract cost of Rs. 7,00,000 should be taken as a prepaid expense and charged to the profit 
or loss over a period of 5 years.  

 In addition the settlement discount received of Rs. 3,60,000 (Rs. 72,00,000 x 5%) is to be 
shown as other income in the profit or loss. 

Q 15  The term of an operating lease allows a tenant, XYZ Ltd. to tailor the property to meet its 
specific needs by building an additional internal wall, but on condition that the tenant 
returns the property at the end of the lease in its original state. This will entail dismantling 
the internal wall. XYZ Ltd. incurs a cost of Rs. 25,00,000 on building the wall and present 
value of estimated cost to dismantle the wall is Rs. 10,00,000. At what value should the 
leasehold improvements be capitalised in the books of XYZ Ltd.  

Ans: The leasehold improvement is not only the cost of building the wall, but also the cost of 
restoring the property at the end of the lease. As such both costs i.e., Rs. 35,00,000 are 
capitalised when the internal wall is built and will be recognised in profit and loss over the 
useful life of the asset (generally the lease term) as a part of depreciation charge).  

Q 16  X Limited started construction on a building for its own use on April 1, 20X0. The following 
costs are incurred:  

 Rs.
Purchase price of land  30,00,000 
Stamp duty & legal fee  2,00,000 
Architect fee  2,00,000 
Site preparation  50,000 
Materials  10,00,000 
Direct labour cost  4,00,000 
General overheads  1,00,000 

 Other relevant information: Material costing Rs. 1,00,000 had been spoiled and therefore 
wasted and a further Rs. 1,50,000 was spent on account of faulty design work. As a result of 
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these problems, work on the building was stopped for two weeks during November 20X0 and 
it is estimated that Rs. 22,000 of the labour cost relate to that period. The building was 
completed on January 1, 20X1 and brought in use April 1, 20X1. X Limited had taken a loan of 
Rs. 40,00,000 on April 1, 20X0 for construction of the building (which meets the definition of 
qualifying asset as per Ind AS 23). The loan carried an interest rate of 8% per annum and is 
repayable on April 1, 20X2.  

 Calculate the cost of the building that will be included in tangible non-current asset as an 
addition?  

Ans: Only those costs which are directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition 
for its intended use should be included. Administration and general costs cannot be included. 
Abnormal cost also should be excluded. The cost of spoilt materials and faulty designs are 
abnormal costs. The labour cost incurred during the stoppage is an abnormal cost and should 
not to be included. The interest on loan should be capitalised from April 1, 20X0, and 
capitalisation of interest on loan must cease when the asset is ready to use i.e., January 1, 
20X1.  

 Amount to be included in Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) : 

 
Purchase price of land  30,00,000  
Stamp duty & legal fee  2,00,000  
Architect fee  2,00,000  
Site preparation  50,000  
Material (10,00,000 – 2,50,000)  7,50,000  
Direct labour cost (4,00,000 – 22,000)  3,78,000  
General overheads  Nil  
Interest (40,00,000 x 8%) x 9/12  2,40,000  
Total to be capitalized  48,18,000  

Q 12  XYZ Ltd. purchased an asset on January 1, 20X0, for Rs. 1,00,000 and the asset had an 
estimated useful life of ten years and a residual value of Rs. nil. The company has charged 
depreciation using the straight-line method at Rs. 10,000 per annum. On January 1, 20X4, the 
management of XYZ Ltd. Reviews the estimated life and decides that the asset will probably 
be useful for a further four years and, therefore, the total life is revised to eight years. How 
should the asset be accounted for remaining years?  

Ans: Change in useful economic life of an asset is change in accounting estimate, which is to be 
applied prospectively, i.e., the depreciation charge will need to be recalculated. On January 
1, 20X4, when the asset’s net book value is Rs. 60,000. The company should amend the 
annual provision for depreciation to charge the unamortised cost (namely, Rs. 60,000) over 
the revised remaining life of four years. Consequently, it should charge depreciation for the 
next four years at Rs. 15,000 per annum. 

Q 17  On 1 April 20X1, Sun ltd purchased some land for Rs. 10 million (including legal costs of Rs. 1 
million) in order to construct a new factory. Construction work commenced on 1 May 20X1. 
Sun ltd incurred the following costs in relation with its construction:  
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–  Preparation and levelling of the land – Rs. 3,00,000.  

–  Purchase of materials for the construction – Rs. 6·08 million in total.  

–  Employment costs of the construction workers – Rs. 2,00,000 per month.  

–  Overhead costs incurred directly on the construction of the factory – Rs. 1,00,000 per 
month.  

–  Ongoing overhead costs allocated to the construction project using the company’s 
normal overhead allocation model – Rs. 50,000 per month.  

–  Income received during the temporary use of the factory premises as a car park 
during the construction period – Rs. 50,000.  

–  Costs of relocating employees to work at the new factory – Rs. 300,000.  

–  Costs of the opening ceremony on 31 January 20X1 – Rs. 150,000.  

 The factory was completed on 30 November 20X1 and production began on 1 February 20X2. 
The overall useful life of the factory building was estimated at 40 years from the date of 
completion. However, it is estimated that the roof will need to be replaced 20 years after the 
date of completion and that the cost of replacing the roof at current prices would be 30% of 
the total cost of the building.  

 At the end of the 40-year period, Sun ltd has a legally enforceable obligation to demolish the 
factory and restore the site to its original condition. The directors estimate that the cost of 
demolition in 40 years’ time (based on prices prevailing at that time) will be Rs. 20 million. An 
annual risk adjusted discount rate which is appropriate to this project is 8%. The present 
value of Rs. 1 payable in 40 years’ time at an annual discount rate of 8% is 4·6 cents.  

 The construction of the factory was partly financed by a loan of Rs. 17·5 million taken out on 
1 April 20X1. The loan was at an annual rate of interest of 6%. During the period 1 April 20X1 
to 31 August 20X1 (when the loan proceeds had been fully utilised to finance the 
construction), Sun Ltd received investment income of Rs. 100,000 on the temporary 
investment of the proceeds.  

 Required:  

 Compute the carrying amount of the factory in the Balance Sheet of Sun Ltd at 31 March 
20X2. You should explain your treatment of all the amounts referred to in this part in your 
answer.  

Ans: Computation of the cost of the factory 

Description  Included 
in P.P.E.  
Rs.’000  

Explanation  

Purchase of land  10,000  Both the purchase of the land and the 
associated legal costs are direct costs 
of constructing the factory.  

Preparation and levelling  300  A direct cost of constructing the 
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factory  
Materials  6,080  A direct cost of constructing the 

factory  
Employment costs of construction 
workers  

1,400  A direct cost of constructing the 
factory for a seven-month period  

Direct overhead costs  700  A direct cost of constructing the 
factory for a seven-month period  

Allocated overhead costs  Nil  Not a direct cost of construction  
Income from use as a car park  Nil  Not essential to the construction so 

recognised directly in profit or loss  
Relocation costs  Nil  Not a direct cost of construction  
Opening ceremony  Nil  Not a direct cost of construction  
Finance costs  700  Capitalise the interest cost incurred in 

an eight-month period (purchase of 
land would trigger off capitalisation)  

Investment income on temporary 
investment of the loan proceeds  

(100)  offset against the amount capitalised  

Demolition cost recognised as a 
provision  

920  Where an obligation must recognise 
as part of the initial cost  

Total  20,000   
Computation of accumulated depreciation   
Total depreciable amount  10,000  All of the net finance cost of 600 (700 

– 100) has been allocated to the 
depreciable amount. Also acceptable 
to reduce by allocating a portion to 
the non-depreciable land element 
principle  

Depreciation must be in two parts:  
Depreciation of roof component  
Depreciation of remainder  

50  
58  

10,000 x 30% x 1/20 x 4/12  
10,000 x 70% x 1/40 x 4/12  

Total depreciation  108   
Computation of carrying amount  19,892  20,000 – 108  

Q 18. ABC Ltd. is installing a new plant at its production facility. It has incurred these costs: 

1.  Cost of the plant (cost per supplier’s invoice plus taxes)  Rs.25,00,000  
2.  Initial delivery and handling costs  Rs.2,00,000  
3.  Cost of site preparation  Rs.6,00,000  
4.  Consultants used for advice on the acquisition of the plant  Rs.7,00,000  
5.  Interest charges paid to supplier of plant for deferred credit  Rs.2,00,000  
6.  Estimated dismantling costs to be incurred after 7 years  Rs.3,00,000  
7.  Operating losses before commercial production  Rs.4,00,000  

Ans: According to AS 10, these costs can be capitalized: 
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1.  Cost of the plant  Rs. 25,00,000  
2.  Initial delivery and handling costs  Rs. 2,00,000  
3.  Cost of site preparation  Rs. 6,00,000  
4.  Consultants’ fees  Rs. 7,00,000  
5.  Estimated dismantling costs to be incurred after 7 years  Rs. 3,00,000  

Rs. 43,00,000  

 Note: Interest charges paid on “Deferred credit terms” to the supplier of the plant (not a 
qualifying asset) of Rs. 2,00,000 and operating losses before commercial production 
amounting to Rs. 4,00,000 are not regarded as directly attributable costs and thus cannot be 
capitalized. They should be written off to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period they 
are incurred. 

Q 19.  B Ltd. owns an asset with an original cost of Rs. 2,00,000. On acquisition, management 
determined that the useful life was 10 years and the residual value would be Rs. 20,000. The 
asset is now 8 years old, and during this time there have been no revisions to the assessed 
residual value.  

 At the end of year 8, management has reviewed the useful life and residual value and has 
determined that the useful life can be extended to 12 years in view of the maintenance 
program adopted by the company. As a result, the residual value will reduce to Rs. 10,000.  

 How would the above changes in estimates be made by B Ltd.?  

Ans: The above changes in estimates would be effected in the following manner:  

 The asset has a carrying amount of Rs. 56,000 at the end of year 8 [Rs. 2,00,000 – Rs. 
1,44,000] i.e. Accumulated Depreciation.  

 Accumulated depreciation is calculated as  

 Depreciable amount {Cost less residual value} = Rs. 2,00,000 – Rs. 20,000 = Rs. 1,80,000.  

 Annual depreciation = Depreciable amount / Useful life = 1,80,000 / 10 = Rs. 18,000.  

 Accumulated depreciation = 18,000 × No. of years (8) = Rs. 1,44,000.  

 Revision of the useful life to 12 years results in a remaining useful life of 4 years (12 – 8).  

 The revised depreciable amount is Rs. 46,000. (56,000 – 10,000)  

 Thus, depreciation should be charged in future at Rs. 11,500 per annum (Rs. 46,000/4 years). 

Q 20.  X Ltd. has a machine which got damaged due to fire as on January 31, 20X1. The carrying 
amount of machine was Rs. 1,00,000 on that date. X Ltd. sold the damaged asset as scrap for 
Rs. 10,000. X Ltd. has insured the same asset against damage. As on March 31, 20X1, the 
compensation proceeds was still in process but the insurance company has confirmed the 
claim. Compensation of Rs. 50,000 is receivable from the insurance company. How X Ltd. will 
account for the above transaction?  
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Ans: Impairment or losses of items of property, plant and equipment and related claims for or 
payments of compensation from third parties are separate economic events and should be 
accounted for separately.  

 X Ltd. should account for the above transaction as given below:  

 At the time of sale of scrap machine, X Ltd. should write off the carrying amount of asset 
from books of account and provide a loss of Rs. 90,000. (i.e., carrying amount of Rs. 1,00,000 
– realised amount of Rs. 10,000)  

 As on March 31, 20X1, X Ltd. should recognise income of Rs. 50,000 against the 
compensation receivable in its profit or loss. 

Q 21.  An entity has a nuclear power plant and a related decommissioning liability. The nuclear 
power plant started operating on April 1, 2017. The plant has a useful life of 40 years. Its 
initial cost was Rs. 1,20,000 which included an amount for decommissioning costs of Rs. 
10,000, which represented Rs. 70,400 in estimated cash flows payable in 40 years discounted 
at a risk-adjusted rate of 5 per cent. The entity’s financial year ends on March 31. On March, 
value of the decommissioning liability has decreased by Rs. 8,000. The discount rate has not 
yet changed.  

 How the entity will account for the above changes in decommissioning liability if it adopts 
cost model?  

Ans: On March 31, 2027, the plant is 10 years old. Accumulated depreciation is Rs. 30,000 (Rs. 
120,000 × 10/years). Because of the unwinding of discount (5 per cent) over the 10 years, the 
decommissioning liability has increased from Rs. 10,000 to Rs. 16,300.  

 On March 31, 2027, the discount rate has not changed. However, the entity estimates that, 
as a result of technological advances, the net present value of the decommissioning liability 
has decreased by Rs. 8,000. Accordingly, the entity adjusts the decommissioning liability from 
Rs. 16,300 to Rs. 8,300. On this date, the entity makes the following journal entry to reflect 
the change:  

   Rs. Rs. 

 Decommissioning liability  Dr.  8,000  

 To Cost of asset    8,000  

 Following this adjustment, the carrying amount of the asset is Rs. 82,000 (Rs. 1,20,000 – Rs. 
8,000 – Rs. 30,000), which will be depreciated over the remaining 30 years of the asset’s life 
giving a depreciation expense for the next year of Rs. 2,733 (Rs. 82,000 ÷ 30). The next year’s 
finance cost for the unwinding of the discount will be Rs. 415 (Rs. 8,300 × 5 per cent).  

 If the change in the liability had resulted from a change in the discount rate, instead of a 
change in the estimated cash flows, the accounting for the change would have been the 
same but the next year’s finance cost would have reflected the new discount rate. 

THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN 
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EXCHANGE RATES (AS 11) 
Q 1:  A Ltd. purchased fixed assets costing Rs 3,000 lakhs on 1.1.2016 and the same was 

fully financed by foreign currency loan (U.S. Dollars) payable in three annual equal 
instalments. Exchange rates were 1 Dollar = Rs 40.00 and Rs 42.50 as on 1.1.2016 and 
31.12.2016 respectively. First instalment was paid on 31.12.2016. The entire 
difference in foreign exchange has been capitalized. You are required to state, how 
these transactions would be accounted for.  [May 2010] 

Ans: As per para 13 of AS 11 (Revised 2003) ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates’, exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on 
reporting an enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those at which they 
were initially recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, 
should be recognized as income or expenses in the period in which they arise. Thus 
exchange differences arising on repayment of liabilities incurred for the purpose of 
acquiring fixed assets are recognized as income or expense. 

 Calculation of Exchange Difference: 

 Foreign currency loan = Rs.3,000 lakhs / Rs 40 = 75 lakhs US Dollars 

 Exchange difference = 75 lakhs US Dollars x (42.50 – 40.00) = Rs 187.50 lakhs 

 (including exchange loss on payment of first instalment) 

 Therefore, entire loss due to exchange differences amounting Rs 187.50 lakhs should 
be charged to profit and loss account for the year. 

 Note: Alternatively, A Ltd. may opt for capitalizing the difference of foreign exchange 
to fixed assets account on the basis of PARA 46Aof AS 11. 

 According to the notification, the new cost of the fixed asset will be Rs. 3,187.5 lakhs 
{Rs. 3,000 lakhs + Difference in foreign exchange currency translation as on 
31.12.2016 Rs. 187.5 lakhs} which shall be depreciated over the balance life of the 
asset. 

Q 2:  Sunshine Company Limited imported raw materials worth US Dollars 9,000 on 25th 
February, 2011, when the exchange rate was Rs. 44 per US Dollar. The transaction 
was recorded in the books at the above mentioned rate. The payment for the 
transaction was made on 10th April, 2011, when the exchange rate was Rs. 48 per US 
Dollar. At the yearend 31st March, 2011, the rate of exchange was Rs. 49 per US 
Dollar. The Chief Accountant of the company passed an entry on 31st March, 2011 
adjusting the cost of raw material consumed for the difference between Rs. 48 and 
Rs. 44 per US Dollar. Discuss whether this treatment is justified as per the provisions 
of AS-11 (Revised).   [Nov 2011] 
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Ans: As per AS 11, ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, initial recognition of 
a foreign currency transaction is done in the reporting currency by applying the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Accordingly, on 25th February 2011, the 
raw material purchased and its creditors will be recorded at US dollar 9,000 × Rs. 44 = 
Rs. 3,96,000. 

 Also, as per para 11 of the standard, on balance sheet date such transaction is 
reported at closing rate of exchange, hence it will be valued at the closing rate i.e. Rs. 
49 per US dollar (USD 9,000 x Rs. 49 = Rs. 4,41,000) at 31st March, 2011, irrespective 
of the payment made for the same subsequently at lower rate in the next financial 
year. The difference of Rs. 5 (49 – 44) per US dollar i.e. Rs. 45,000 (USD 9,000 x Rs. 5) 
will be shown as an exchange loss in the profit and loss account for the year ended 
31st March, 2011 and will not be adjusted against the cost of raw materials. 

 In the subsequent year on settlement date, the company would recognize or provide 
in the Profit and Loss account an exchange gain of Rs. 1 per US dollar, i.e. the 
difference from balance sheet date to the date of settlement between Rs. 49 and Rs. 
48 per US dollar i.e. Rs. 9,000. Hence, the accounting treatment adopted by the Chief 
Accountant of the company is incorrect i.e. it is not in accordance with the provisions 
of AS 11. 

Q 3:   A Ltd. purchased fixed assets costing Rs. 2,544 lakhs on 1st April, 2009 and the same 
was fully financed by foreign currency loan in U.S. Dollars, repayable in four equal 
annual instalments. Exchange rate at the time of purchase was 1 US Dollar Rs. 42.40. 
The first instalment was paid on 31st March, 2010 when 1 US Dollar fetched Rs. 45.40. 
The entire loss on exchange was included in cost of goods sold of normal business 
operations. A Ltd. provides depreciation on their fixed assets at 20% on WDV basis. 
Show the correct accounting treatment with reference to relevant accounting 
standards.   

Ans: As per AS 11 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, foreign currency non-
monetary items which are carried in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign 
currency should be reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction 
and exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting 
an enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those at which they were 
initially recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, 
should be recognised as income or as expense in the period in which they arise. 
Foreign Currency loss will be computed as Rs. 180 lakhs {$ 60 lakhs [ 2544 lakhs/42.40 
] x (Rs. 45.40 – Rs. 42.40)}.The entire loss on exchange difference of Rs.180 lakhs 
should be recognized as an expense for the year ended 31st March 2010 and should 
not be included in the cost of goods sold. Depreciation on fixed assets amounting Rs. 
508.80 lakhs* (20% of  Rs.2,544 lakhs) should be provided for in the financial 
statements for the year ended 31st March 2010.  
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 Note:Alternatively, A Ltd. may opt for capitalizing the difference of foreign exchange 
to fixed assets account on the basis of PARA 46A of AS 11. 

 According to the notification, the new cost of the fixed asset will be Rs. 2,724 lakhs 
{Rs. 2,544 lakhs + Difference in foreign exchange currency translation as on 31.3.2010 
Rs. 180 lakhs [$60 lakhs x (Rs. 45.40 – Rs.42.40)] which shall be depreciated over the 
balance life of the asset. 

Q 4: Beekay Ltd. purchased fixed assets costing Rs. 5,000 lakh on 01.04.2012 payable in 
foreign currency (US$) on 05.04.2013. Exchange rate of 1 US$ = Rs. 50.00 and Rs. 
54.98 as on 01.04.2012 and 31.03.2013 respectively. 

 The company also obtained a soft loan of US$ 1 lakh on 01.04.2012 payable in three 
annual equal instalments. First instalment was due on 01.05.2013. 

 You are required to state, how these transactions would be accounted for in the 
books of accounts ending 31st March, 2013.[Nov 2013]  

Ans: As per AS 11 (Revised) ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, exchange 
differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting an 
enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially 
recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, should be 
recognised as income or as an expense in the period in which they arise. However, 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs has recently amended AS 11 through a notification. As 
per the notification, exchange difference arising on reporting of long-term foreign 
currency monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially 
recorded during the period, or reported in previous financial statements, in so far as 
they relate to requisition of depreciable capital asset, can be added to or deducted 
from cost of asset. The MCA has given an option for the enterprises to capitalize the 
exchange differences arising on reporting of long term foreign currency monetary 
items till 31st March, 2020. Thus the company can capitalize the exchange differences 
arising due to long term loans linked with the acquisition of fixed assets. 

 Transaction 1: Calculation of exchange difference on fixed assets 

 Foreign Exchange Liability = 5,000/50 = US $ 100 lakhs 

 Exchange Difference = US $ 100 lakhs x (Rs. 54.98 – Rs. 50) = Rs. 498 lakhs. 

 Loss due to exchange difference amounting Rs. 498 lakhs will be capitalised and 
added in the carrying value of fixed assets. Depreciation on the unamortised amount 
will be provided in the remaining years 

 Transaction 2: Soft loan exchange difference (US $ 1 lakh i.e Rs. 50 lakhs) 

 Value of loan 31.3.13 → US $ 1 lakh x 54.98 = Rs. 54,98,000 
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 AS 11 also provides that in case of liability designated as long-term foreign currency 
monetary item, the exchange difference is to be accumulated in the Foreign Currency 
Monetary Item Translation Difference (FCMITD) and should be written off over the 
useful life of such long-term liability, by recognition as income or expenses in each of 
such periods. 

 Exchange difference between reporting currency (INR) and foreign currency (USD) as 
on 31.03.2013 = US$1.00 lakh X Rs. (54.98 – 50) = Rs. 4.98 lakh. 

 Loan account is to be increased to 54.98 Iakh and FCMITD account is to be debited by 
4.98 lakh. Since loan is repayable in 3 equal annual instalments, Rs. 4.98 lakh/3 = Rs. 
1.66 lakh is to be charged in Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31st March, 
2013 and balance in FCMITD A/c Rs. (4.98 lakh – 1.66 lakh) = Rs. 3.32 lakh is to be 
shown on the 'Equity & Liabilities' side of the Balance Sheet as a negative figure under 
the head 'Reserve and Surplus' as a separate line item. 

 Note: The above answer is given on the basis that the company has availed the option 
under para 46A of AS 11 

Q 5:  Opportunity Ltd. purchased an equipment costing Rs. 24,00,000 lakhs on 1.4.2013and 
the same was fully financed by foreign currency loan (US Dollars) payable infour 
annual equal installments. Exchange rates were 1 Dollar = Rs. 60.00 and Rs. 62.50 as 
on 1.4.2013 and 31.3.2014 respectively. First installment was paid on31.3.2014. The 
entire difference in foreign exchange has been capitalized. You arerequired to state 
that how these transactions would be accounted for. 

Ans: As per para 13 of AS 11 (Revised 2003) ‘The Effects of Changes in ForeignExchange 
Rates’, exchange differences arising on reporting an enterprise’smonetary items at 
rates different from those at which they were initially recordedduring the period, 
should be recognized as income or expenses in the period inwhich they arise. Thus, 
exchange differences arising on repayment of liabilitiesincurred for the purpose of 
acquiring fixed assets will be recognized as income orexpense. 

 Calculation of Exchange Difference: 

 Foreign currency loan = Rs. 24,00,000/60 = 40,000 US Dollars 

 Exchange difference = 40,000 US Dollars × (62.50-60.00) = Rs. 1,00,000 

 (including exchange loss on payment of first instalment) 

 Therefore, entire loss due to exchange differences amounting Rs. 1,00,000 should 
becharged to profit and loss account for the year. 

 Note: The above answer has been given on the basis that the company has notavailed 
the option for capitalisation of exchange difference as per para 46/ 46A ofAS 11. 
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 However, as per para 46A of the standard, the exchange differences arising 
onreporting of long term foreign currency monetary items at rates different from 
thoseat which they were initially recorded during the period, in so far as they relate to 
theacquisition of a depreciable capital asset, can be added to or deducted from 
thecost of the asset and shall be depreciated over the balance life of the 
asset.Accordingly, in case Opportunity Ltd. opts for capitalizing the exchange 
difference,then the entire amount of exchange difference of Rs. 1,00,000 will be 
capitalised to‘Equipment account’. This capitalized exchange difference will be 
depreciated overthe useful life of the asset. 

 Cost of the asset on the reporting date 

 Initial cost of Equipment    Rs. 24,00,000 

 Add: Exchange difference as on 31.3.2014  
  Rs. 1,00,000 

 Total cost on the reporting date    Rs. 25,00,000 

Q 6 Explain briefly the accounting treatment needed in the following cases as per AS 11 
'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchanges Rates'. 

(i)  Sundry Debtors include amount receivable from Ted Rs. 5,00,000 recorded at 
the prevailing exchange rate on the date of sales, transactions recorded at $1 = 
Rs. 38.70 

(ii)  Long term loan taken from a U.S. Company, amounting to Rs. 60,00,000. It was 
recorded at $1 = Rs. 35.60, taking exchange rate prevailing at the date of 
transactions. 

(iii)  Another long term loan was there in Pound Sterling for purchase of machinery 
amounting to Rs. 10,00,000. It was recorded at Pounds Rs. 62.80. 

 Exchange rates at the end of the year were as under: 

 $1 Receivable = Rs. 45.80 

 Pounds = Rs. 72.30 

 $ 1 Payable = Rs. 45.90     

Ans:  AS 11, The “Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” provides that exchange 
differences attributable to monetary items should be taken to Profit and Loss 
account. In case the option under para 46A is exercised, the exchange differences 
arising on long-term foreign currency monetary items can be adjusted in the cost of 
the depreciable capital asset or in other cases parked in Foreign Currency Monetary 
Item Translation Difference Account and amortised. 

Item 1: Sundry Debtors: This is a    
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monetary item. 
Particulars  Foreign currency  Rate  Rupees 
Initial recognition  US $12,919.90  38.70  5,00,000 
Rate on B/S date   45.80  
Exchange Difference  US $12,919.90  7.10  91,731 
Gain or loss    Gain 
Treatment: Credit P/L Rs. 91,731    
Item 2. Long Term loan    
Particulars  Foreign currency  Rate  Rupees 
Initial recognition  US $ 1,68,539.33  35.60  60,00,000 
Rate on B/S date   45.90  
Exchange Difference  US $ 1,68,539.33  10.30  17,35,955 
Gain or loss    Loss 
Treatment:  Debit P/L Rs. 17,35,955 or transfer to FCMITD A/c and amortise 
Item 3. Loan for acquisition of a depreciable capital asset 
Particulars  Foreign currency  Rate  Rupees 
Initial recognition  P.St. 15,923.57  62.80  10,00,000 
Rate on B/S date   72.30  
Exchange Difference P.St. 15,923.57  9.50  1,51,274 
Gain or loss    Loss 
Treatment:Debit P/L Rs. 1,51,274 or adjust in the cost of the asset and depreciate 
accordingly. 

 

ACCOUNTING FOR GOVERNMENTS 
GRANTS (AS 12) 

Q 1  Toa & Top Limited has set up its business in a designated backward area which 
entitles the company to receive from the Government of India a subsidy of 20% of the 
cost of investment. Having fulfilled all the conditions under the scheme, the company 
on its investment of Rs. 50 crore in capital assets, received Rs. 10 crore from the 
Government in January, 2005 (accounting period being 2004-05). The company wants 
to treat this receipt as an item of revenue and thereby reduce the losses on profit and 
loss account for the year ended 31st March, 2005. Keeping in view the relevant 
Accounting Standard, discuss whether this action is justified or not.  
  [May 2008,] 

Ans: Subsidy received by the company: The Company had received a subsidy of Rs. 10 
crore, for establishing an undertaking in the backward/notified area. The accounting 
treatment of such subsidy shall depend upon the nature and purpose for which it has 
been given. As per AS-12 on “Accounting for Government Grants”, the grant given for 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 76 
 
 
 

acquisition of fixed assets is in the nature of promoter’s contribution. As per facts of 
the case, the grant has been given with reference to the total investment in the 
undertaking by way of contribution towards its total capital outlay for the 
establishment of the undertaking, which is having similar characteristics to those of 
promoter’s contribution. In such cases, no repayment is ordinarily expected and thus 
the grants are treated as capital reserve which can be neither distributed as deferred 
income. Accordingly the amount of Rs. 10 crores should be kept in a special reserve 
account and treated as a part of shareholder’s funds.  

 Hence treatment of this receipts as an item of revenue and thereby reduces the losses 
on profit and loss account for the year ended 31st March, 2005 is not justified 

Q 2  X Limited received a grant of Rs 2 crores from the Central Government for the 
purpose of special Machinery during 1998-99. The cost of Machinery was Rs 20 crores 
and had a useful life of 9 years. During 2002-03, the grant has become refundable due 
to non-fulfilment of certain conditions attached to it. Assuming the entire grant was 
deducted from the cost of Machinery in the year of acquisition. State with reasons, 
the accounting treatment to be followed in the year 2002-03. 
   

Ans: As per AS 12 on Accounting for Government Grants, the amount refundable in respect 
of a government grant related to a specific fixed asset is recorded by increasing the 
book value of the asset. Depreciation on the revised book value is provided 
prospectively over the residual useful life of the asset. In the given case, book value of 
machinery will be increased by Rs 2 crores in the year 2002-2003. The computations 
for the depreciation on machinery can be given as: 

Cost of Machinery Rs 20 Crores 
Less: Grant received Rs 2 Crores 
Cost of machinery Rs 18 Crores 
Useful life of machinery 9 Years 
Depreciation per year as per straight line method  
(assuming residual value to be zero) [Rs 18 crores/9] Rs 2 crores 
Total depreciation for 4 years (1998-99 to 2001-2002) Rs 8 crores 
Book value (in year 2002-2003) [Rs 18 Crores - 8 crores] Rs 10 crores 
Add: Grant refunded Rs 2 crores 
Revised book value Rs 12 crores 
Remaining useful life 5 years 
Revised annual depreciation [Rs 12 crores/5] 2.4 crores 

 Thus, book value of machinery will be Rs 12 crores in the year 2002-2003 and the 
depreciation amounting Rs 2.4 crores will be charged on machinery. Annual 
depreciation of Rs 2.4 crores will be charged in the next four years. 
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Q 3 Siva Limited received a grant of Rs. 1,500 lakhs during the last accounting year (2009-
10) from Government for welfare activities to be carried on by the company for its 
employees. The grant prescribed conditions for its utilization. However during the 
year 2010-11, it was found that the conditions of the grant were not complied with 
and the grant had to be refunded to the Government in full. Elucidate the current 
accounting treatment with reference to the provisions of AS-12. 
   

Ans: As per AS 12 ‘Accounting for Government Grants’, Government Grant may, 
sometimes, become refundable if certain conditions are not fulfilled. A government 
grant that becomes refundable is treated as extra-ordinary item as per AS, 5 ‘Net 
Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies. 

 The amount refundable in respect of a government grant related to revenue is 
applied first against any unamortized deferred credit remaining in respect of the 
grant. To the extent that the amount refundable exceeds any such deferred credit, or 
where no deferred credit exists, the amount is charged immediately to profit and loss 
statement. 

 In the given case, the amount of refund of grant of Rs. 1,500 lakhs should be charged 
to the profit and loss account in the year 2010-2011 as an extraordinary item.  

Q 4 Explain the treatment of the following: 

(i) A firm acquired a fixed asset for Rs 250 lakhs on which the government grant received 
was 40%. 

(ii) Capital subsidy received from the central government for setting up a plant in the 
notified backward region. Cost of the plant Rs 300 lakhs, subsidy received Rs 100 
lakhs. 

(iii) Rs 50 lakhs received from the state government for the setting up of water-treatment 
plant. 

(iv) Rs 25 lakhs received from the local authority for providing medical facilities to the 
employees. 

Ans:  

(i) The total cost of the fixed asset is Rs 250 lakhs and the grant is 40% i.e., Rs 100 lakhs.  
In the balance sheet, the asset will be shown at the net amount (Rs 250 lakhs – Rs 100 
lakhs) i.e, Rs 150 lakhs only. This will depreciated over the life of the asset. 

(ii) In this case, the subsidy received for setting up a plant in the notified region, should 
be treated as a capital subsidy. The amount of subsidy i.e. Rs 100 lakhs be added to 
the Capital Reserves and the plant should be shown at Rs 300 lakhs. 
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(iii) Rs 50 lakhs received from state government for setting up of water treatment plant 
should be deducted from the cost of the plant in the balance sheet. 

(iv) It is a case of revenue grant and should be shown in the profit and loss account.  
However, if the medical facilities are to be provided over a period of more than one 
year, it may be treated as deferred income and then taken to Profit and Loss Account 
on a systematic basis. 

Q 5 A steel manufacturing company has a turnover of Rs 45 crores and net pre-tax profit 
of Rs 6 crores.  The company’s financial year ends on 31stMarch, 2005.  Company’s 
policy is to treat grants received in respect of fixed assets as deferred income and to 
deduct all grants identified as relating to specific revenue expenditure against that 
expenditure.  All other grants recognized are credited to profit and loss account. 
Answer the following questions:  

(a)  During the year the company received a grant from the Defence Department of 
Government of India for Rs 3,00,000 towards the cost of new equipment.  The 
equipment has an estimated useful economic life of ten years and cost Rs 7,00,000.  
Company policy is to depreciate all depreciable fixed assets by the straight line 
method.  

(b)  In December, 2004 the company spent Rs 70,000 on training, in respect of which it is 
due to receive government grant of 50%. The grant formalities have been completed 
but payment is not expected until mid-June.  

(c)  In October, 2005 a grant of Rs 40,000 was received from the Government in 
recognition of the high quality that the company’s production had maintained over 
the five years, which had ended on 31st March, 2005, the previous year.   

Ans:  

(a) This is a case of Government grant received relating to specific fixed assets.  There are 
two methods for dealing this grant in accounts.  

 Method 1 - Grant can be shown as an outright deduction from the gross value of the 
asset. In this method, the depreciation will be Rs 40,000 based on SLM (assumed) i.e., 
10% of (Rs. 7,00,000 – Rs. 3,00,000).  In this method the grant is recognized in the 
profit and loss statement over the useful life of depreciable asset by way of a reduced 
depreciation charge.   

 Method 2 - The grant related to depreciable asset is treated as deferred income and 
recognized in the profit and loss statement on a systematic and rational basis over the 
useful life of asset.    

(i)        Profit and Loss Account (Extract)     

  Rs  Rs  
Depreciation 70,000   
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Less: Proportionate deferred Government grant for the 
year  

30,000 40,000 

(ii)  Balance Sheet (Extract) 

Liabilities   Assets  
Share Capital  XXX  Fixed Assets     
Reserve and Surplus  XXX  Gross  7,00,000  
Deferred Govt. Grant  2,70,000  Less: Depreciation  70,000 
Loan  XXX  6,30,000                                                                    

(b)  The Government grant to be received can be shown either as income or as deduction 
from training expense. As the grant has not been received till the year end, it has to 
be shown as receivable. 

(c)   The grant amount received should be credited to profit and loss account in the 
current year, i.e., 2005-2006. 

Q 6 White Ltd. A fixed asset is purchased for Rs. 25 lakhs. Government grant 
receivedtowards it is Rs. 10 lakhs. Residual Value is Rs. 5 lakhs and useful life is 5 
years.Assume depreciation on the basis of Straight Line method. Asset is shown in 
thebalance sheet net of grant. After 1 year, grant becomes refundable to the extent 
of Rs. 6 lakhs due to non compliance with certain conditions. Pass journal entries 
forfirst two years. 

Ans:  Journal Entries Rs. in lakhs 

Year  Particulars   (Dr.) (Cr.) 
1  Fixed Asset Account  

To Bank Account  
(Being fixed asset purchased) 

Dr.  25  
   25 
    
 Bank Account  

To Fixed Asset Account  
(Being grant received from the 
governmentreduced the cost of fixed asset) 

Dr.  10  
   10 
    

 Depreciation Account (W.N.1)  
To Fixed Asset Account  

(Being depreciation charged on Straight 
Line method (SLM)) 

Dr.  2  
   2 
    

 Profit & Loss Account  
To Depreciation Account  

(Being depreciation transferred to Profit 
and Loss Account at the end of year 1) 

Dr.  2  
   2 
    

2  Fixed Asset Account  
To Bank Account  

(Being government grant on asset partly 

Dr.  6  
   6 
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refunded which increased the cost of fixed 
asset) 

 Depreciation Account (W.N.2)  
To Fixed Asset Account  

(Being depreciation charged on SLM on 
revised value of fixed asset prospectively) 

Dr.  3.5  
   3.5 
    

 Profit & Loss Account  
To Depreciation Account  

(Being depreciation transferred to Profit 
and Loss Account at the end of year 2) 

Dr.  3.5  
   3.5 
    

 Working Notes:  

1.  Depreciation for Year 1 Rs. in lakhs 
 Cost of the Asset  25 
 Less: Government grant received  (10) 
  15 
 Depreciation [15-5]/5  2 
2.  Depreciation for Year 2 Rs. in lakhs 
 Cost of the Asset  25 
 Less: Government grant received  (10) 
  15 
 Less: Depreciation for the first year [15-5]/5  2 
  13 
 Add: Government grant refundable  6 
  19 
 Depreciation for the second year [19-5]/4  3.5 

Q 7 Primus Hospitals Ltd. had acquired 40 units of Doppler Scan machines from Holiver 
USA at a cost of US$ 165,100 per unit in the beginning of financial year 2008-09. The 
prevailing rate of exchange was Rs. 50 to 1 US $. The acquisition was partly funded 
out of a government grant of Rs. 5 crores. The grant relating to such machines was 
given with a rider that in the event of a change in management, the entity is bound to 
return the grant. In April 2011, 51% control in the company was taken over by an 
overseas investor. The expected productive period of such an asset is normally 
reckoned as 5 years. The depreciation rate adopted was 20% p.a. on S.L.M. basis. The 
company had incurred expenditure of US $ 4000 towards bank charges and Rs. 7500 
per unit as sea freight. You are also informed that neither capital reserve nor deferred 
income account has been maintained by the company. You are required to suggest 
the accounting treatment as a result of the return of the grant, in the light of the 
relevant AS.    [Nov, 2011] 

Ans: Calculation of Revised Book value as on 1st April, 2010 
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Particulars  (Rs.) 
Acquisition of 40 Doppler Scan machines [US $ 165,100 x Rs. 50 x  40 
machines] 

33,02,00,000 

Add: Bank charges paid ($ 4000 x Rs. 50)  2,00,000 
Add: Sea Freight on the above machines (Rs. 7,500 per unit x 
40machines)  

3,00,000 

Total landed cost as on 1st April, 2008  33,07,00,000 
Less: Government grant  (5,00,00,000) 
Value of 40 Doppler Scan machines  28,07,00,000 
Less: Depreciation @ 20% for 3 years on SLM basis  
(i.e Rs. 28,07,00,000 x 20% x 3 years)  (16,84,20,000) 
WDV at the beginning of the year 2011-12  11,22,80,000 
Add: Refund of Government grant  5,00,00,000 
Revised Book value on 1st April, 2011  16,22,80,000 

 Note: As per AS 10, where the historical cost of a depreciable asset has undergone a 
change due to increase or decrease in long term liability on account of exchange 
fluctuations, price adjustments, changes in duties o similar factors, the depreciation 
on the revised unamortized depreciable amount should be provided prospectively 
over the residual useful life of the asset. In this case, on 1st April, 2011, the remaining 
useful life is only two years i.e. 2011-12 & 2012-13. Hence the WDV of Rs. 
16,22,80,000 is to be written off under SLM @ 50% each year i.e. Rs. 8,11,40,000 per 
year. 

 The Government grant of Rs. 5 crores that becomes refundable should be accounted 
for as an extraordinary item as per AS 12 ‘Government Grants’, with related 
disclosure of the increased depreciation of Rs. 2.5 crores (i.e. Rs. 8,11,40,000 – Rs. 
5,61,40,000) consequent to the return of such grant. 

Q 8 Yogya Ltd. received a specific grant of Rs. 300 lakhs for acquiring the plant of Rs. 1,500 
lakhs during 2009-10 having useful life of 10 years. The grant received was credited to 
deferred income in the balance sheet. During 2012-13, due to noncompliance of 
conditions laid down for the grant of Rs. 300 lakhs, the company had to refund the 
grant to the Government. Balance in the deferred income on that date was Rs. 210 
lakhs and written down value of plant was Rs. 1,050 lakhs. 

(i)  What should be the treatment of the refund of the grant and the effect on cost of the 
fixed asset and the amount of depreciation to be charged during the year 2012-13 in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss? 

(ii)  What should be the treatment of the refund if grant was deducted from the cost of 
the plant during 2009-10? 

 Assume depreciation is charged on assets as per Straight Line Method.  [RTP] 
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Ans: As per para 21 of AS 12, amount refundable in respect of a grant related to revenue 
should be applied first against any unamortised deferred credit remaining in respect 
of the grant. To the extent the amount refundable exceeds any such deferred credit, 
the amount should be charged to profit and loss statement. 

(i)  In this case the grant refunded is Rs. 300 lakhs and balance in deferred income is Rs. 
210 lakhs, therefore, Rs. 90 lakhs shall be charged to the profit and loss account for 
the year 2012-13. There will be no effect on the cost of the fixed asset and 
depreciation charge will be same as charged in the earlier years. 

(ii)  As per para 21 of AS 12, the amount refundable in respect of grant which was related 
to specific fixed assets should be recorded by increasing the book value of the assets 
by the amount refundable. Where the book value of the asset is increased, 
depreciation on the revised book value should be provided prospectively over the 
residual useful life of the asset. Therefore, in this case the book value of the plant 
shall be increased by Rs. 300 lakhs. The increased cost of Rs. 300 lakhs of the plant 
should be amortised over 7 years (residual life). Depreciation charged during the year 
2012-13 shall be 1200/10 + 300/7 = Rs. 162.86 lakhs. 

Q 9 Grant Medicare Ltd. acquired 5 units of Brain Scan Equipment for US$ 5,00,000 in 
April 2010 incurring Rs. 20,00,000 on sea freight and US$ 12,000 per unit towards 
transit Insurance, bank charges etc. The purchase was partly funded out of the 
company's internal accruals and from Government Grant of Rs. 94 Lakhs. The 
prevailing exchange rate to the US$ was 50. The company estimated the useful life of 
the equipment at 4 years with an estimated salvage value of 13% (approx). The grant 
was considered as Deferred Income up to 2012-13 and in April 2013 the company had 
to return the entire grant received due to non fulfillment of certain conditions. You 
are required to show the deprecation and the grant that is to be recognized in the 
Profit & Loss accounts for the period commencing, 2010-11 onwards and also draw up 
the entry that is passed in April 2013 for the return of the Grant. The Company 
follows the written down value method for depreciating its assets. 

    [Nov, 2014] 

Ans:  Statement showing annual depreciation and amount of Grant to be recognized in P& L 
A/c 

    (Rupees in Lakhs) 
Year  Value of asset Depr.@40% Closing Value Deferred grant to be 

Recognized* 
2010-11  300.00  120.00  180.00  43.20 
2011-12  180.00  72.00  108.00  25.92 
2012-13  108.00  43.20  64.80  15.55 
2013-14  64.80  25.92  38.88  9.33 
Total   261.12  94.00  
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 *[94 X dep. for the year]/Total Depreciation 

 The entries for depreciation & recognition of the grant will be as per the above table 
for the year 2010-11, 2011-12 & 2012-13 

 The entry for the return of the Grant of Rs. 94 lakhs in April 2013 will be as under:  

 Deferred Grant Account  Dr.  9.33 

 Profit & Loss Account(43.20+25.92+15.55)  Dr.  84.67 

  To Bank    94.00 

 (Being the return of the Grant received in April 2010 due to non-fulfillment of 
conditions) 

 Working Note: 

1.  Calculation of Revised Book Value of Machine as on 1st April, 
2010 

 

 Particulars  (Rs. in 
lakhs) 

 Acquisition of 5 units of brain scan units [US $ 5,00,000 x Rs. 50 ]  250 
 Add: Sea Freight on the above units  20 
 Add: Transit insurance, Bank charges etc. paid ($ 12,000 x Rs. 50 

x 5) 
30 

 Total landed cost as on 1st April, 2010  300 
2.  Calculation of WDV rate  
 

WDV rate of depreciation = 1-  	
	 	

 x 100 
 

 
= 1-   x 100 = 40% 

 

 

 

 

 

ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS (AS 13) 
Q1:  Rose Ltd. had made an investment of Rs 500 lakhs in the equity shares of Nose Ltd. on 

10.01.2009. The realisable value of such investment on 31.03.2009 became Rs 200 
lakhs as Nose Ltd. lost a case of patent rights. Rose Ltd. follows financial year as 
accounting year. How will you recognize this reduction in Financial statements for the 
year 2008-09.                                      [Nov 2009] 
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Ans: Recognition of reduction in value of investment would depend upon the nature of 
investment and nature of decline as per Accounting Standard 13 “Accounting for 
Investments”. As per provisions of the standard, if the investments were acquired for 
long term and decline is temporary in nature, reduction in value will not be 
recognized and investments would be carried at cost. If the decline is of permanent 
nature, it will be charged to profit and loss account. If the investments are current 
investments, then the reduction should be recognized and charged to Profit and Loss 
Account as the current investments are carried at cost or fair value, whichever is less. 

Q 2:  In preparing the financial statements of R Ltd. for the year ended 31st March, 2006, 
you come across the following information. State with reasons, how you would deal 
with this in the financial statements: An unquoted long term investment is carried in 
the books at a cost of Rs 2 lakhs. The published accounts of the unlisted company 
received in May, 2006 showed that the company was incurring cash losses with 
declining market share and the long term investment may not fetch more than Rs 
20,000.  

Ans:  As it is stated in the question that financial statements for the year ended 31 st 
March, 2006 are under preparation, the views have been given on the basis that the 
financial statements are yet to be completed and approved by the Board of Directors. 

 Investments classified as long term investments should be carried in the financial 
statements at cost. However, provision for diminution shall be made to recognise a 
decline, other than temporary, in the value of the investments, such reduction being 
determined and made for each investment individually. Para I 7 of AS 13 .Accounting 
for Investments, states that indicators of the value of an investment are obtained by 
reference to its market value, the investee’s assets and results and the expected cash 
flows from the investment. On these bases, the facts of the given case clearly suggest 
that the provision for diminution should be made to reduce the carrying amount of 
long term investment to Rs 20,000 in the financial statements for the year ended 31st 
March, 2006. 

Q 3:  Bharat Ltd. wants to re-classify its investments in accordance with AS 13. Decide on 
the amount of transfer, based on the following information: 

1. A portion of Current Investments purchased for Rs 20 lakhs, to be re-classified as Long 
Term Investments, as the Company has decided to retain them. The market value as 
on the date of Balance Sheet was Rs 25 lakhs.  

2.  Another portion of current investments purchased for Rs 15 lakhs, to be re-classified 
as long term investments. The market value of these investments as on the date of 
balance sheet was Rs 6.5 lakhs. 

3. Certain long term investments no longer considered for holding purposes, to be 
reclassified as current investments. The original cost of these was Rs 18 lakhs but had 
been written down to Rs12 lakhs to recognise permanent decline, as per AS 13.  
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Ans: The transfers should be made at lower of (a) Cost, and (b) Fair value at the date of 
transfer. 

1.  In this case, the transfer should be made at cost (being lower of Rs, 20 lakhs and Rs 25 
lakhs) and hence the long term investments should be carried at Rs 20 lakhs.  

2.  In the second case, the transfer should be made at Market Value (being lower of Rs 15 
lakhs and Rs 6.5 lakhs) and hence the long term investments should be carried at Rs 
6.50 lakhs. The loss of Rs 15 - Rs 6.5 = Rs 8.5 lakhs should be provided for in the profit 
and loss account. 

3.  Here, the transfer should be made at carrying amount (being lower of Rs 18 lakhs and 
Rs12 lakhs) and hence these reclassified current investments should be carried at Rs 
12 lakhs. 

Q 4:  A manufacturing company purchased shares of another company from stock 
exchange on 1st May, 2007 at a cost of Rs 5,00,000. It also purchased Gold of 
Rs2,00,000 and Silver of Rs 1,50,000 on 1st April, 2005. How will you treat these 
investments as per the applicable AS in the books of the company for the year ended 
on 31st March, 2008, if the values of these investments are as follows: 

 Shares Rs 2,00,000 

 Gold Rs 4,00,000 

 Silver Rs 2,50,000  [May 2008, May 2012] 

Ans: As per AS 13 on ‘Accounting for Investments’, any investment of long term period is 
shown at cost. Hence, the investment in Gold and Silver (purchased on 1st April 2005) 
shall continue to be shown at cost i.e., Rs 2,00,000 and Rs 1,50,000 respectively as 
their value have increased. 

 Also as per AS 13, for investment in shares - if the investment is for short-term period 
then the loss of Rs 3,00,000 is to be charged to profit & loss account for the year 
ended 31st March, 2008. If investment is of long term period then it will continue to 
be shown at cost in the Balance Sheet of the company. However, provision for 
diminution shall be made to recognize a decline, other than temporary, in the value of 
the investments, such reduction being determined and made for each investment 
individually. 

Q 5:  X Ltd. on 1-1-2012 had made an investment of Rs.600 lakhs in the equity shares of Y 
Ltd. of which 50% is made in the long term category and the rest as temporary 
investment. The realizable value of all such investment on 31-3-2012 became Rs. 200 
lakhs as Y Ltd. lost a case of copyright. How will you recognize the reduction in 
financial statements for the year ended on 31-3-2012.  [May 2012] 

Ans:  X limited invested Rs. 600 lakhs in the equity shares of Y Ltd. Out of the same, the 
company intends to hold 50% shares for long term period i.e. Rs. 300 lakhs and 
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remaining as temporary (current) investment i.e. Rs. 300 lakhs. Irrespective of the fact 
that investment has been held by X Limited only for 3 months (from 1.1.2012 to 
31.3.2012), AS 13 lays emphasis on intention of the investor to classify the investment 
as current or long term even though the long term investment may be readily 
marketable. 

 In the given situation, the realizable value of all such investments on 31.3.2012 
became Rs. 200 lakhs i.e. Rs. 100 lakhs in respect of current investment and Rs. 100 
lakhs in respect of long term investment. 

 As per AS 13, ‘Accounting for Investment’, the carrying amount for current 
investments is the lower of cost and fair value. In respect of current investments for 
which an active market exists, market value generally provides the best evidence of 
fair value. 

 Accordingly, the carrying value of investment held as temporary investment should be 
shown at realizable value i.e. at Rs. 100 lakhs. The reduction of Rs. 200 lakhs in the 
carrying value of current investment will be included in the profit and loss account. 
Standard further states that long-term investments are usually carried at cost. 
However, when there is a decline, other than temporary, in the value of long term 
investment, the carrying amount is reduced to recognise the decline. 

 Here, Y Limited lost a case of copyright which drastically reduced the realisable value 
of its shares to one third which is quiet a substantial figure. Losing the case of 
copyright may affect the business and the performance of the company in long run. 
Accordingly, it will be appropriate to reduce the carrying amount of long term 
investment by Rs. 200 lakhs and shown the investments at Rs. 100 lakhs, considering 
the downfall in the value of shares as decline other than temporary. The reduction of 
Rs. 200 lakhs in the carrying value of long term investment will be included in the 
profit and loss account. 

 Alternatively for treatment of long term investment If one assumes that the decline in 
the value of long term investment is temporary and Y Limited will overcome this 
downfall in short period by filing a case against this decision of government, with 
strong arguments. In such a case, long term investment will be shown at cost. 

Q 6:  Albert Finance Ltd. has made the following investments.  

(i)  Purchased the following equity shares from stock exchange on 1st June, 2009. Cost  

 Scrip X   1,80,000  

 Scrip Y   50,000  

 Scrip Z   1,70,000  

  4,00,000 
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(ii)  Purchased gold of Rs 3,00,000 on 1st April, 2006.  

(iii)  Invested in mutual funds at a cost of Rs 6,00,000 on 31st March, 2009.  

(iv)  Purchased government securities at a cost of Rs 5,00,000 on 1st April, 2009.  

 How will you treat these investments as per applicable AS in the books of the 
company for the year ended on 31st March, 2010, if the values of these investments 
are as follows:  

 Shares  Rs  

 Scrip X   1,90,000  

 Scrip Y   40,000 

 Scrip Z   70,000 

  3,00,000  

 Gold  5,00,000  

 Mutual funds   4,50,000  

 Government securities   7,00,000 

 Also explain is it possible to off-set depreciation in investment in mutual funds against 
appreciation of the value of investment in government securities?   

Ans:  As per AS 13 ‘Accounting for Investments’, current investments should be carried in 
the financial statements at lower of cost and fair value determined either on an 
individual investment basis or by category of investment, but not on an overall (or 
global) basis and long-term investments are carried at cost except when there is a 
decline, other than temporary, in the value of a long term investment, the carrying 
amount is reduced to recognize the decline.  

(i)  If the investment in shares is intended to be held for not more than one year from the 
date on which such investment is made: Scrip X should be valued at cost i.e. 
Rs1,80,000 (lower of cost and fair value); Scrip Y should be valued at fair value i.e. Rs 
40,000 (lower of cost and fair value) and scrip Z should be valued at fair value i.e. Rs 
70,000 (lower of cost and fair value). The total loss of Rs 1,10,000 on scrips purchased 
on1st June, 2009, is to be charged to profit and loss account for the year ended 31st 
March, 2010.  

 If investment is intended to be held for long term period: Investment will continue to 
be shown at cost in the balance sheet of the company. However, provision for 
diminution shall be made to recognize a decline, other than temporary, in the value of 
investments, such reduction being determined and made for each investment 
individually.  
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(ii)  Investment in gold (purchased in April, 2006) shall continue to be shown at cost of Rs 
3,00,000 in the balance sheet as on 31.3.2010.  

(iii) If mutual funds are intended to be held for short term period it will be valued at Rs 
4,50,000 as on 31st March, 2010 and if it is intended to be held for long term, then it 
should be valued at its cost i.e. Rs 6,00,000.  

(iv)  Value of government securities (purchased on 1st April, 2009) is to be shown at cost 
of Rs 5,00,000 in the balance sheet as on 31.3.2010.  

 Inter category adjustments of appreciation and depreciation in value of investments 
cannot be done. It is not possible to offset depreciation in investment in mutual funds 
against appreciation in value of investment in government securities.  

Q 7:  K Ltd. had 5 subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2013 and the investments insubsidiaries’ 
are considered as long term and valued at cost. Two of thesubsidiaries’ net worth 
eroded as at 31st March, 2013 and the prospects of theirrecovery are very bleak and 
the other three subsidiaries are doing exceptionallywell. The company did not provide 
for the decline in the value of investments intwo subsidiaries because the overall 
investment portfolio in subsidiaries did notsuffer any decline' as the other three 
subsidiaries are doing exceptionally well.Comment. [RTP] 

Ans: As per AS 13 “Accounting for Investments” long-term investments are usually 
ofindividual importance to the investing enterprise. The carrying amount of long-
terminvestments is therefore determined on an individual investment basis. 
Investment classified as long term investments should be carried in the financial 
statements at cost. However, provision for diminution shall be made to recognize a 
decline, other than temporary, in the value of the investments, such reduction being 
determined and made for each investment individually. 

 Keeping in view the above, K Ltd should provide for the decline in the value of 
investments in two subsidiaries despite the fact that the overall investment portfolio 
in subsidiaries did not suffer any decline. 

 

BORROWING COST (AS 16) 
Q 1 Big Ltd. has borrowed Rs.30 Lakhs from State Bank of India during 2003-04. The 

borrowings are used to invest in shares of Small Ltd., a Subsidiary Company of Big 
Ltd., which implementing a new project estimated to cost Rs.50 Lakhs. As on 31st 
March 2004, since the said project was not complete, the directors of Big Ltd. 
resolved to capitalize the interest accruing on borrowings amounting to Rs.4 lakhs and 
add it to the cost of investments.  
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Ans: AS-16 Provisions : AS - 16 on ‘Borrowing Costs’ does not consider investment in shares 
as qualifying assets that can enable the Company to add the amount of borrowing 
cost to investment. The Company’s proposal to capitalise interest as part of cost, if 
investments are in violation of 13 and AS - 16 and is therefore improper. The interest 
of Rs.4 Lakhs should be charged as expense to the P&L Statement. 

Q 2 In May, 2004 Speed Ltd. took a bank loan to be used specifically for the construction 
of a new factory building. The construction was completed in January, 2005 and the 
building was put to its use immediately thereafter. Interest on the actual amount 
used for construction of the building till its completion was Rs.18 lakh, whereas the 
total interest payable to the bank on the loan for the period till 31st March, 2005 
amounted to 25 lakh. Can Rs.25 lakh be treated as part of the cost of factory building 
and thus be capitalized on the plea that the loan was specifically taken for the 
construction of factory building?[Nov 2005] 

Ans: AS 16 clearly states that capitalization of borrowing costs should cease when 
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended 
use are completed. Therefore, interest on the amount that has been used for the 
construction of the building upto the date of completion (January, 2005) i.e. Rs 18 
lakhs alone can be capitalized. It cannot be extended to Rs 25 lakhs. 

Q 3 On 1st April, 2009, Amazing Construction Ltd. obtained a loan of Rs 32 crores to be 
utilized as under: 

 (i)  Construction of sealink across two cities: (work was held up totally for a month 
during the year due to high water levels):  
  Rs 25 crores 

 (ii)  Purchase of equipments and machineries : Rs 3 crores 

 (iii)  Working capital:    Rs 2 crores 

 (iv)  Purchase of vehicles:    Rs 50,00,000 

 (v) Advance for tools/cranes etc.:    Rs 50,00,000 

 (vi)  Purchase of technical know-how:   
 Rs 1 crores 

 (vii)  Total interest charged by the bank for the year ending 31.03.2010: Rs. 80 lacs 

Show the treatment of interest by Amazing Construction Ltd. [Nov 2010] 

Ans: According to para 3 of AS 16 ‘Borrowing costs’, qualifying asset is an asset that 
necessarily takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use. As per 
para 6 of the standard, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset should be capitalised as 
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs should be recognised as an 
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expense in the period in which they are incurred. The treatment of interest by 
Amazing Construction Ltd. can be shown as: 

  Qualifyin
g  
Asset  

Interest to  
be capitalized  

Interest to be  
charged to P/L 

A/c 
1 Construction of sea-link  Yes  62,50,000 

(80,00,000*(25/3
2 

 

2 Purchase of equipments and 
machineries  

No  7,50,000 
(80,00,000*(3/32) 

3 Working capital  No   5,00,000  
(80,00,000*(2/32) 

4 Purchase of vehicles  No   1,25,000  
(80,00,000*(.5/32

) 
5 Advance for tools, cranes 

etc.  
No   1,25,000  

(80,00,000*(.5/32
) 

6 Purchase of technical know-
how  

No   2,50,000  
(80,00,000*(1/32) 

 Total   62,50,000  17,50,000 

Q 4:  XYZ Ltd., has undertaken a project for expansion of capacity as per the following 
details: 

  Plan  Actual 

  Rs.  Rs. 

 April, 2006  2,00,000 2,00,000 

 May, 2006  2,00,000 3,00,000 

 June, 2006  10,00,000 – 

 July, 2006  1,00,000 – 

 August, 2006  2,00,000 1,00,000 

 September, 2006  5,00,000 7,00,000 

 The company pays to its bankers at the rate of 12% p.a., interest being debited on a 
monthly basis. During the half year company had Rs. 10 lakhs overdraft upto 31st July, 
surplus cash in August and again overdraft of over Rs. 10 lakhs from 01-09-2002. The 
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company had a strike during June and hence could not continue the work during June. 
Work was again commenced on 1st July and all the works were completed on 30th 
September. Assume that expenditure were incurred on 1st Day of each month. 
Calculate: 

1.  Interest to be capitalized. 

2.  Give reasons wherever necessary. 

Assume: 

a.  Overdraft will be less, if there is no capital expenditure. 

b. The Board of Directors based on facts and circumstances of the case has decided that 
any capital expenditure taking more than 3 months as substantial period of time.[May 
2003] 

Ans: 

Month Actual Expense on 
Qualifying Assets 

Interest to be 
capitalized 

Remark 

April 2002 200,000x3/12x12/100 6,000 April, May, July 
May 2002 300,000x2/12x12/100 6,000 May, July 
June 2002 - - - 
July 2002 - - - 
August 2002 100,000 Nil  - 
Sept. 2002 700,000x1/12x12/100 7,000 September 
 13,00,000 19,000  

Q 5:  Sun Co-operative Society Ltd. has borrowed a sum of US$12.50 million at the 
commencement of the financial year 2011-12 for its solar energy project at LIBOR 
(London Interbank Offered Rate) of 1% + 4% . The interest is payable at the end of the 
respective financial year. The loan was availed at the then rate of Rs. 45 to the US 
dollar while the rate as on 31st March, 2012 is Rs. 48 to the US dollar. Had Sun Co-
operative Society Ltd. borrowed the Rupee equivalent in India, the interest would 
have been 11%. You are required to compute ‘Borrowing Cost’. Also show the amount 
of exchange difference as per prevailing Accounting Standards.  

 [May 2012] 

Ans: Computation of Borrowing Cost as per para 4(e) of AS 16” Borrowing Costs and 
Amount of Exchange Difference as per AS 11 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates”: 

(a)  Interest for the period 2011-12 

 = US$ 12.5 million x 5% × Rs. 48 per US$ = Rs. 30 million 

(b)  Increase in the liability towards the principal amount 
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 = US $ 12.5 million × Rs. (48 - 45) = Rs. 37.5 million 

(c)  Interest that would have resulted if the loan was taken in Indian currency 

 = US$ 12.5 million × Rs. 45 x 11% = Rs. 61.875 million 

(d)  Difference between interest on local currency borrowing and foreign currency 
borrowing  

 = Rs. 61.875 million - Rs. 30 million = Rs. 31.875 million. 

 Therefore, out of Rs. 37.5 million increases in the liability towards principal amount, 
only Rs. 31.875 million will be considered as the borrowing cost. Thus, total borrowing 
cost would be Rs. 61.875 million being the aggregate of interest of Rs. 30 million on 
foreign currency borrowings plus the exchange difference to the extent of difference 
between interest on local currency borrowing and interest on foreign currency 
borrowing of Rs. 31.875 million. 

 Hence, Rs. 61.875 million would be considered as the borrowing cost to be accounted 
for as per AS 16 and the remaining Rs. 5.625 million (37.5 - 31.875) would be 
considered as the exchange difference to be accounted for as per AS 11. 

Q 6: X Ltd. began construction of a new building on 1stJanuary, 2007. It obtained Rs.1 lakh 
special loan to finance the construction of the building on 1stJanuary, 2007 at an 
interest rate of 10%. The company’s other outstanding two non–specific loans were:  

 Amount Rs. 

 Rs.5,00,000 11% 

 Rs.9,00,000 13% 

 The expenditure that were made on the building project were as follows:  

  Rs. 

 January 2007  2,00,000 

 April 2007  2,50,000 

 July 2007  4,50,000 

 December 2007 1,20,000 

 Building was completed by 31st December, 2007. Following the principles prescribed 
in AS–16 ‘Borrowing Cost,’ calculate the amount of interest to be capitalized and pass 
one Journal Entry for capitalizing the cost and borrowing cost in respect of the 
building. [May 2008] 

Ans: 

(i) Computation of average accumulated expenses   
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 Rs.2,00,000 x 12 / 12 =  2,00,000 
 Rs. 2,50,000 x 9 / 12 =  1,87,500 
 Rs. 4,50,000 x 6 / 12 =  2,25,000 
 Rs. 1,20,000 x 1 / 12 =  10,000 
  6,22,500 
(ii)  Calculation of average interest rate other than for specific borrowings 
 Amount of loan (in Rs.)  Rate of 

interest  
Amount of 
interest (in 

Rs.) 
 5,00,000  11%  55,000 
 9,00,000  13%  1,17,000 
 14,00,000   1,72,000 
 Weighted average rate of interest = (1,72,000/14,00,000)*100 = 12.285% 

(approx) 
(iii)  Interest on average accumulated expenses  
 Specific borrowings (Rs. 1,00,000 X 10%) =  10,000 
 Non-specific borrowings (Rs. 5,22,500* X 12.285%) =  64,189 
 Amount of interest to be capitalized =  74,189 
 *(Rs. 6,22,500 – Rs. 1,00,000)  
(iv)  Total expenses to be capitalized for building  
 Cost of building Rs.(2,00,000 + 2,50,000 + 4,50,000 + 1,20,000)  10,20,000 
 Add: Amount of interest to be capitalised  74,189 
  10,94,189 
(v)  Journal Entry    
 Date  Particulars   Dr. (Rs.)  Cr. (Rs.) 
 31.12.2007  Building account  

-To Bank account  
(Being amount of cost of 
building and borrowing cost 
thereon capitalized) 

Dr.  10,94,189  

Q 8:  X Limited began construction of a new plant on 1st April 2011 and obtained a special 
loan of 8 lakhs to finance the construction of the plant. The rate of interest on loan 
was 10 per cent per annum. 

 The expenditure that was made on the project of plant construction was as follows:
 Rs. 

 1-4-2011  10,00,000 

 1-8-2011  24,00,000 

 1-1-2012  4,00,000 
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 The Company’s other outstanding non-specific loan was Rs. 46,00,000 at an interest 
of 12 percent per annum. 

 The construction of the plant was completed on 31-3-2012. You are required to 
calculate the amount of interest to be capitalized as per the provision of AS 16 of the 
borrowing cost (including cost).  [May 2012] 

Ans:   

(i)  Computation of average accumulated expenses Rs. 
 Rs. 10,00,000 x 12 / 12 =  10,00,000 
 Rs. 24,00,000 x 8 / 12 =  16,00,000 
 Rs. 4,00,000 x 3 / 12 =  1,00,000 
  27,00,000 
(ii)  Non-specific Borrowings  
 Non-specific Borrowings = Average accumulated capital expenses – Specific 

borrowings 
 = Rs. 27,00,000 – Rs. 8,00,000 = Rs. 19,00,000  
(ii)  Interest on average accumulated expenses Rs. 
 Specific borrowings (Rs. 8,00,000 X 10%) =  80,000 
 Non-specific borrowings (Rs. 19,00,000 × 12%) =  2,28,000 
 Amount of interest to be capitalized =  3,08,000 
(iii)  Total expenses to be capitalized for Plant Rs. 
 Cost of plant Rs. (10,00,000 + 24,00,000 + 4,00,000)  38,00,000 
 Add: Amount of interest to be capitalised  3,08,000 
 Total cost of plant  41,08,000 

Q 9:  Faulad Iron and Steel Ltd. is establishing an integrated steel plant consisting of four 
phases. It is expected that the full plant will be established over several years but 
Phase I and Phase II of the Plant will be started as soon as they are completed. 

 Following is the detail of the work done on different phases of the plant during the 
current year: 

  Phase I  Phase II  Phase III  Phase IV 

  Rs.  Rs.  Rs.  Rs. 

 Cash expenditure  20,00,000 35,00,000  25,00,000  40,00,000 

 Plants purchased  28,00,000 40,00,000  30,00,000  48,00,000 

 Total expenditure  48,00,000 75,00,000  55,00,000  88,00,000 

 Total expenditure of all phases     2,66,00,000 

 Loan taken @ 16%     2,40,00,000 
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 During current year, Phases I and II have become operational. Find out the total 
amount to be capitalized and to be expensed during the year.   [May 2016] 

Ans:  In this case, the total capital expenditure is Rs. 2,66,00,000 while the loan taken is Rs. 
2,40,00,000 only. It appears that the balance amount of Rs. 26,00,000 would have 
been spent by the company from its own resources on which no interest would have 
been payable. Interest payable on loan of Rs. 2,40,00,000 @ 16% is Rs. 38,40,000. This 
interest cost is consisting of two components i.e., interest to be expensed and interest 
to be capitalized. 

 As Phases I and II have become operational during the year, the interest in proportion 
to their cost should be treated as expense of the year and interest in respect of 
Phases III and IV should be capitalized. 

 Rs. 
Total cost of Phases I and II (Rs. 48,00,000 + Rs. 75, 00,000)  1,23,00,000 
Total Cost of Phases III and IV (Rs. 55,00,000 + Rs. 88,00,000)  1,43,00,000 
Total cost  2,66,00,000 
Total loan  2,40,00,000 
Proportionate loan used for Phases I and II  
[2,40,00,000/2,66,00,000]x1,23,00,000 1,10,97,744 
Proportionate loan used for Phases III and IV  
[2,40,00,000/2,66,00,000]x1,43,00,000 1,29,02,256 
Interest on loan used for Phases I and II @ 16%  17,75,639 
Interest on loan used for Phases III and IV @ l6%  20,64,361 
Total Interest  38,40,000 

 Interest amounting Rs. 20,64,361 should be capitalized and added to the cost of 
Phases III and IV, and Rs. 17,75,639 should be treated as expense of the year. 

 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (AS 15) 
Q 1:  An enterprise has 100 employees, who are each entitled to five working days of leave 

for each year. Unused leave may be carried forward for one calendar year. The leave 
is taken first out of the current year’s entitlement and then out of any balance 
brought forward from the previous year (a LIFO basis). At 31 December 20X4, the 
average unused entitlement is two days per employee. The enterprise expects, based 
on past experience which is expected to continue, that 92 employees will take no 
more than five days of leave in 2005 and that the remaining eight employees will take 
an average of six and a half days each. How much the enterprise should recognises a 
liability as at 31 December 20X4 for Short term compensated absences. 
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Ans:  The enterprise expects that it will pay an additional 12 days of pay as a result of the 
unused entitlement that has accumulated at 31 December 20X4 (one and a half days 
each, for eight employees). Therefore, the enterprise recognises a liability, as at 31 
December 20X4, equal to 12 days of pay. 

Q 2 An enterprise operates a pension plan that provides a pension of 2% offinal salary for 
each year of service. The benefits become vested after five years of service. On 1 
January 20X5 the enterprise improves the pension to 2.5% of final salary for each year 
of service starting from 1 January 20X1. At the date of the improvement, the present 
value of the additional benefits for service from 1 January 20X1 to 1 January 20X5 is 
as follows: 

 Employees with more than five years’ service at 1/1/X5  Rs.150 

 Employees with less than five years’ service at 1/1/X5 

 (average period until vesting: three years)  Rs. 120 

   Rs. 270 

Ans: The enterprise recognises Rs. 150 immediately because those benefitsare already 
vested. The enterprise recognises Rs. 120 on a straight-line basis over three years 
from 1 January 20X5. 

Q 3:  In the context of relevant Accounting Standards, give your comments on any four of 
the following matters for the financial year ending on 31.3.2002. 

a) Leave encashment benefit is accounted for as per “Pay-as-you-go” method. 

b) Increase in pension liability on account of wage revision in 1999 – 2000 is being 
provided for in 5 instalments commencing from that year. The remaining liability of 
Rs. 300 lakhs as re-determined in actuarial valuation will be provided for in the next 2 
years.    [Nov 2002] 

Ans:  

a) AS 15 was revised in March, 2005. AS 15 (revised 2005) covers the leave encashment 
benefits under the category of short-term employee benefits. Accumulating short-
term compensated absences (i.e. earned leaves) are those that are carried forward 
and can be used for future periods if the current period’s entitlement is not used in 
full [para 13 of AS 15(Revised)]. Earned leaves which are encashable on retirement or 
resignation are vesting (which entitle employees to receive cash payment for unused 
entitlements on leaving the enterprise) accumulating compensated absences. ‘An 
enterprise should measure the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences 
as the additional amount that the enterprise expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the balance sheet date’. [Para 14 of AS 15 
(Revised)]. 
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b) Revision of wages and consequential increase in pension liability of employer is not a 
prior period item as it has not arisen out of errors or omissions of previous year. It is 
also not an extraordinary item as defined in AS 5 on Net profit or Loss for the Period, 
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies. It is an expense arising out of 
the ordinary activity of the enterprise. Therefore, it should have been charged during 
the year 1999-2000, and disclosed separately. 

 The treatment of deferring to two years, Rs. 30 crores remaining pension liability as 
redetermined by actuarial valuation is also not in consonance with AS 15. As per para 
92 of AS 15 (Revised 2005) ‘Employee Benefits’, actuarial gains and losses should be 
recognized immediately in the statement of profit and loss as income or expense.  

 Additionally, a change in the actuarial method used should be treated as a change in 
an accounting policy and disclosed in accordance with AS 5. 

Q 4:  A defined benefit plan has the following characteristics: (Amount in Rs.) 

 Present value of the obligation    1,100 

 Fair value of plan assets   (1,190) 

    (90) 

 Unrecognised past service cost        (70) 

 Negative amount determined under paragraph 55  (160) 

 Present value of available future refunds and reductions in future contributions  90 

 Comment on the measurement of plan assets 

Ans: The amount determined under paragraph 55 may be negative (an asset). An 
enterprise should measure the resulting asset at the lower of: 

(a)  the amount determined under paragraph 55; and 

(b)  the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds 
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. The present 
value of these economic benefits should be determined using the discount rate 
specified in paragraph 78.  

 The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations (both funded and 
unfunded) should be determined by reference to market yields at the balance sheet 
date on government bonds. 

 Since in the given case Rs. 90 is less than Rs. 160. Therefore, the enterprise recognises 
an asset of Rs. 90 and discloses that the limit reduced the carrying amount of the 
asset by Rs. 70  
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Q 5:  As on 1st April, 2008 the fair value of plan assets was Rs. 1,00,000 in respect of a 
pension plan of Zeleous Ltd. On 30th September, 2008 the plan paid out benefits of 
Rs. 19,000 and received inward contributions of Rs.49,000. On 31st March, 2009 the 
fair value of plan assets was Rs. 1,50,000 and present value of the defined benefit 
obligation was Rs.1,47,920. Actuarial losses on the obligations for the year 2008-09 
were Rs.600. On 1st April, 2008 the company made the following estimates, based on 
its market studies, understanding and prevailing prices. 

    % 

 Interest & dividend income, after tax payable by the fund   9.25 

 Realised and unrealised gains on plan assets (after tax)   2.00 

 Fund administrative costs    (1.00) 

 Expected Rate of Return   10.25 

 You are required to find the expected and actual returns on plan assets  

   [Nov 2009, May 2011, May 2013] 

Ans: Computation of Expected and Actual Returns on Plan Assets   

  Rs. 
Return on Rs. 1,00,000 held for 12 months at 10.25%   10,250 
Return on Rs. 30,000 (49,000-19,000) held for six months 
at 5% 

  

(equivalent to 10.25% annually, compounded every six 
months)  

 1,500 

Expected return on plan assets for 2008-09   11,750 
Fair value of plan assets as on 31 March, 2009   1,50,000 
Less: Fair value of plan assets as on 1 April,2008  1,00,000  
Contributions received  49,000  1,49,000 
  1,000 
Add: Benefits paid   19,000 
Actual return on plan assets   20,000 

Q 6:  An employee Roshan has joined a company XYZ Ltd. in the year 2013. The annual 
emoluments of Roshan as decided is Rs. 14,90,210. The company also has a policy of 
giving a lump sum payment of 25% of the last drawn salary of the employee for each 
completed year of service if the employee retires after completing minimum 5 years 
of service. The salary of the Roshan is expected to grow @ 10% per annum. 

 The company has inducted Roshan in the beginning of the year and it is expected that 
he will complete the minimum five year term before retiring. 
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 What is the amount the company should charge in its Profit and Loss account every 
year as cost for the Defined Benefit obligation? Also calculate the current service cost 
and the interest cost to be charged per year assuming a discount rate of 8%. 

 (P.V factor for 8% - 0.735, 0.794, 0.857, 0.926, 1)  [May 2013, Nov 2016] 

Ans: Calculation of Defined Benefit Obligation 

 Expected last drawn salary = Rs. 14,90,210 x 110% x 110% x 110% x 110% x 110% = Rs. 
24,00,000 

 Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) = Rs. 24,00,000 x 25% x 5 = Rs. 30,00,000 

 Amount of Rs. 6,00,000 will be charged to Profit and Loss Account of the company 
every year as cost for Defined Benefit Obligation. 

 Calculation of Current Service Cost 

Year  Equal apportioned amount 
of DBO [i.e. 

Rs.30,00,000/5years] 

Discounting @ 8% 
PV factor 

Current service 
cost 

(Present Value) 
a  b  c  d = b x c 
1  6,00,000  0.735 (4 Years)  4,41,000 
2  6,00,000  0.794 (3 Years)  4,76,400 
3  6,00,000  0.857 (2 Years)  5,14,200 
4  6,00,000  0.926 (1 Year)  5,55,600 
5  6,00,000  (0 Year)  6,00,000 

 Calculation of Interest Cost to be charged per year 

Year  Opening balance  Interest cost  Current service 
cost 

Closing balance 

a  b  c = b x 8%  d  e = b + c + d 
1  0  0  4,41,000  4,41,000 
2  4,41,000  35,280  4,76,400  9,52,680 
3  9,52,680  76,214  5,14,200  15,43,094 
4  15,43,094  1,23,447  5,55,600  22,22,141 
5  22,22,141  1,77,859*  6,00,000  30,00,000 

 *Due to approximations used in calculation, this figure is adjusted accordingly. 

Q 7: P Ltd. has three business segments which are FMCG, Batteries and Sports Equipment. 
The Battery segment has been consistently underperforming and P Ltd. after several 
discussions with Labour unions have finally decided on closure of this segment. Under 
the agreement with the Labour Union the employees of the Battery Segment will earn 
no further benefit as the arrangement is a curtailment without settlement wherein 
the employees of the discontinued segment will continue to receive benefits for 
services rendered when the segment was functioning. As a result of the curtailment, 
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the company's obligations that were arrived on the basis of actuarial valuations 
before the curtailment have come down. The following information is also furnished: 

(i)  The value of gross obligations before the curtailment calculated on actuarial basis was 
Rs. 4,000 lakhs. 

(ii)  The value of Unamortized past service costs is Rs. 100 lakhs. 

(iii)  The Curtailment will bring down gross obligations by Rs. 500 lakbs and P Ltd. 
anticipates a proportional decline in the value of unamortized past service costs also. 

(iv)  The Fair Value of plan assets on date is estimated at Rs. 3,250 lakhs. 

 You are required to calculate the gain from curtailment and also show the liability to 
be recognized in the Balance Sheet of P Ltd. after the curtailment. [Nov 2013] 

Ans: 

Gain from curtailment (Rs.) in lakhs 
Reduction in gross obligation (12.5% of 4,000)  500.00 
Less: Proportion of unamortised past service cost(12.5% of Rs. 
100)  

(12.50) 

Gain from curtailment  487.50 

 The liability to be recognised after curtailment in the balance sheet of P Ltd. is 
estimated as under: 

 Rs. 
Reduced gross obligation (Rs. 4,000 less Rs. 500)  3,500.00 
Less: Fair value of plan assets  (3,250.00) 
 250.00 
Less: Unamortised past service cost (87.5% of Rs. 100)  (87.50) 
Liability to be recognised in the balance sheet  162.50 

 

SEGMENT REPORTING (AS 17) 
Q 1:  M/s XYZ Ltd. has three segments namely X, Y, Z. The total assets of the Company are 

Rs. 10.00 crs. Segment X has Rs. 2.00 crs., segment Y has Rs. 3.00 crs. and segment Z 
has Rs. 5.00 crs. Deferred tax assets included in the assets of each segments are X – 
Rs. 0.50 crs., Y–Rs. 0.40 crs. and Z–Rs. 0.30 crs. The accountant contends that all the 
three segments are reportable segments. Comment. [Nov. 2008] 

Ansr: According to AS 17 “Segment Reporting”, segment assets do not include income tax 
assets. Therefore, the revised total assets are 8.8 crores [10 crores – (0.5+0.4+0.3)]. 
Segment X holds total assets of 1.5 crores (2 crores – 0.5 crores); Segment Y holds 2.6 
crores (3 crores – 0.4 crores); and Segment Z holds 4.7 crores (5 crores – 0.3 crores). 
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Thus all the three segments hold more than 10% of the total assets, all segments are 
reportable segments. 

Q 2:  The Chief Accountant of Sports Ltd. gives the following data regarding its six 
segments: 

         Rs. In lakhs 

  Particulars  M N O P Q R
 Total 

  Segment Assets 40 80 30 20 20 10 200 

  Segment Results 50 -190 10 10 -10 30 -100 

  Segment Revenue 300 620 80 60 80 60 1,200 

  The chief accountant is of the opinion that segment “M” and “N” alone should be 
reported. Is he justified in his view? Discuss.  [May 2006; Nov 2010] 

Ans:  As per para 27 of AS 17 ‘Segment Reporting’, a business segment or geographical 
segment should be identified as a reportable segment if: 

(i)  Its revenue from sales to external customers and from other transactions with other 
segments is 10% or more of the total revenue- external and internal of all segments; 
or 

(ii)  Its segment result whether profit or loss is 10% or more of: 

(1)  The combined result of all segments in profit; or 

(2)  The combined result of all segments in loss, 

 whichever is greater in absolute amount; or 

(iii)  Its segment assets are 10% or more of the total assets of all segments. 

 If the total external revenue attributable to reportable segments constitutes less than 
75% of total enterprise revenue, additional segments should be identified as 
reportable segments even if they do not meet the 10% thresholds until at least 75% of 
total enterprise revenue is included in reportable segments. 

(a)  On the basis of turnover criteria segments M and N are reportable segments. 

(b)  On the basis of the result criteria, segments M, N and R are reportable 
segments 

 (since their results in absolute amount is 10% or more of Rs.200 lakhs). 

(c)  On the basis of asset criteria, all segments except R are reportable segments. 
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 Since all the segments are covered in at least one of the above criteria all segments 
have to be reported upon in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 17. Hence, the 
opinion of chief accountant is wrong. 

Q 3:  M Ltd. Group has three division A, B and C. Details of their turnover, results and net 
assets are given below:   

 Rs. (‘000) 
Division A   
Sales to B 3,050 
Other Sales (Home) 60 
Export Sales 4,090 
 7,200 
Division B  
Sales to C 30 
Export Sales to Europe 200 
 230 
Division C  
Export sales to America 180 

 Head Divisions 
 Office A B C 
 Rs. (‘000) (‘000) (‘000) ‘(000) 

Operating Profit or Loss 
before tax 

 160 20 (8) 

Reallocated cost from 
Head Office 

 48 24 24 

Interest costs  4 5 1 
Fixed assets 50 200 40 120 
Net current assets 48 120 40 90 
Long-term liabilities 38 20 10 120 

 Prepare a Segmental Report for publication in M Ltd. Group. [Nov. 2000] 

Ans: Segment Report of M Ltd. 

    (Rs. ‘000) 
 Divisions Eliminatio

ns 
Consolidate

d 
Particulars A B C (Inter-

Segment) 
 

Revenue      
External Sales      
Domestic 60 — — — 60 
Export 4,090 200 180 — 4,470 
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Inter-Segment Sales 3,050 30 — 3,080 — 
Total Revenue 7,200 230 180 3,080 4,530 
Result      
Segment Result 160 20 8 — 172 
Reallocated cost      
from Head Office — — — — 96 
Operative Profit — — — — 76 
Interest costs — — — — (10) 
Profit before tax — — — — 66 
Other      
Information      
Segment Assets :      
(a) Fixed Assets 200 40 120 — 360 
(b) Net current assets 120 40 90 — 250 
Unallocated corporate       
Assets     98 
Segment Liabilities      
(long term) 20 10 120 — 150 
Unallocated corporate      
liabilities (long term) — — — — 38 
Sales Revenue by Geographical Market  (Rs. ‘000) 
 Domestic 

Sales 
Export 

Sales  
Export 

to 
Export to Consolidate

d 
 Division 

A 
Division 

A 
Europe America  

External Sales 60 4,090 200 180 4,530 

Q 4:  Enterprise A has the following information related to sales in respect of its business 
segments: 

        (Amounts in Rs. lacs) 

Particulars A B C D E F G H I Tota
l 

External sales 5 4 4 1 4 4 5 3 3 33 
Internal sales 4 4 5 7 5 4 3 5 5 42 
Segment 
revenue 

9 8 9 8 9 8 8 8 8 75 

Income from 
interest and 
dividend 

         8 

Total revenue          83 
Percentage of 12. 10.7 12.0 10.7 12. 10.7 10.7 10.7 10.7  
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total segment 
revenue (i.e., 75) 

0 

Percentage of 
total 
revenue(i.e., 83) 

10.
8 

9.6 10. 9.6 10.8 9.6 9.6 9.6 9.6  

 Interest and dividend income is earned through the deployment of surplus cash by 
the enterprise and does not meet the definition of a business segment as per 
paragraph 5. The enterprise has identified segments A, C and E as reportable 
segments considering the total revenue, i.e., Rs. 83 lacs. Has the enterprise correctly 
identified the aforesaid segments? 

Ans:  Paragraph 27 of AS 17 states that “A business segment or geographical segment 
should be identified as a reportable segment if: (a) its revenue from sales to external 
customers and from transactions with other segments is 10 per cent or more of the 
total revenue, external and internal, of all segments”. 

 From the above, it is noted that total revenue, external and internal, from all 
segments is to be considered. In the present case, revenue of all segments is Rs. 75 
lacs and, therefore, the same should be considered. 

 Accordingly, all segments would be considered as reportable segments based on 
paragraph 27(a). 

Q 5:  Following details are given for Sunder Ltd. for the year ended 31st March, 2011: 

 (Rs. in lakhs)  (Rs. in lakhs) 
Sales (including inter-segment sales):   
Food Products  10,000  
Plastic and Packaging  1,240  
Health and Scientific  690  
Others  364  12,294 
Expenses:   
Food products  7,170  
Plastic and Packaging  800  
Health and Scientific  444  
Others  400  8,814 
Other items:   
General corporate expenses   1,096 
Income from investments   252 
Interest expenses   126 
Identifiable assets:   
Food products  15,096  
Plastic and Packaging  4,000  
Health and Scientific  1,400  
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Others  1,364  21,860 
General corporate assets   1,664 

 Other information:   

(a)  Inter-segment sales are as below: (Rs. ‘000) 
 Food Products  120 
 Plastic and Packaging  168 
 Health and Scientific  36 
 Others  10 
(b)  Operating profit includes Rs.(‘000) 66 on inter-segment sales.  

 You are required to identify reportable segments.   [RTP] 

Ans: Calculation of Segment Result 

 Sales Expenses Segment result 
 (Rs. in lakhs)  (Rs. in lakhs)  (Rs. in lakhs) 
Food products  10,000  7,170  2,830 
Plastic & packaging  1,240  800  440 
Health & scientific  690  444  246 
Other  364  400  (36) 

 Sunder Ltd. operates through four segments, namely, ‘Food Products’, ‘Plastic and 
Packaging’, ‘Health and Scientific’ and ‘Others’. The relevant information about these 
segments is given in the following table:   (Rs. in lakhs) 

  Food Plastic 
and 

Health Others Total 

  Products Packaging Scientific   
1 Segment Assets  15,096  4,000  1,400  1,364  21,860 
2 Segment assets as 

apercentage of totalassets 
of all segments 

     
 69.06%  18.3%  6.4%  6.24%  

3 Segment Results  2,830  440  246  (36)  3,480 
4 Combined Result of all 

Segments in profits 
     

 2,830  440  246   3,516 
5 Combined Result ofall 

Segments in loss 
     

   (36)   
6 Segment Result as 

apercentage of thegreater 
of the totalsarrived at 4 
and 5above in 
absoluteamount (i.e., 
3516) 

     
      
      
 80.49%  12.51%  7%  1.02%  

7 Segment Revenue  10,000  1,240  690  364  12,294 
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8 Total Revenue ofeach 
segment as apercentage 
of totalrevenue of 
allsegments 

     
      
 81.34%  10.09%  5.61%  2.96%  

(a)  On the basis of ‘Revenue’ criteria segments ‘Food Products’ and ‘Plastic and 
Packaging’ are reportable segments. 

(b)  On the basis of ‘Result’ criteria, segments ‘Food Products’ and ‘Plastic and 
Packaging’ are reportable segments (since their results in absolute amount is 
10% or more of Rs. 3516 lakhs). 

(c)  On the basis of ‘Asset’ criteria, ‘Food Products’ and ‘Plastic and Packaging’ are 
reportable segments 

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (AS 18) 
Q 1:  X Limited sold to Y Limited goods having a sales value of Rs. 25 lakhs during the 

financial year ended 31-03-2001. Mr. A, the Managing Director and Chief Executive of 
X Limited owns nearly 100 per cent of the capital of Y Limited. The sales were made to 
Y Limited at the normal selling price of X Limited. The Chief Accountant of X Limited 
does not consider that these sales should be treated any differently from any other 
sale made by the company despite being made to a controlled company because the 
sales were made at normal and, that too, at arms’ length prices. Discuss the above 
issue from the view point of AS-18.   [Nov 2001] 

Ans:  Mr A exerts the control over entity Y ltd while being a member of the key 
management personnel of entity X ltd., give rise to a related party relationship 
between entities X Ltd and Y ltd. (see paragraph 3(e)). 

 The sale of goods worth Rs. 25 lakhs falls under the purview of AS 18 and hence the 
following information should be disclosed by X Limited as per para 23 of AS 18. 

(i) the name of the transacting related party; 

(ii) a description of the relationship between the parties; 

(iii) a description of the nature of transactions; 

(iv) volume of the transaction either as an amount or as an appropriate proportion; 

(v) any other elements of the related party transaction necessary for an 
understanding of the financial statements; 

(vi) the amounts or appropriate proportions of outstanding items pertaining to 
related parties at the balance sheet date and provision for doubtful debts due 
from such parties at that date; and  
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(vii) amounts written off or written back in the period in respect of debts due from 
or to related parties. 

Q 2:  A Firm of a father and a son is receiving Rs.2 lakhs towards job work done for XYZ Ltd. 
during the year ended on 31.03.04. The total Job Work Charges paid by XYZ Ltd. 
during the year are over Rs.50 lakhs. The father is a Managing Director of XYZ Ltd. 
having substantial holding. The Managing Director told the Auditor that since he is not 
involved in the activities of the Firm and since the amount paid to it is insignificant, 
there is no need to disclose the transaction. He further contended that such a 
payment made in the last year was not disclosed. Is Managing Director right in his 
approach?   [Nov 2004, Nov 2004] 

Ans: On a reading of the above, it can be concluded that the Firm is a Related Party. 
Disclosures are applicable in this case. The arguments put forth by the Managing 
Director involvement of MD in the Firm’s Activities, non-disclosure in last financial 
year etc. are not relevant. However, all AS are basically applicable to material items. 
Hence the materiality of this transaction should also be considered. 

Q 3:  A Limited owns 60 per cent of the voting power of B Limited, which in turn owns 40 
per cent of the voting interest in C Limited. Further, A Limited also directly owns 15 
per cent of the voting interest in C Limited. As a result of the holding structure, A 
Limited has an economic interest in C Limited of 39 per cent (15 per cent plus 60 
percent of 40 percent). Would A Limited be deemed to have control over C Limited, or 
would it only be considered as exercising significant influence? 

Ans: A Limited would be considered to have control over C Limited. The definition of 
control, contained in paragraph 10 of the statement, includes ownership, directly or 
indirectly, of more than one-half of the voting power of another enterprise. As A 
Limited is a majority shareholder in B Limited it has control over it. Further, as A 
Limited and B Limited, together are majority shareholders in C Limited, A Limited has 
indirect control over it. Accordingly, A Limited has the ability to control C Limited, 
indirectly, via the share ownership in B Limited, apart from its individual shareholding 
in C Limited. 

Q 4:  A Limited owns 60 per cent of the voting power of B Limited, which in turn owns 60 
per cent voting interest in C Limited. X Limited owns the remaining voting share in C 
Limited and is considered to exercise significant influence over C Limited. During the 
reporting period, X Limited enters into transactions in the ordinary course of business 
with A Limited. Would X Limited be a related party of A Limited? 

Ans: X Limited is not related to A Limited as it: 

 neither controls nor is controlled by A Limited. 

 does not exercise significant influence over A Limited or is not so influenced by 
it. 
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 In the consolidated financial statements of the A Limited group, only transactions of C 
Limited with X Limited would need be disclosed. Intra group transactions between A 
Limited, B Limited and C Limited would not require disclosure in consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with paragraph 7 of the Statement. 

Q 5:  AB Limited acquires a 12 per cent voting power in LM Limited. AB Limited being the 
single largest shareholder of LM Limited appoints the chairman and one other 
member of the Board of Directors of LM Limited (out of a total of 12 directors). These 
nominees of AB Limited are not directors of AB Limited. By virtue of its representation 
on the board (through two nominees) of LM Limited, AB limited participates in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the enterprise taken at the board meetings. 
Would AB Limited be considered as exercising control over LM Limited? 

Ans: Paragraph 3(b) of the Statement refers to “associates and joint ventures of the 
reporting enterprise and the investing party or venturer in respect of which the 
reporting enterprise is an associate or a joint venture” as a related party relationship.  

 An associate has been defined in Paragraph 10 as “an enterprise in which an investing 
reporting party has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint 
venture of that party”.  

 In the given example, there is no agreement or statute, which gives AB Limited any 
power to exert significant influence. However, by virtue of its ownership of voting 
power to the extent of 12 per cent and being the single largest shareholder, AB 
Limited participates in the financial and operating policy decisions of LM Limited. 
Therefore, in this case it is clearly demonstrated that AB Limited has significant 
influence over LM Limited. Accordingly, LM Limited is a related party of AB Limited. 

Q 6:  Two companies have a common Executive Chairman. Pursuant to this Statement 
would these companies be considered to be related parties on this account? 

Ans:  The two companies would be considered to be related to each other. The two 
companies have a common Executive Chairman of the board of directors. It could be 
concluded that the Executive Chairman is one of the key management personnel of 
the both companies as he is one of “those persons who have the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting 
enterprise”. 

 As per paragraph 3 (e) of the Statement, by virtue of the fact that a key management 
person has the ability to exercise significant influence on both the enterprises, such 
enterprises that have a member of key management in common with the reporting 
enterprise would be considered as related parties. 

 In the context of significant influence, it is, however, important to note that mere 
existence of relationship is not sufficient to classify enterprises as related parties. The 
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ability to exercise significant influence should exist during the reporting period, as 
described in paragraph 10. 

Q 7:  SP Hotels Limited enters into an agreement with Mr A for running its hotel for a fixed 
return payable to the latter every year. The contract involves the day-to-day 
management of the hotel, while all financial and operating policy decisions are taken 
by the Board of Directors of the company. Mr A does not own any voting power in SP 
Hotels Limited. Would he be considered as a related party of SP Hotels Limited? 

Ans: Mr. A will not be considered as a related party of SP Hotels Limited in view of 
paragraph 3(c) of AS 18 which states, “individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an 
interest in the voting power of the reporting enterprise that gives them control or 
significant influence over the enterprise, and relatives of any such individual”. In the 
above example, in the absence of share ownership, Mr. A would not be considered to 
exercise significant influence on SP Hotels Limited, even though there is an agreement 
giving him the power to manage the company. Further, the fact that Mr A does not 
have the ability to direct or instruct the board of directors does not qualify him as a 
key management personnel. 

Q 8:  Paragraph 21 of the standard requires disclosure of name of related party and nature 
of relationship where control exists, irrespective of whether or not there have been 
transactions. Consequently, would the relationship between A Limited (the reporting 
enterprise and a wholly-owned subsidiary of PQ Plc, UK), and XYZ Inc., USA (another 
wholly-owned subsidiary of PQ Plc, UK) be required to be disclosed in the financial 
statements of A Limited, pursuant to paragraph 21 of the Statement, even if no 
transactions have been undertaken during the reporting period between these 
enterprises? 

Ans: No, the relationship between A Limited and XYZ Inc., USA would not require 
disclosure in the financial statements of A Limited.As per the definition of control as 
contained in paragraph 10 of the Statement, the ability to control is gained by: 

 “ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than one-half of the voting power of 
an enterprise, or 

 control of the composition of the board of directors in the case of a company 
or of the composition of the corresponding governing body in case of any other 
enterprise, or 

 a substantial interest in voting power and the power to direct, by statute or 
agreement, the financial and/or operating policies of the enterprise”. 

Further, paragraph 21 of the Statement states that “name of the related party and 
nature of the related party relationship where control exists should be disclosed 
irrespective of whether or not there have been transactions between the related 
parties”. The use of the words “where control exists” in the Statement implies that 
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disclosure of relationship in the financial statements is required as per paragraph 21 
only if control exists. While the Statement includes fellow subsidiaries as a related 
party relationship, there is no existence of control between them. In the given 
example, ostensibly, none of the above mentioned conditions are satisfied, which 
would either enable XYZ Inc, USA to control A Limited or vice versa. 

Q 9:  X Ltd. sold goods to its associate Company for the 1st quarter ending 30.6.2004. After 
that, the related party relationship ceased to exist. However, goods were supplied as 
was supplied to any other ordinary customer. Decide whether a transaction of the 
entire year has to be disclosed as related party transactions.   [May 2005] 

Ans: As per para 23 of AS 18, transactions of X Ltd. with its associate company for the first 
quarter ending 30.06.2004 only are required to be disclosed as related party 
transactions. For the period in which related party relationship did not exist 
transactions need not be reported. 

Q 10:  Power Ltd. acquired 100% shares of Energy Ltd. prior to 31st March, 2004.  During 
2004-2005 the individual companies included in their financial statements the 
following items:  

  Power Ltd.  Energy Ltd.  

 Officer’s salary 1,17,500  32,340  

 Officer’s expenses 99,000  10,000  

 Loans to Officers 7,25,000  3,67,000  

 Inter-company sales to Energy Ltd.  16,43,420  

 The CEO and Finance Directors of the Company are unable to decide, whether the 
amount of Rs. 16,43,420 being sales from Power Ltd. to Energy Ltd. should get 
reported as related-party disclosure in the notes to Accounts, for the accounting 
period ended 31st March, 2005.  Advice.  [May 2006] 

Ans: Paragraph 7 of AS 18, reads as under: “No disclosure is required in consolidated 
financial statements, in respect of intra-group transactions” in as much as the 
transactions themselves would get eliminated in the consolidation process. It is also 
unnecessary because Consolidated Financial Statement presents information about 
the holding and its subsidiary as a single reporting enterprise.  

Q 11:  Narmada Ltd. Sold goods for Rs.90 lakhs to Ganga Ltd. during financial Year ended 31-
3-2006.The Managing Director of Narmada Ltd. own 100% of Ganga Ltd. The sales 
were made to Ganga Ltd. at normal selling prices followed by Narmada Ltd. The chief 
accountant of Narmada Ltd. contends that these sales need not require a different 
treatment from the other sales made by the company and hence no disclosure is 
necessary as per accounting standards.  Is the chief Accountant correct? [May  2006] 
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Ans: As per paragraph 13 of AS 18 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, Enterprises over which a key 
management personnel is able to exercise significant influence are related parties. 
This includes enterprises owned by directors or major shareholders of the reporting 
enterprise that have a member of key management in common with the reporting 
enterprise. 

 In the given case, Narmada Ltd. and Ganga Ltd are related parties and hence 
disclosure of transaction between them is required irrespective of whether the 
transaction was done at normal selling price. Hence the contention of Chief 
Accountant of Narmada Ltd is wrong. 

Q 12:  P Ltd. has 60% voting right in Q Ltd. Q Ltd. has 20% voting right in R Ltd. Also, P Ltd. 
directly enjoys voting right of 14% in R Ltd. R Ltd. is a listed company and regularly 
supplies goods to P Ltd. The management of R Ltd. has not disclosed its relationship 
with P Ltd. How would you assess the situation from the viewpoint of AS -18 on 
Related Party Disclosures?                            [Nov 2007, Nov 2012] 

Ans:  P Ltd. has direct economic interest in R Ltd to the extent of 14%, and through Q Ltd. in 
which it is the majority shareholders, it has further control of 12% in R Ltd. (60% of Q 
Ltd’s 20%). These two taken together (14% + 12%) make the total control of 26%. Para 
10 of AS 18 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, defines related party as one that has at any 
time during the reporting period, the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or operating 
decisions. 

 Here, Control is defined as ownership directly or indirectly of more than one-half of 
the voting power of an enterprise; and Significant Influence is defined as participation 
in the financial and/or operating policy decisions of an enterprise but not control of 
those policies. 

 In the present case, control of P Ltd. in R Ltd. directly and through Q Ltd., does not go 
beyond 26%. However, as per para 12 of AS 18, significant influence may be exercised 
as an investing party (P Ltd.) holds, directly or indirectly through intermediaries 20% 
or more of the voting power of the R Ltd. As R Ltd. is a listed company and regularly 
supplies goods to P Ltd. therefore, related party disclosure, as per AS 18, is required. 

Q 13:  Mr. Raj a relative of key Management personnel received remuneration of Rs. 
2,50,000 for his services in the company for the period from 1.4.2004 to 30.6.2004. 
On 1.7.2004 he left the service. Should the relative be identified as at the closing date 
i.e. on 31.3.2005 for the purposes of AS 18?  

Ans: According to para 10 of AS 18 on Related Party Disclosures, parties are considered to 
be related if at any time during the reporting period one party has the ability to 
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and/or operating decisions. Hence, Mr. Raj, a relative of key management 
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personnel should be identified as relative as at the closing date i.e. on 31.3.2005 for 
the purpose of AS 18. 

Q 14:  A Ltd., owns 30% of the equity capital of B Ltd. B Ltd. in turn owns 35% of equity 
capital C Ltd., and 40% of equity capital in D Ltd. You are required to answer the 
following questions. 

(a)  Whether B Ltd. is a related party to A Ltd? 

(b)  Whether C Ltd., is a related party to A Ltd.? 

(c)  Whether C Ltd. and D Ltd. are related parties?    [RTP Nov 2009] 

Ans: 

(a)  As per AS 18, associates and joint ventures of the reporting enterprise are related 
parties. Since A Ltd. holds more than 20% of the voting power in B Ltd. by virtue of 
this it has substantial interest and significant influence in B Ltd. Therefore B Ltd. is an 
associate and is related party to A Ltd. 

(b)  An associate of an associate is not a related party. Only in the case of a holding 
company a subsidiary of a subsidiary (sub-subsidiary) also becomes a related party. 

(c)  C Ltd. and D Ltd. are co-associates. Co-subsidiaries become related parties because of 
common control. In the case of this common control is missing and therefore they are 
not related parties. 

Q 15:  Kismis Ltd. is a 100% subsidiary of Kaju Ltd. Which of the followings are related party 
transactions for the purpose of consolidated financial statements? 

(i)  Salary paid to employees of Kismis Ltd. 

(ii)  Loans given to employees of Kaju Ltd. 

(iii)  Inter-company sales between Kaju Ltd. and Kismis Ltd. 

(iv)  Loan given by Kismis Ltd. to managing director of Kaju Ltd. 

(v)  Transfer of Asset by Kaju Ltd. to Kismis Ltd.    [RTP May 2013] 

Answer: As per para 3 of AS 18 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, employees are not considered as 
Related Party for an entity. Salaries and loans given to employees are in the course of normal 
dealings of business. Therefore, the first two transactions cannot be considered as related 
party transactions. 

As per para 3(a) of the standrad, holding and subsidiary companies are said to be related 
parties since they are said to be under common control for the purpose of consolidated 
financial statements. Therefore, ‘inter-company sales between holding and subsidiary 
companies’ is a related party transaction. However, as per para 7 of the standard, no 
disclosure is required for the same in consolidated financial statements. 
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Since, managing director of Kaju Ltd. directly or indirectly owns an interest in the voting 
power of the reporting enterprise that gives him control or significant influence over its 
subsidiary Kismis Ltd., the loan given to him by Kismis Ltd. will be treated as related party 
transaction. Since, holding and subsidiary companies are said to be related parties as per 
para 3(a) of the standard, transfer of asset by holding company Kaju Ltd. to its subsidiary 
Kismis Ltd. will be considered as related party transaction. 

LEASES (AS 19) 
Q 1 R Ltd. the lessee acquired machinery on lease, when its fair value was Rs 350,000. The 

lease term covers the entire economic life of the asset, i.e. 3 years and the lessee pays 
Rs 150,000 at the end of each year. The lessee has guaranteed a residual value of Rs 
11,400 though the lessor estimates the salvage value to be Rs 10,000 at the end of the 
lease term. Compute the value of machinery to be recognized by the lessee and the 
finance charges every year. IRR is 15% pa and PV factor of 15% in three years is 2.283.   
  

Ans:  Since the lease term covers the entire economic life of the machinery i.e., 3 Years, it is 
a finance lease. 

 Present value of minimum lease payments  

 = Annual lease rental X P.V Factor + Present value of guaranteed residual value  

 = 1,50,000 X 2.283 + 11,400 X   

 = 1,50,000 X 2.283 + 11,400 X .658  

 = 3,42,450 + 7501.2 = Rs. 3,49,951.2  

 As the calculated amount Rs. 3,49,951 is lower than the fair value of the leased asset 
Rs. 3,50,000, the amount of machinery recognised as an asset and the amount of 
outstanding liability arising from the lease could be recorded at Rs. 3,49,951 by the 
lessee.  

 The computation of finance charges is as under: 

Year  Finance  
Charges 

 Payment Reduction in Out- 
standing Liability 

Outstanding 
Liability 

Year 1 (January 1)  -  -  - 3,49,951  
(December 31)  52,493  1,50,000  97,507  2,52,444 
Year 2 (December 
31)  

37,867  1,50,000  1,12,133  1,40,311 

Year 3 (December 
31)  

21,047 1,50,000  1,28,953  11,358(Note ) 
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 Note: The difference between this figure and guaranteed residual value of Rs. 11,400 
is due to approximation computing the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Q 2 AS Ltd. Leased a machine to SB Ltd. on the following terms:  

 (Rs. In lakhs) 
Fair value of the machine  4.00 
Lease term  5 years 
Lease Rental Per annum  1.00 
Guaranteed Residual value  0.20 
Expected Residual value  0.40 
Internal Rate of Return  15% 

 Depreciation is provided on straight line method at 10 per cent per annum. Ascertain 
Unearned Financial Income. Necessary Journal entries in the books of the Lessee in 
first year may be shown.   

Ans: As per AS 19 on Leases, unearned finance income is the difference between (a) the 
gross investment in the lease and (b) the present value of minimum lease payments 
under a finance lease from the standpoint of the lessor; and any unguaranteed 
residual value accruing to the lessor, at the interest rate implicit in the lease.  

 where: 

(a)  Gross investment in the lease is the aggregate of (i) minimum lease payments 
from the stand point of the lessor and (ii) any unguaranteed residual value 
accruing to the lessor. 

 Gross investment = Minimum lease payments + Unguaranteed residual value 

 = [Total lease rent + Guaranteed residual value(GRV)] + Unguaranteed residual 
value (URV) 

 = [(Rs. 1,00,000 X 5 years) + Rs. 20,000] + Rs. 20,000 = Rs. 5,40,000 (a) 

(b)  Table showing present value of (i) Minimum lease payments (MLP) and (ii) 
Unguaranteed residual value (URV). 

Year  M.L.P. inclusive of 
URV 

Internal rate of return Present Value 

 Rs. ( Discount factor @ 15%) Rs. 
1  1,00,000  0.8696  86,960 
2  1,00,000  0.7561  75,610 
3  1,00,000  0.6575  65,750 
4  1,00,000  0.5718  57,180 
5  1,00,000  0.4972  49,720 
5 20,000 (GRV)  0.4972  9,944 
Total 5,20,000   3,45,164 (i) 
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5 20,000 (URV)  0.4972  9,944 (ii) 
Total 5,40,000 (i) + (ii)   3,55,108 (b) 

 Unearned Finance Income = (a) – (b) = Rs. 5,40,000 – Rs. 3,55,108 = Rs. 
1,84,892 

 Journal Entries in the books of SB Ltd. 

At the inception of lease 
Machinery account  

To AS Ltd.’s account  
(Being lease of machinery recorded at present value 
of minimum lease payments) 

   
Dr.  3,45,164  
  3,45,164* 
   

At the end of the first year of lease 
Finance charges account (Refer Working Note) 

To AS Ltd.’s account  
(Being the finance charges for first year due) 

   
Dr.  51,775  
  51,775 
   

AS Ltd.’s account  
To Bank account  

(Being the lease rent paid to the lessor which includes 
outstanding liability of Rs. 48,225 and finance charge 
of Rs. 51,775) 

Dr.  1,00,000  
  1,00,000 
   

Depreciation account 
To Machinery account  

(Being the depreciation provided @ 10% p.a. on 
straight line method) 

Dr.  34,516  
  34,516 
   

Profit and loss account  
To Depreciation account  
To Finance charges account  

(Being the depreciation and finance charges 
transferred to profit and loss account) 

Dr.  86,291  
  34,516 
  51,775 
   

 Note 1:  As per para 11 of AS 19, the lessee should recognize the lease as an asset and 
a liability at an amount equal to the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of 
lease. However, if the fair value of the leased asset exceeds the present value of 
minimum lease payments from the standpoint of lessee, the amount recorded should 
be the present value of these minimum lease payments. Therefore, in this case, as the 
fair value of Rs. 4,00,000 is more than the present value amounting Rs. 3,45,164, the 
machinery has been recorded at Rs. 3,45,164 in the books of SB Ltd. (the lessee) at 
the inception of the lease. According to para 13 of the standard, at the inception of 
the lease, the asset and liability for the future lease payments are recognised in the 
balance sheet at the same amounts. 
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 Note 2: Depreciation has been provided on the basis that the machine has been 
leased at the beginning of the year. 

 Working Note: Table showing apportionment of lease payments by SB Ltd. between 
the finance charges and the reduction of outstanding liability 

Year  Outstanding Minimum Finance Reduction in Outstanding 
 Liability lease charges principal liability 
 (opening 

bal) 
payments  amount (closing bal) 

1  3,45,164  1,00,000  51,775  48,225  2,96,939 
2  2,96,939  1,00,000  44,541  55,459  2,41,480 
3  2,41,480  1,00,000  36,222  63,778  1,77,702 
4  1,77,702  1,00,000  26,655  73,345  1,04,357 
5  1,04,357  1,00,000  15,654  84,346  20,011** 

** The difference between this figure and guaranteed residual value (Rs. 20,000) 
is due to approximation in computing the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Q 3 On April 1, 20X2, ABC Limited leases equipment for 4 years to XYZ Limited. The cost of 
the equipment is Rs. 1,500,000 and has a useful life of 10 years (assume straight line 
method of depreciation). The lease payments to be made are as follows: 

Year Amount 
1 1,00,000 
2 1,50,000 
3 1,75,000 
4 2,00,000 
 6,25,000 

 The lease is classified as an operating lease. How would this lease be accounted for in 
the books of account of the lessee and the lessor? 

Ans:  AS 19 requires that (from a lessee’s perspective), “Lease payments under an operating 
lease should be recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a 
straight line basis over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit”. Similarly, paragraph 40 of AS 
19 states that (from a lessor’s perspective), “Lease income from operating leases 
should be recognised in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over 
the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which benefit derived from the use of the leased asset is diminished”. 

 In the absence of a systematic basis which is more representative of the time pattern 
in which benefit derived from the use of the leased asset is diminished, the lease 
rental should be accounted for on a straight line basis. Accordingly, in the present 
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case the lease should be accounted for in the books of the lessee and the lessor for 
the year ended March 31, 20X3 as follows: 

ABC Limited (Lessor)    
March 31, 20X3  Debit (Rs) Credit (Rs) 
Operating Lease Receivable  

To Lease Rental Income  
(To record operating lease income receivable in the 
books - 625,000/4) 

Dr. 156,250  
  156,250 
   

Depreciation 
To Asset 

(To record depreciation expense for the year- 
1,500,000/10) 

Dr. 150,000  
  150,000 
   

Bank 
To Operating Lease Receivable  

(To record lease rental payment received in 
accordance with the lease agreement) 

Dr. 100,000  
  100,000 
   

 The balance in the Operating Lease Receivable Account of Rs. 56,250 as on March 31, 
20X3, should be disclosed as a current asset in the balance sheet of ABC Limited 
(Lessor). 

XYZ Limited (Lessee)    
The lease should be accounted for as follows in the books of XYZ Limited (Lessee). 
March 31, 
20X3 

  Debit (Rs.) Credit 
(Rs.) 

Rent expense 
To ABC Limited - Operating Lease Rental 
Payable   

(To record rent expense for the year in the books - 
625,000/4) 

 Dr. 156,250  
  156,250 
   

ABC Limited - Operating Lease Rental Payable  
To Bank  

(To record lease rental payment made in 
accordance with the lease agreement) 

Dr. 100,000  
  100,000 
   

 The balance in the Operating Lease Rental Payable Account of Rs. 56,250, as on March 
31, 20X3, should be shown as a current liability in the balance sheet of XYZ Limited 
(Lessee). 

 Similar would be the accounting treatment in the subsequent years. 

Q 4 Equipment having expected useful life of 5 years, is leased for 3 years. Both the cost 
and the fair value of the equipment are Rs. 6,00,000. The amount will be paid in 3 
equal instalments and at the termination of lease, lessor will get back the equipment. 
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The unguaranteed residual value at the end of 3rd year is Rs. 60,000. The IRR of the 
investment is 10%. The present value of annuity factor of Rs. 1 due at the end of 3rd 
year at 10% IRR is 2.4868. The present value of Rs. 1 due at the end of 3rd year at 10% 
rate of interest is 0.7513. State with reason whether the lease constitutes finance 
lease and also compute the unearned finance income. [Nov 2005] 

Ans:  

(i)  Determination of Nature of Lease 

 It is assumed that the fair value of the leased equipments is equal to the present value 
of minimum lease payments. 

 Present value of residuals value at the end of 3rd year = Rs. 60,000 x 0.7513 = Rs. 
45,078 

 Present value of lease payments = Rs. 6,00,000 – Rs. 45,078 = Rs. 5,54,922 

 The percentage of present value of lease payments to fair value of the equipment is  

 (Rs. 5,54,922 / Rs. 6,00,000) x 100 = 92.487%. 

 Since, it substantially covers the major portion of the lease payments, the lease 
constitutes a finance lease. 

(ii)  Calculation of Unearned Finance Income 

 Annual lease payment = Rs. 5,54,922 / 2.4868 =Rs. 2,23,147 (approx) 

 Gross investment in the lease = Total minimum lease payment + unguaranteed residual 
value 

 = (Rs. 2,23,147 × 3) + Rs. 60,000 = Rs. 6,69,441 + Rs. 60,000 = Rs. 7,29,441 

 Unearned finance income = Gross investment - Present value of minimum lease 
payments and unguaranteed residual value= Rs. 7,29,441 – Rs. 6,00,000 = Rs. 1,29,441 

Q 5 What do you understand by the term "Interest rate implicit on lease"?Calculate the 
interest rate implicit on lease from the following details: 

 Annual Lease Rent  Rs. 80,000 at the end of each year 

 Lease Period  5 Years 

 Guaranteed Residual Value  Rs. 40,000 

 Unguaranteed Residual Value  Rs. 24,000 

 Fair Value at the inception of the lease  Rs. 3,20,000 

 Discounted rates for the first 5 years are as below: 

 At 10%  0.909, 0.826, 0.751, 0.683, 0621 
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 At 14%  0.877, 0.769, 0.675, 0.592, 0.519  [May 2015] 

Ans: As per para 3 of AS 19 ‘ Leases’ the interest rate implicit in the lease is the discount 
ratethat, at the inception of the lease, causes the aggregate present value of 

(a)  the minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the standpoint of 
thelessor; and 

(b)  any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor,to be equal to the fair 
value of the leased asset. 

 Present value at discount rate of 10% 

Year  Lease Payments 
(Rs.)  

Disc. Factor (10%)  Present Value (Rs.) 

1  80,000  0.909  72,720 
2  80,000  0.826  66,080 
3  80,000  0.751  60,080 
4  80,000  0.683  54,640 
5  80,000  0.621  49,680 
5  40,000  0.621  24,840 
5  24,000  0.621  14,904 
Total    3,42,944 

 Present value at discount rate of 14% 

Year  Lease Payments 
(Rs.)  

Disc. Factor (10%)  Present Value (Rs.) 

1  80,000  0.877  70,160 
2  80,000  0.769  61,520 
3  80,000  0.675  54,000 
4  80,000  0.592  47,360 
5  80,000  0.519  41,520 
5  40,000  0.519  20,760 
5  24,000  0.519  12,456 
Total    3,07,776 

 Interest Rate Implicit on Lease = 10% + [(3,42,944 - 3,20,000)/ (3,42,944 - 3,07,776)] x 
4% 

 = 10% + 2.609% = 12.609% or say 12.61% 

Q 6 On 1st January, 2011, Santa Ltd. sold equipment for Rs. 6,14,460. The carrying 
amount of the equipment on that date was Rs. 1,00,000. The sale was a part of the 
package under which Banta Ltd. leased the asset to Santa Ltd. for ten years term. The 
economic life of the asset is estimated as 10 years. The minimum lease rents payable 
by the lessee has been fixed at Rs. 1,00,000 payable annually beginning from 31st 
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December, 2011. The incremental borrowing interest rate of Santa Ltd. is estimated at 
10% p.a. Calculate the net effect on the Statement of profit and loss in the books of 
Santa Ltd.  [May 2013] 

Ans: Net effect on the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year of sale in the books of 
Lessee (Santa Ltd.) 

 For calculation of net effect on the statement of profit and loss on sale of equipment, 
it has to be judged whether lease is an operating lease or finance lease. 

 The lease term is for 10 years which covers the entire economic life of the equipment. 
At the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments (MLP) 
is Rs. 6,14,400 [Rs. 1,00,000 x 6.144 (Annuity factor of Rs. 1 @10% for 10 years)] and 
amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value (sale price ie. Rs. 6,14,460) of the 
leased equipment. Thus lease is a finance lease. 

 As per para 48 of AS 19 “Leases”, if a sale and leaseback transaction results in a 
finance lease, profit of Rs. 5,14,460 (Sale value Rs. 6,14,460 less carrying amount 
Rs.1,00,000)swill not be recognized as income in the year of sale in the books of 
lessee i.e. Santa Ltd. It should be deferred and amortised over the lease term in 
proportion to the depreciation of the leased asset. 

 Therefore, assuming that depreciation is charged on straight line basis, Santa Ltd. will 
recognize depreciation of Rs. 61,446 per annum for 10 years (Rs. 6,14,460 / 10) and 
amortise profit of Rs. 5,14,460 over the lease term of 10 years, i.e. Rs. 51,446 p.a. The 
net effect is a debit of (Rs. 61,446 - Rs. 51,446) Rs. 10,000 p.a. to the Statement of 
profit and loss, for 10 years as covered under the lease term. 

 Note: Had there been no sale and lease back transaction, the Statement of profit and 
loss for each year (covered in the lease term) would have been charged by (Rs. 
1,00,000/10) Rs. 10,000, towards depreciation. Thus, the sale and lease back 
transaction will have no impact on profit or loss account to be reported by the lessee 
(vendor in the sales transaction) over the lease period. 

Q 7 Global Ltd. has initiated a lease for three years in respect of an equipment costing Rs. 
1,50,000 with expected useful life of 4 years. The asset would revert to Global Limited 
under the lease agreement. The other information available in respect of lease 
agreement is: 

(i) The unguaranteed residual value of the equipment after the expiry of the lease term 
is estimated at Rs.20,000. 

(ii) The implicit rate of interest is 10% 

(iii) The annual payments have been determined in such a way that the present value of 
the lease payment plus the residual value is equal to the cost of asset. 

Ascertain in the hands of Global Ltd. 
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(i) The annual lease payment. 

(ii) The unearned finance income 

(iii) The segregation of finance income, and also 

(iv) Show how necessary items will appear in its profit and loss account and balance sheet 
for the various years.  [May 2006] 

Answer: 

(i)  Calculation of Annual Lease Payment”  
 Cost of the equipment  1,50,000 
 Unguaranteed Residual Value  20,000 
 PV of residual value for 3 years @ 10% (Rs.20,000 x 0.751)  15,020 
 Fair value to be recovered from Lease Payment (Rs.1,50,000 – 

Rs.15,020) 
1,34,980 

 PV Factor for 3 years @ 10% 2.487  
 Annual Lease Payment (Rs. 1,34,980 / PV Factor for 3 years @ 10% i.e. 

2.487) 
54,275 

(ii)  Unearned Financial Income  
 Total lease payments [Rs. 54,275 x 3]  1,62,825 
 Add: Residual value  20,000 
 Gross Investments  1,82,825 
 Less: Present value of Investments (Rs.1,34,980 + Rs.15,020)  1,50,000 
 Unearned Financial Income  32,825 
(iii)  Segregation of Finance Income 
 Year  Lease Rentals Finance Charges @ 

10% 
Repayment Outstanding 

Amount 
 0  -  -  -  1,50,000 
 I  54,275  15,000  39,275  1,10,725 
 II  54,275  11,073  43,202  67,523 
 III  74,275** 6,752  67,523  — 
  1,82,825  32,825  1,50,000  

*  Annual lease payments are considered to be made at the end of each accounting year. 

** Rs. 74,275 includes unguaranteed residual value of equipment amounting Rs. 20,000. 

(iv)  Profit and Loss Account ( Relevant Extracts)  
 Credit side   Rs. 
 I Year  By Finance Income  15,000 
 II year  By Finance Income  11,073 
 III year  By Finance Income  6,752 
 Balance Sheet ( Relevant 

Extracts) 
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 Assets side   Rs. 
 I year  Lease Receivable  1,50,000 
  Less: Amount Received  39,275  
   1,10,725 
 II year  Lease Receivable  1,10,725 
  Less: Received  43,202  
   67,523 
 III year : Lease Amount Receivable  67,523 
  Less: Amount received  47,523 
  Residual value  20,000  
   NIL 
 Notes to Balance Sheet 
 Year 1   Rs. 
  Minimum Lease Payments (54,275 + 54,275)  1,08,550 
  Residual Value  20,000 
   1,28,550 
  Unearned Finance Income(11,073+ 6,752)  17,825 
  Lease Receivables  1,10,725 
  Classification:  
  Not later than 1 year 43,202 
  Later than 1 year but not more than 5 years 67,523 
  Total 1,10,725 
 Year II:   
  Minimum Lease Payments  54,275 
  Residual Value (Estimated)  20,000 
   74,275 
  Unearned Finance Income  6,752 
  Lease Receivables (not later than 1year)  67,523 
 III Year:   
  Lease Receivables (including residual value)  67,523 
  Amount Received  67,523 
   NIL 

Q 8:  X Ltd. has leased equipment over its useful life that costs Rs. 7,46,55,100 for a three 
year lease period. After the lease term the asset would revert to the Lessor. You are 
informed that: 

(i)  The estimated unguaranteed residual value would be Rs. 1 lakh only. 

(ii)  The annual lease payments have been structured in such a way that the sum of their 
present values together with that of the residual value of the asset will equal the cost 
thereof. 

(iii)  Implicit interest rate is 10%. 
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 You are required to ascertain the annual lease payment and the unearned finance 
income. P.V. factor @ 10% for years 1 to 3 are 0.909, 0.826 and 0.751 respectively. 

   [Nov 2013, May 2014] 

Ans: 

(i) Calculation of Annual Lease Payment� Rs. 
 Cost of the equipment  7,46,55,100 
 Unguaranteed Residual Value  1,00,000 
 PV of unguaranteed residual value for 3 years @ 10% (Rs. 

1,00,000 x 0.751) 
75,100 

 Fair value to be recovered from Lease Payment (Rs. 7,46,55,100 
– Rs. 75,100) 

7,45,80,000 

 PV Factor for 3 years @ 10% 2.486  
 Annual Lease Payment (Rs. 7,45,80,000 / PV Factor for 3 years 

@ 10% i.e. 2.486) 
3,00,00,000 

 ∗ Annual lease payments are considered to be made at the end of each 
accounting year. 

(ii)  Unearned Finance Income  
 Total lease payments [Rs. 3,00,00,000 x 3]  9,00,00,000 
 Add: Residual value  1,00,000 
 Gross Investments  9,01,00,000 
 Less: Present value of Investments (Rs. 7,45,80,000+ Rs. 

75,100)  
(7,46,55,10) 

 Unearned Finance Income  1,54,44,900 
 

Q 9  Calculate minimum lease payments for A Ltd. who took an asset on a 5 years lease from B 
Ltd. using the following information:  

 Payments over the lease term    Rs. 1,000 per month  

 Contingent rent    Rs. 20,000  

 Cost for services given by B Ltd.   Rs. 40,000  

 Taxes to be reimbursed to B Ltd.   Rs. 15,000  

 Residual value guaranteed by A Ltd.    Rs. 5,000  

 Fair value of asset after 5 years    Rs. 6,000  

 Also, A Ltd. has an option to purchase the asset after a period of 5 years at Rs. 2,000. It is 
reasonably certain that A Ltd. will exercise the option.  

 Required Calculation Minimum Lease Payments. 

 

Ans: 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 124 
 
 
 

Particulars  Amount 
(Rs.)  

Payments over the lease term (1,000 x 12 x 5)  
Contingent rent  
Cost for services given by B Ltd.  
Taxes to be reimbursed to B Ltd.  
Residual value guaranteed by A Ltd.  
Payment made for option to purchase the asset  

60,000  
-  
-  
-  

5,000  
2,000  

Minimum lease payments for A Ltd.  67,000 

Q 10 On 1 April 20X1 Venus Ltd entered into two leasing contracts:  

 The first contract was a contract to lease manufacturing machine (M1) for a two-year period. 
The estimated useful economic live of the M1 at the start of the lease was five years. It was 
the responsibility of the lessor to repair and insure the M1. The lease contract stated that 
Venus Ltd should pay a deposit of Rs. 6,00,000 at the start of the lease followed by monthly 
payments of Rs. 2,00,000 in arrears.  

 The second contract was to lease another manufacturing machine (M2). The lease was for a 
four-year period, which was the estimated useful economic life of the machines. Venus Ltd is 
required to repair and insure the M2, which has no estimated residual value at the end of the 
lease. The lease rentals were set at Rs. 10,000 every six months, payable in advance. The rate 
of interest implicit in this lease was 5% per six-monthly period and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments was very close to the fair value of the assets at the inception of the 
lease, which was estimated at Rs. 70,000.  

 Show the necessary treatment in the financial statement for the year ended 31st March 20X2 
of Venus Ltd in accordance of AS 19.  

Ans: Lease of machine M1  

 The first lease is for two years while the life of the manufacturing machine (M1) is five years, 
so this is an operating lease. Therefore the operating lease rentals should be charged to 
profit and loss account on a straight line basis per annum is Rs. 27,00,000 (6,00,000 + 24 x 
2,00,000)/2  

 Lease of machine M2  

 The second lease is a finance lease as the lease period is equal to the economic life of the 
machines and the present value of minimum lease payment is close to the fair value of the 
assets.  

 An asset and liability is recognised at Rs. 70,000 being the present value of minimum lease 
payment is recognised. 

 Lease Liability 

Period ended  Bal b/f Payment  Bal in 
period  

Interest 
(5%)  

Bal c/f  

30 September 20X1  70,000  (10,000)  60,000  3,000  63,000  
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31 March 20X2  63,000  (10,000)  53,000  2,650  55,650  
31 September 20X2  55,650  (10,000)  45,650  2,283  47,933  
Closing Liability:  
Non Current liability (55,650-17,717)  
Current liability (20,000-2,283)  

55,650  
37,933  
17,717  

 The total finance cost for the period is Rs. 5,650 (3,000 + 2,650) 

Q 11 On 1st April 20X1 Earth ltd sold a property it owned for Rs. 90 lakh and leased it back on a 10-
year operating lease for rentals of Rs. 8 lakh per annum, payable on 31st March in arrears. 
The carrying value of the property in the financial statements of Earth ltd at 1st April was Rs. 
55 lakh and its market value on that date was Rs. 70 lakh.  

 Required: Compute the amounts that will be shown in the financial statement for the year 
ended 31st March 20X2 in respect of the sale and leaseback.  

Ans: Since the lease is an operating lease the property will be removed from the financial 
statements. A profit on sale of Rs. 15 lakh (Rs. 70 lakh – Rs. 55 lakh) will be shown as other 
income in the statement of profit and loss. The rental expense of Rs. 8 lakh will be shown as 
an operating cost in the statement of profit and loss.  

 The difference of Rs. 20 lakh between the disposal proceeds (Rs. 90 lakh) and the market 
value of the asset (Rs. 70 lakh) will be shown as deferred income and released to the 
statement of profit and loss over the lease term of 10 years.  

 Therefore, Rs. 2 lakh (Rs. 20 lakh x 1/10) will be credited to the statement of profit and loss in 
the year ended 31st March 20X2, probably as a reduction in operating costs. The remaining 
deferred income balance of Rs. 18 lakh (Rs. 20 lakh – Rs. 2 lakh) will be included as a liability 
in the balance sheet. Rs. 2 lakh of this will be a current liability and Rs. 16 lakh (Rs. 18 lakh – 
Rs. 2 lakh) will be non-current. 

Q 7 The below facts are given for the Earth Heavy Movers Limited:  

1.  The lease is non-cancellable and is initiated on 1 April 20X1 for equipment with an 
expected useful life of five years.  

2.  Three payments are due to the lessor of the amount of 51,000 per year beginning 31 
March 20X2. Included in the lease payments is a sum of 1,000, to be paid annually by 
the lessee for insurance.  

3.  The lessee guarantees a 10,000 residual value on 31 March 20X4 to the lessor.  

4.  Irrespective of the 10,000 residual value guarantee, the leased asset is expected to 
have only a 1,000 residual value to the lessee at the end of the lease term.  

5.  The Lessee company depreciates similar equipment that it owns on a straight-line 
basis.  

6.  The Fair value of the equipment at 1 April 20X1 is 1,32,000.  

7.  The Lessor’s implicit rate is 10%. This fact is known to the lessee company.  
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 Requirements: As per provision of AS 19: Leases,  

1.  How should lessee’s company classify and record the lease transaction at its inception 
on 1 April 20X1 (indicate journal entries)?  

2.  What are the journal entries the lessee is required to make to record the lease 
payments and the interest, insurance and depreciation expenses on 31 March 20X2 
through 31 March 20X4?  

3.  What entry should the lessee make on 31 March 20X4 to record the guaranteed 
residual value payment (assuming an estimated residual value of 1,000) and to clear 
the lease related accounts from the lessee’s books?  

4. What would be the Current and Non Current classification in the books of Lessee in 
year 1?  

Ans: 

1.  The Lessee company should record the asset as a finance lease as the risk and reward is 
being transferred and inspite of the fact the estimated residual value of the asset will be 
1,000 still Lessee is guaranteed lessor residual value of Rs. 10,000. Further the lease 
payments substantially covers the fair value of leased asset as per calculation given below.  

2.  Calculation of Present value of Minimum Lease Payments (MLP)  

 PV of MLP is calculated as per implicit rate of return of 10% 

Year  Discount 
Factor  

Minimum Lease 
payments (see 

note below)  

Present Value of 
MLP  

Annual Lease Rentals     
31 March 20X2  0.909  50,000  45,450  
31 March 20X3  0.826  50,000  41,300  
31 March 20X4  0.751  50,000  37,550  
Guaranteed Residual Value     
31 March 20X4  0.751  10,000  7,510  
Total    1,31,810  

Note : The Contingent rent, taxes, Insurance, Maintenance expenses etc if paid by the lessee 
to the lessor, then it does not form part of the Minimum lease payments and it will be 
expensed when incurred. Hence in the above case, for calculation of Present value of 
Minimum Lease payments only lease rental of Rs. 50,000 has been considered.  

 At the time of Initial Recognition, the Lessee will recognise the Leasehold asset at 
lower of below : 

 Present value of MLP 1,31,810 

 Fair Value of Leased Asset 1,32,000 

 Hence, Lease hold asset will be recognised at 1,31,810 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 127 
 
 
 

 Accounting Entry for Recognition would be : 

 Leasehold Equipment  Dr. 1,31,810 

 To Leasehold Obligation    1,31,810 

 Lease rentals should be splitted between Principal portion of leasehold obligation and 
finance costs. Same is computed in the below table : 

Year  Payments  Finance Costs 
@ 10%  

Reduction in 
Liability  

Closing 
obligation  

1 April 20X1  1,31,810  
31 March 20X2  50,000  13,181  36,819  94,991  
31 March 20X3  50,000  9,499  40,501  54,499  
31 March 20X4  50,000  5,501  44,499  10,000  

 Entries at the time of Subsequent measurement at the reporting date: 

Particulars  31 March 20X2  31 March 20X3  31 March 20X4  
 Dr. Cr.  Dr. Cr.  Dr. Cr.  
Insurance Expenses   1,000   1,000   1,000  
Leasehold obligation  36,819   40,501   44,499  
Interest Expenses   13,181   9,499   5,501  
Depreciation   43,619   43,619   43,619  
Cash   51,000   51,000   51,000  
Accumulated 
Depreciation  

 43,619   43,619   43,619  

 94,619 94,619  94,619  94,619  94,619  94,619  
 

3.  Entries at the End of Lease period  

 Leasehold Obligation Account  Dr. 10,000  

 Accumulated Depreciation Account  Dr. 1,30,810 

 To Cash Account    9,000  

 To Leasehold Equipment Account    1,31,810 

4.  The Current and Non Current Classification at the end of year 1 in the books of Lessee 
is as follows:  

Particulars  Amount  
Non Current Asset   
Leasehold Asset   
- Gross Block  1,31,810  
- Accumulated Depreciation  (43,619)  
Non Current Liability   
Leasehold Obligation (payable after 12 months)  54,499  
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Current Liability   
Leasehold Obligation (payable within 12 months)  40,501  

 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (AS 20) 
Question 1:   

While calculating diluted earnings per share, effect is given to all dilutive potential equity 
shares that were outstanding during that period.” Explain. Also calculate the diluted earnings 
per share from the following information: 

Net profit for the current year  Rs 
85,50,000 

No. of equity shares outstanding  20,00,000 
No. of 8% convertible debentures of Rs 100 each  1,00,000 
Each debenture is convertible into 10 equity shares  
Interest expenses for the current year  Rs 6,00,000 
Tax relating to interest expenses  30% 

Answer: “In calculating diluted earnings per share, effect is given to all dilutive potential 
equity shares that were outstanding during the period.” As per para 26 of AS 20, Earnings 
per Share’, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding* during the period should be adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares for the purpose of calculation of diluted 
earnings per share. 

Computation of diluted earnings per share =  

Adjusted net profit for the current year/ Weighted average number of equity shares 

Adjusted net profit for the current year   Rs 

Net profit for the current year (assumed to be after tax)  85,50,000 

Add: Interest expense for the current year    6,00,000 

Less: Tax relating to interest expense (30% of Rs 6,00,000)  1,80,000 

Adjusted net profit for the current year    89,70,000 

Weighted average number of equity shares 

Number of equity shares resulting from conversion of debentures  

= 1,00,000 x (100/10)= 10,00,000 Equity shares 

Weighted average number of equity shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 
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= [(20,00,000 x 12) + (10,00,000 x 9)]/12 = 27,50,000 shares 

Diluted earnings per share = 89,70,000/ 27,50,000 shares = Rs 3.26 per share 

Question 2:  

From the following information of Beta Ltd. calculate Earning Per Share (EPS) in accordance 
with AS–20:    

  Year31.3.08 Year31.3.07 
1. Net profit before tax 3,00,000 1,00,000 
2. Current tax 40,000 30,000 
 Tax relating to earlier year 24,000 (13,000) 
 Deferred tax  30,000 10,000 
3. Profit after tax 2,06,000 73,000 

4. Other information:  

(a)  Profit for the year ended 31.03.2008 includes compensation of Rs. 1,00,000 (non–
taxable) from Central Government towards loss on account of earthquake in 2005  

(b) Outstanding convertible 6% Preference shares 1,000 issued and paid on 30.9.2006. 
Face value Rs..100, Conversion ratio 15 equity shares for every preference share. 

(c) 15% convertible debentures of Rs..1,000 each total face value Rs..1,00,000 to be 
converted into 10 Equity shares per debenture issued and paid on 30.6.2006. 

(d) Total no. of Equity shares outstanding as on 31.3.2008, 20,000 including 10,000 bonus 
shares issued on 1.1.08, face value Rs..100.   

Answer: Calculation of Earning Per Share (EPS) of Beta Ltd.   

   Year ended Year ended 
   31.3.08 31.3.07 
1.  A  Earning after extra ordinary items  2,00,000  70,000 
  (2,06,000 – 6,000) (73,000 – 3,000)   
 B.  No. of Equity Shares  20,000  20,000 
 C.  Basic Earnings Per share [A/B]  10.00  3.50 
 A.  Earning before extra ordinary items  1,00,000  70,000 
 B.  No. of Equity Shares  20,000  20,000* 
 C.  Basic Earnings Per share [A/B]  5.00  3.50 
2.   Tax Rate applicable   
  40,000 + 30,000/2,00,000  35%  
  30,000 + 10,000/1,00,000   40% 
 *  Since the bonus issue is without 

consideration, the issue is treated as if it had 
occurred prior to the beginning of the year 
2007. 
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3.  Convertible Preference Shares   
 A.  Dividend on Weighted Average Preference 

Shares 
6,000  3,000 

 B.  Incremental shares  15,000  7,500 
 C.  EPS on Incremental Shares [A/B]  0.40  0.40 
   (dilutive)  (dilutive) 
4.   Convertible Debentures   
 A.  Increase in earnings   
  (1,00,000 X 15% X .65) 9,750  
  (1,00,000 X 15% .60) X 9/12   6,750 
 B.  Increase in shares  1,000  750 
 C.  Increase in EPS [A/B]  9.75  9.00 
   (Anti dilutive)  (Anti dilutive) 
 It is anti-dilutive as it increases the EPS from continuing ordinary operations (Para 39, 

AS 20) 
  Calculation of Diluted EPS  Year ended Year ended 
   31.3.08 31.3.07 
 A.  Profit from continuing ordinary activities 

before 
  

  Preference Dividend  1,06,000  73,000 
  No. of ordinary equity shares  20,000  20,000 
  Adjustment for dilutive potential of 6% 

convertible 
  

  pref. shares  15,000  7,500 
 B.  Total no. of shares  35,000  27,500 
 C.  Diluted EPS from continuing ordinary 

operations 
  

  [A/B] 3.02  2.65 
 D.  Profit including extra ordinary items  2,06,000  73,000 
 E.  Adjusted No. of shares  35,000  27,500 
 F.  Diluted EPS including extra ordinary items 

[D/E]  
5.88  2.65 

  Disclosure of EPS in accordance with AS 20 in 
the Profit and Loss Account 

  

  Earning per share (Face value Rs..100)  31.3.08 (Rs. )  31.3.07 (Rs.) 
  Basic EPS from continuing ordinary 

operations  
5.00  3.50 

  Diluted EPS from continuing ordinary 
operations  

3.02  2.65 

Question 3:  

From the information given below, calculate the diluted earnings per share on 31.3.2003. 
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Profit available for appropriation Rs. 375 crores 
Number of shares outstanding as on 1.4.2002  
Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid 250 crores 
Number of loan bonds issued by the company convertible into 100 
equity 

 

share of Rs. 10 each for each loan bond 5.25 lakhs 
Number of Equity Shares likely to arise on conversion of Series III 
Debentures 

3.90 lakhs 

Interest on loan bonds Rs. 5 crores 
Potential equity shares on account of stock appreciation and options 1.15 crores 

 [RTP, May 2004] 

Answer:  

Profit available for appropriation Rs. 375 crores 
Add : Interest savings on loan convertible into equity shares     Rs. 5 crores 
 Rs. 380 crores 
Total shares (as per working) 31,43,90,000 
Diluted earnings Rs. 12.08 per 

share 
Working Notes:  
Shares as on 1.4.2002 25,00,00,000 
Add : Potential equity shares on conversion of bonds (5.25 lakhs x 
100) 

5,25,00,000 

Add : Potential equity shares on conversion of III  series debentures 3,90,000 
Add : Potential equity shares on account of stock options and 
appreciation 

   1,15,00,000 

 31,43,90,000 

Question 4:  

As a statutory auditor for the year ended 31st March, 2002, how would you deal with the 
following: As on 31st March, 2001, the equity share capital of Q Ltd is Rs. 10 crores divided 
into shares of Rs. 10 each. During the financial year 2001/02, it has issued bonus shares in 
the ratio of 1:1. The net profit after tax for the years 31st March 2001 and 31st March 2002 
is Rs. 8.50 crores and Rs. 11.50 crores respectively. The EPS disclosed in the accounts for two 
years is Rs. 8.50 and Rs. 5.75 respectively. 

Answer:  

  31 March 2002  31 March 
2001 

(a) Net profit (Rs. lakhs) 1150 850 
(b) Share capital (Nos in lakhs) 200 100 
(c) Adjusted share capital due to bonus effect 200 200 
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(d) EPS per share (a/c) 5.75 4.25 

Question 5:  

With the following information, how would CD Limited, in a situation of partly paid shares, 
calculate the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period for 
calculating Basic EPS? 

CD Limited makes a public issue of equity shares during the year ended March 31, 2002 of 
100,000 shares of Rs. 10 each. The issue was fully subscribed and the calls were made as 
given below: 

 Rs. 5 on application and allotment made on July 1, 2001 

 Rs. 2 on first call made on September 30, 2001 

 Rs. 3 on second and final call made on January 1, 2002 

Partly paid shares are entitled to participate in the dividend to the extent of amount paid. CD 
Limited had 500,000 shares outstanding at the beginning of the year and, apart from the 
public issue of shares made above, there were no other additions to or reductions from 
share capital. 

Answer:The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period would 
be calculated as follows: 

Number of shares Number of months 
forwhich the shares were 
o/s 

Paid-up value Weighted 
averagenumber of 

shares  
500,000 12 10 500,000 
100,000 9 5 37,500 
100,000 6 2 10,000 
100,000 3 3 7,500 
   555,000 

Question 6:  

XYZ Limited has the following different classes of equity shares of Rs. 10 each, outstanding as 
at March 31, 2002, having disproportionate rights with respect to voting and dividends: 

Number of shares Rights as to share in net profit to the extent of capital 
100,000 “A” class equity 
shares 

Proportionate to capital 

30,000 “B” class equity shares In the proportion of 3:2 with respect to “A” class shares 
30,000 “C” class equity shares In the proportion of 5:2 with respect to “A” class shares 
40,000 “D” class equity shares In the proportion of 3: 1 with respect to “A” class shares 

Profit for the year ended March 31, 2002 was Rs. 800,000. As paragraph 8 of the Statement 
requires an enterprise to present basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the 
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statement of profit and loss account for each class of equity shares that has a different right 
to share in the net profit for the period, the company calculates and discloses Basic EPS as 
follows: 

The Company believes that net profit is to be shared in the ratio of 2:3:5:6, as derived from 
their rights to share net profit. 

Class Calculation Net Profit No. of Basic EPS 
  (Rs.) shares (Rs.) 
Class A Rs. 800,000 * 2/16 100,000 100,000 1.00 
Class B Rs. 800,000 * 3/16 150,000 30,000 5.00 
Class C Rs. 800,000 * 5/16 250,000 30,000 8.33 
Class D Rs. 800,000 * 6/16 300,000 40,000 7.50 

Is the calculation of EPS by the company correct? 

Answer: As per paragraph 14 of the Statement, “If an enterprise has more than one class of 
equity shares, net profit or loss for the period is apportioned over the different classes of 
shares in accordance with their dividend rights”. 

The calculation of Basic EPS by XYZ Limited is not correct, as the company has ignored the 
corresponding proportionate equity holdings of each class of equity shares in the total equity 
share capital of the company. The inclusion of percentage of each class’ holding in the equity 
share capital is necessary to represent a fair distribution of the net profit to the shareholders 
in proportion to their holding of the paid-up share capital of the company. 

The net profit attributable to each class of equity shares, based on their corresponding share 
in the total share capital and their rights in the net profit, may be calculated as shown below: 

Class No. of Ratio of rights Adjusted no. Apportioned 
 shares in net profit of shares Net Profit (Rs.)* 
Class A 100,000 1:1 100,000 235,294 
Class B 30,000 3:2 45,000 105,882 
Class C 30,000 5:2 75,000 176,471 
Class D 40,000 3:1 120,000 282,353 

* In the ratio of adjusted number of shares 

The revised computation of the Basic EPS, based on the above calculation, may be presented 
as follows: 

Class Apportioned Net Profit (Rs.) No. of shares Basic EPS (Rs.) 
Class A 235,294 100,000 2.35 
Class B 105,882 30,000 3.53 
Class C 176,471 30,000 5.88 
Class D 282,353 40,000 7.06 

Question 7:  
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X Limited, as at March 31, 2002, has income from continuing ordinary operations of Rs. 
240,000, a loss from discontinuing operations of Rs. 360,000 and accordingly a net loss of Rs. 
120,000. The Company has 1,000 equity shares and 200 potential equity shares outstanding 
as at March 31, 2002. Compute Basic and Diluted EPS? 

Answer: As per paragraph 39 of AS 20, “Potential equity shares should be treated as dilutive 
when, and only when, their conversion to equity shares would decrease net profit per share 
from continuing ordinary operations”. 

As income from continuing ordinary operations is the control number (as per paragraph 40), 
Rs. 2,40,000 would be considered and not Rs. (1,20,000), for ascertaining whether 200 
potential equity shares are dilutive or anti-dilutive. Accordingly, 200 potential equity shares 
would be dilutive potential equity shares since their inclusion decrease the net profit per 
share from continuing ordinary operations from Rs. 240 to Rs. 200. 

In view of the above, the basic E.P.S. would be Rs. (120) and diluted E.P.S. would be Rs. 
(100). Thus, diluted E.P.S. can be higher than basic E.P.S. 

Question 8:  

XYZ Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary BC Limited. The Group prepares Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 20X2. XYZ Limited (in its separate 
financial statements) has incurred a loss of Rs. 2 crores during the year, while the 
consolidated profit for the group during the year is Rs. 40 lakhs. 

XYZ Limited has 500,000 shares outstanding as at March 31, 20X2. Further, it has granted 
options to issue equity shares as at that date. In respect of such options, 1,00,000 shares are 
considered to be the shares issued for no consideration. There are no changes in income or 
expenses that are expected from the issue of equity shares on exercise of these options. 

Calculate Basic and Diluted EPS for XYZ Limited and for the Consolidated Group. 

Answer: 

Particulars Consolidated  Stand-alone financial  
 financial statements statements of XYZ Limited 
Basic earnings/(loss)per share Rs8[4,000,000/ 500,000] (Rs. 40)[20,000,000/ 

500,000] 
Diluted earnings/(loss)per 
share 

Rs. 
6.66[4,000,000/600,000] 

(Rs. 40)[20,000,000/ 
500,000] 

As per paragraph 39 of AS 20 “Potential equity shares should be treated as dilutive when, 
and only when, their conversion to equity shares would decrease net profit per share from 
continuing ordinary operations. 

In the above case, if the exercise of options was considered for stand-alone financial 
statements of XYZ Limited, the diluted loss per share would have reduced to Rs. 33.33 
[20,000,000/ 600,000]. As this is anti-dilutive, the options would not be treated as 
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potentially dilutive equity shares. Accordingly, in the stand-alone financial statements of XYZ 
Limited, the Diluted EPS would be same as Basic EPS. 

Question 9:  

From the following information compute diluted earnings per share. 

Net profit for the year 2008  Rs. 12,00,000 
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during year 
2008  

5,00,000 shares 

Average fair value of one equity share during the year 2008  Rs. 20 
Weighted average number of shares under option during the year 2008  1,00,000 shares 
Exercise price per share under option during the year 2008  Rs. 15 

 [Nov 2009, 4 Marks]  

Answer: Computation of diluted earnings per share 

 Earnings  Shares  Earnings 
perShare 

Net profit for the year 2008  12,00,000   
Weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year 2008 

 5,00,000  

Basic earnings per share 
(12,00,0000/5,00,000)  

  2.40 

Weighted average number of shares under 
option  

 1,00,000  

Number of shares that would have been 
issued at fair value (1,00,000 × 15.00)/20.00) 
* 

       ___ (75,000)  ___ 

Diluted earnings per share     
(12,00,0000/5,25,000)  12,00,000  5,25,000  2.29 

*The earnings have not been increased as the total number of shares has been increased 
only by the number of shares (25,000) deemed for the purpose of computation to have been 
issued for no consideration (Para 37(b) of AS 20). 

Question 10:  

From the information furnished you are required to compute the Basic and Diluted EPS 
(earnings per share) for accounting year 01-04-2011 to 31-03-2012 and adjusted EPS for the 
year 01-04-2010 to 31-03-2011. 

Net profit for year ended 31-03-2011  Rs. 75,50,000 
Net profit for year ended 31-03-2012  Rs. 1,00,25,000 
No. of equity shares as on 01-04-2011  50,00,250 
Bonus issue on 01-01-2012 1 share for every 2 held  
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No. of 12% Convertible Debentures of Rs. 100 each issued on 01-01-2012 1,00,000 
Conversion ratio of Debentures 10 shares per debenture  

Tax rate 30 percent  [May 2012, 4 Marks]  

Answer: No. of Bonus shares issued as on 1.1.2012 

On existing shares (50,00,250 x ½)    25,00,125 
shares 

On convertible debentures as per SEBI Guidelines on Bonus Issue 

(1,00,000 debentures x 10 shares x ½)   5,00,000 shares 

Basic Earnings per share for the year 2011-12= 

 Rs. 1,00,25,000 / [50,00,250 + 25,00,125 + 5,00,000] = Rs. 1.25 

Adjusted earnings per share for the year 2010-11 =  

Rs. 75,50,000/ [50,00,250 + 25,00,125 + 5,00,000] = Rs. 0.94 

For Diluted EPS 

Interest expense for the current year = Rs. 12,00,000 

Tax relating to interest expense (30%) = Rs. 3,60,000 

Adjusted net profit for the current year  

= Rs. 1,00,25,000 + (12,00,000 -3,60,000) x3/12= Rs. 1,02,35,000 

No. of equity shares resulting from conversion of debentures 

= 1,00,000 x 10 shares = 10,00,000 

No. of equity shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 

= 50,00,250 + 25,00,125 + 5,00,000 + (10,00,000 x 3/12) 

= 50,00,250 + 25,00,125 + 5,00,000 + 2,50,000= 82,50,375 shares 

Diluted earnings per share = 1,02,35,000/82,50,375 = Rs. 1.24 

Note: As per AS 20, bonus shares issued to existing shareholders and to convertible 
debenture holders (on conversion of debentures into shares) are an issue without 
consideration. Therefore, it is treated as if it had occurred prior to the beginning of the year 
2010- 11, the earliest period reported. 

Question 11: 

Determine the order to include dilutive securities in the computation of weighted average 
number of shares and calculate the diluted earnings per share on the basis of the following 
information pertaining to financial year ended 31st March, 2012: 
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Earnings, i.e., Net profit attributable to equity shareholders  Rs. 1,00,00,000 

No. of equity shares outstanding  20,00,000 

Average fair value of one equity share during the year  Rs. 75.00 

Details of Potential Equity Shares:  

Options  1,00,000 with exercise price of Rs. 60 
Convertible Preference 
Shares  

8,00,000 shares entitled to a cumulative dividend of Rs. 8 
per share.Each preference share is convertible into 2 
equityshares. 

Attributable tax, e.g. 
Dividenddistribution tax 
(DDT) 

16.2225% 

12% Convertible Debentures 
of Rs. 100 each 

Nominal amount Rs. 10,00,00,000. Eachdebenture is 
convertible into 4 equity shares. 

Tax rate  30% 

Answer: Manner of determining the order in which dilutive securitities should be included in 
computation of Weighted Average Number of Shares As per para 42 of AS 20 ‘Earnings Per 
Share’, in order to maximise the dilution of basic earnings per share, each issue or series of 
potential equity shares is considered in sequence from the most dilutive to the least dilutive. 
For the purpose of determining the sequence from most dilutive to least dilutive potential 
equity shares, the earnings per incremental potential equity share is calculated. Where the 
earnings per incremental share is the least, the potential equity share is considered most 
dilutive and vice-versa. 

Increase in Earnings Attributable to Equity Shareholders on Conversion of Potential Equity 
Shares  

 Increase in Increase in Earnings per 
 Earnings no. of Equity Incremental 
  Shares Share 
Options Nil 20,000  Nil 
Convertible Preference Shares Rs. 74,38,240 16,00,000  Rs. 4.6489 
12% Convertible Debentures Rs. 84,00,000 40,00,000  Rs. 2.10 

WN 

1. For Option:  

 No. of incremental shares issued for no consideration = {1,00,000 x (75 - 60) / 75} 

2. For Convertible Preference Shares 

 Increase in net profit attributable to equity shareholders as adjusted by attributable tax 
(DDT) = [(Rs. 8 x 8,00,000)+16.2225% of (8 x 8,00,000)] 
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 No. of incremental shares = {2 x 8,00,000} 

3. For 12% Convertible Debentures 

 Increase in net profit = {Rs. 10,00,00,000 x 0.12 x (1 -0.30)} 

 No. of incremental shares = {10,00,000 x 4} 

 It may be noted from the above that options are most dilutive as their earnings per 
incremental share is nil. Hence, for the purpose of computation of diluted earnings per 
share, options will be considered first. 12% convertible debentures being second most 
dilutive will be considered next and convertible preference shares will be considered at 
the end. 

Computation of Diluted Earnings Per Share 
 Net Profit No. of 

Equity 
EPS  

 Attributable Shares   
As reported  1,00,00,000  20,00,000  5.00  
Options   20,000   
 1,00,00,000  20,20,000  4.95  Dilutive 
12% Convertible Debentures  84,00,000  40,00,000   
 1,84,00,000  60,20,000  3.06  Dilutive 
Convertible Preference Shares  74,38,240  16,00,000   
 2,58,38,240  76,20,000  3.39  Anti-Dilutive 

 Since, diluted earnings per share is increased while taking the convertible preference 
shares into account (from Rs. 3.06 to Rs. 3.39), the convertible preference shares are 
anti-dilutive and are ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore, 
diluted earnings per share is Rs. 3.06. 

Question 12: 

PQ Ltd. grants 100 stock options to each of its 1,000 employees on 1-4-2013, conditional 
upon the employee remaining in the company for 2 years. The fair value of the option is Rs. 
18 on the grant date and the exercise price is Rs. 55 per share. The other information is given 
as under: 

(i)  The no. of employees expected to satisfy service condition are 930 in the 1st year and 
850 in the 2nd year. 

(ii)  40 employees left the company in the 1st year of service and 880 employees have 
actually completed 2 year vesting period. 

(iii)  The profit of the enterprise before amortization of the compensation cost on account 
of ESOPs is as follows: 

 (A)  Rs. 18,50,000 
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 (B)  Rs. 22,00,000 

(iv)  The fair value of share for these years was Rs. 80 and Rs. 88 respectively. 

(v)  The company has 6 lakhs shares of Rs. 10 each outstanding at the end of both years. 

Compute basic and diluted EPS for both the years (ignore the tax impacts). 

Answer: 
Calculation of Basic & Diluted EPS 2013-14 2014-15 
Profit before amortization of ESOP cost 18,50,000 22,00,000 
Less: ESOP cost amortised (8,37,000) (7,47,000) 
Net profit for shareholders 10,13,000 14,53,000 
No. of shares outstanding 6,00,000 6,00,000 
Basic EPS 1.69 2.42 
Potential equity 19,200 33,000 
Total no. of equity shares 6,19,200 6,33,000 
Diluted EPS 1.64 2.30 

Working Notes: 
1. Calculation of Potential Equity 2013-2014 2014-2015 
a. Actual no. of employees 960 880 
b. Options granted per employee 100 100 
c. No. of options outstanding 96,000 88,000 
d. Unamortised ESOP cost per option (Rs.) (Rs. 18-18/2)  
  9 0 
e. Exercise price (Rs.) 55 55 
f. Expected exercise price to be received (c x e) (Rs.) 52,80,000 48,40,000 
g. Unamortised ESOP cost (c x d) (Rs.) 8,64,000 0 
h. Total proceeds (Rs.) 61,44,000 48,40,000 
i. Fair value per share 80 88 
j. No. of shares issued for consideration (h/i) 76,800 55,000 
k. Potential Equity (c-j) 19,200 33,000 
2.  Calculation of ESOP cost to be amortised 2013-2014 2014-15 
 Fair value of options per share Rs. 18 Rs. 18 
 No. of options expected to vest under the scheme (930 x 100)  (880 x 100) 
  93,000 88,000 
 Fair value of options 16,74,000 Rs. 15,84,000 
 Value of options recognized as expenses (Rs. 

16,74,000 / 
2)  

(Rs. 
15,84,000 – 

Rs. 8,37,000) 
  8,37,000 7,47,000 
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ACCOUNTING FOR TAXES ON INCOME (AS 22) 

Q 1:  Classify the following as “Timing Difference” and “Permanent Difference” 

(i)  Interest on loans payable to Scheduled Banks not paid during current year but 
accounted as an expenditure in the books. 

(ii) Difference in Depreciation rates as per Income Tax and as per Books. 

(iii)  Unabsorbed losses. 

(iv)  Revaluation Reserve.  

Answer: Classification of the items into timing and permanent differences  is as under :- 

(i)   Interest paid to bank is a timing difference. 

(ii)  Difference in depreciation rates is a timing difference. 

(iii)  Unabsorbed losses is a timing difference. 

(iv)  Revaluation Reserve is a permanent difference. 

Q 2:  Trimurthy Pan Masala was incurring heavy losses in the last several years since it 
could not withstand the competition in the market. The state in which the Company 
had its Registered Office and also its major sales, had moved a bill in the State 
Assembly to ban manufacture and sale of all kinds of Pan Masalas in the State. While 
finalizing the accounts for the year ended 31.3.2004, the CFO of the Company created 
a Deferred Tax Assets for the tax benefits that would arise in future year from the 
earlier year’s losses that had remained unabsorbed in Income-Tax. Comment.   

Ans:  As per Para 17 of AS 22, where an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry 
forward of losses under tax laws, DTA should be recognized only to the extent that 
there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that sufficient future 
taxable income will be available against which such DTA can be realized. In this case, 
the Company may not be in a position to carry out its activities on account of the 
possible banning of its Pan Masala Sales, by the State’s legislation. Since the Virtual 
Certainty condition of Para 1 7 and ASI — 9 is not satisfied. The Company should not 
recognize any D’I’A on the unabsorbed losses. Hence the Company’s accounting 
treatment is improper. 

Q 3:  PQR Ltd’s accounting ends on 31-03-2001. The company made a loss of Rs. 200,000 
for the year ending 31-03-2001. For the years ending 31-03-2002 and 31-03-2003, it 
made profits of Rs. 100,000 and Rs. 120,000 respectively. It is assumed that the loss of 
a year can be carried forward for eight years and tax rate is 40%. By the end of 
31.03.2001, the company feels that there will be sufficient taxable income in the 
future years against which carry forward loss can be set-off. There is no difference 
between taxable income and accounting income except that the carry forward loss is 
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allowed in the years ending 2002 and 2003 for tax purposes. Prepare a statement of 
profit and loss for the years ending 2001, 2002 and 2003. [Nov 2003] 

Ans: Statement of Profit and Loss 

 31.3.2001  31.3.2002  31.3.2003 
Profit (Loss)  (2,00,000)  1,00,000  1,20,000 
Less: Current tax  --- --- (8,000) 
Deferred tax:    
Tax effect of timing differences originating     
during the year  80,000 --- ---- 
Tax effect of timing differences 
reversed/adjusted during the year 

--- (40,000) (40,000) 

PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER TAX EFFECT  (1,20,000)  60,000  72,000 

Q 4:  Z Ltd presents the following information for the year ending 31/3/2002 and 
31/3/2003 from which you are required to calculate the Deferred Tax Asset/ Liability 
and state how the same should be dealt with as per relevant accounting standard. 

  31/3/2002 31/3/2003 

  Rs. (lakhs) Rs. (lakhs) 

 Depreciation ( Excessive allowance in Tax)  4010.10 4023.54 

 Unabsorbed carry forward business loss   

 and depreciation allowance 2016.60 4110.00 

 Disallowance under Section 43B of   

 Income Tax Act, 1961  518.35 611.45 

 Deferred Revenue Expenses fully allowed by Tax 4.88 — 

 Provision for Doubtful Debts 282.51 294.35 

 Z Ltd. had incurred a loss of Rs. 504 lakhs for the year ending 31/3/2003 before 
providing for Current Tax of Rs. 26.00 lakhs.  [May 2004] 

Ans:  

 Rs. in lakhs  Rs. in lakhs 
 31.3.2002  31.3.2003 
Carried Forward Business Loss and Depreciation 
Allowance 

2,016.60  4,110.00 

Add: Disallowance under Section 43 B of Income Tax 
Act,1961  

518.35  611.45 

Provision for Doubtful Debts      282.51     294.35 
 2,817.46  5,015.80 
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Less: Depreciation   4,010.10  4,023.54 
 (1,192.64)  992.26 
Less: Deferred Revenue Expenditure           4.88            --- 
Timing Differences  (1,197.52)     992.26 
Deferred Tax Liability  359.26  
Deferred Tax Asset   297.68 

 Where an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses under 
tax laws, deferred tax assets should be recognized only to the extent that there is 
virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that future taxable income will be 
available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized. The existence of 
unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses is strong evidence that future 
taxable income may not be available. Deferred Tax Asset of Rs. 297.68 lakhs should 
not be recognized as an asset as per para 17 of AS 22 on ‘Accounting for Taxes on 
Income’. Deferred Tax Liability of Rs. 359.26 lakhs should be disclosed under a 
separate heading in the balance sheet of Z Ltd., separately from current assets and 
current liabilities. 

Q 5:  Omega Limited is working on different projects which are likely to be completed 
within 3 years period. It recognizes revenue from these contracts on percentage of 
completion method for financial statements during 2006, 2007 and 2008 for Rs. 
11,00,000, Rs. 16,00,000 and Rs. 21,00,000 respectively. However, for Income tax 
purpose, it has adopted the completed contract method under which it has 
recognized revenue of Rs. 7,00,000, Rs. 18,00,000 and Rs. 23,00,000 for the years 
2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively. Income-tax rate is 35%. Compute the amount of 
deferred tax asset/liability for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008.  [May 2009] 

Ans: Calculation of Deferred Tax Asset/Liability 

Year  Accounting Taxable Timing Deferred Tax 
 Income Income Difference 

(balance) 
Liability 

(balance) 
2006  11,00,000  7,00,000  4,00,000  1,40,000 
2007  16,00,000  18,00,000  2,00,000  70,000 
2008  21,00,000  23,00,000  NIL  NIL 
 48,00,000  48,00,000   

Q 6:  Your client is a full tax free enterprise for the first 10 years and is in the second year of 
operations. Depreciation timing difference resulting in a deferred tax liability in year 1 
& 2 is Rs. 100 million and Rs. 200 million respectively. From the 3rd year and onwards 
it is expected that the timing difference would reverse each year by Rs. 5 million. 
Determine deferred tax liability at the end of 2nd year and the charge to the P&L a/c 
if any. Assume tax rate @35%. [RTP] 
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Ans: In case of tax free companies, deferred tax liability is recognised in respect of timing 
differences that originate and reverse in the tax holiday period. Deferred tax liability 
(or asset) is created in respect of timing difference that originates in a tax holiday 
period but is expected to reverse after the tax holiday period. For this purpose, 
adjustments are done in accordance with the FIFO method. Of the Rs. 100 million, Rs. 
10 million will reverse in the tax holiday period. Therefore, deferred tax liability will be 
created on Rs. 60 million at the tax rate of 35%, i.e., Rs. 20 million. In the second year, 
the entire Rs. 200 million will reverse only after the tax holiday period therefore, 
deferred tax charge in the profit and loss account will be Rs. 70 million (200*35%) and 
deferred tax liability in the balance sheet will be Rs. 91 million (70+21). 

Q 7:  Ultra Ltd. has provided the following information. 

 Depreciation as per accounting records = Rs. 2,00,000 

 Depreciation as per tax records = Rs. 5,00,000 

 Unamortised preliminary expenses as per tax record = Rs. 30,000 

 There is adequate evidence of future profit sufficiency. How much deferred tax 
asset/liability should be recognized as transition adjustment? Tax rate 50%. [May 
2001] 

Ans: Table showing calculation of Deferred tax asset / liability 

Particulars  Amount  Timing Deferred Amount @ 
  Differences tax 50% 
Excess depreciation as per tax 3,00,000  Timing  Deferred  
records (5,00,000 – 2,00,000)   tax liability 1,50,000 
Unamortised preliminary 
expenses 

30,000  Timing  Deferred  

as per tax records   tax asset (15,000) 
Net deferred tax liability     1,35,000 

Q 8:  Miltion Ltd. is a full tax free enterprise for the first 10 year of its existence and is in the 
second year of its operations. Depreciation timing difference resulting in a deferred 
tax Liability in years 1 and 2 is Rs.200 lakhs and 400 lakhs respectively. From the 3rd 
year onwards, it is expected that the timing difference would reverse each year by 
Rs.10 lakhs. Assuming tax rate @ 35% find out the deferred tax liability at the end of 
the second year and any charge to the profit and loss account.   

Ans:   In the case of tax free companies, no deferred tax liability is recognized, in respect of 
timing differences that originate and reverse in the tax holiday period. Deferred tax 
liability or asset is created in respect of timing differences that originate in a tax 
holiday period but are expected to reverse after the tax holiday period. For this 
purpose, adjustments are done in accordance with the FIFO method. 
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 Of Rs.200 lakhs, Rs.80 lakhs will reverse in the tax holiday period. Therefore, Deferred 
Tax Liability will be created on Rs.120 lakhs @ 35% (i.e.) Rs.42 lakhs. In the second 
year, the entire Rs.400 lakhs will reverse only after the tax holiday period. 

 Therefore, deferred tax charge in the Profit and Loss Account will be Rs.400 x 35% = 
140 lakhs and deferred tax liability in the Balance Sheet will be (42+140) = Rs.182 
lakhs. 

Q 9:  Goodwill Limited is a full tax free enterprise tor the 1st 12 years of its existence and is 
in third year of operations. Depreciation timing difference resulting in a deferred tax 
liability in 1st, 2nd and 3rd year is Rs. 200 lakhs, Rs. 300 lakhs and Rs. 400 lakhs 
respectively. From the 4th year onwards, it is expected that the timing difference 
would reverse each year by Rs. 10 lakhs. Assuming tax rate @ 35%. Find out the 
deferred tax liability at the end of 3rd year and any charge to the Profit and Loss 
Account.  [Nov 2012] 

Ans:  As per an explanation to para 13 of AS 22, “Accounting for Taxes on Income”, in the 
case of tax free enterprises, no deferred tax liability is recognized, in respect of timing 
differences that originate and reverse in the tax holiday period. Deferred tax liability 
or asset is created in respect of timing differences that originate in a tax holiday 
period but are expected to reverse after the tax holiday period. For this purpose, 
adjustments are done in accordance with the FIFO method. 

 Accordingly, depreciation timing difference of Rs. 90 lakhs (Rs. 10 lakhs x 9 years) will 
reverse in the tax holiday period i.e. from 4th year to 12th year. Therefore, no 
deferred liability on Rs. 90 lakhs out of Rs. 200 lakhs, will be created. In the 1st year, 
deferred tax liability of Rs. 38.5 lakhs will be created @ 35% on Rs. 110 lakhs (Rs. 200 
lakhs – Rs. 90 lakhs) only. 

 However, the entire depreciation timing difference of 2nd and 3rd year i.e Rs. 300 
lakhs and Rs. 400 lakhs will reverse only after the tax holiday period. So, deferred tax 
liability will be created in the 2nd year for Rs. 105 lakhs (Rs. 300 x 35%) and in the 3rd 
year for Rs. 140 lakhs (Rs. 400 x 35%). 

 Therefore, total deferred tax liability in the Balance Sheet at the end of 3rd year will 
be Rs. (38.5+105+140) lakhs = Rs. 283.5 lakhs and charge to Profit and Loss account in 
the 3rd year will be Rs. 140 lakhs (Rs. 400 x 35%). 

Q 10:  Acute Ltd. is the owner of a CGU (Cash Generating Unit) block of assets whose current 
carrying cost is Rs. 999 lakhs. The company, after a detailed study by its technical 
team, has assessed the present recoverable amount of this CGU block of assets at Rs. 
555 lakhs. The value of the block of assets as per the Income tax Records is Rs. 777 
lakhs.  

 The Board of Directors of the company have issued a signed statement confirming 
that the impairment in the value of the CGU is only a temporary phenomenon which 
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is reversible in subsequent periods and also assuring virtual certainty of taxable 
incomes in the foreseeable future. You are required to show Deferred Tax workings as 
per Accounting Standards in force, given the tax rate of 30% plus 10% surcharge 
thereon. The depreciation rate for tax purposes is 15% and that per books is 13.91%.
 [May 2012] 

Ans:  Assumption: It is assumed that current carrying cost of the CGU block of asset as per 
Accounting and Tax Records are after charging depreciation of the current year. The 
assumption has been taken on the basis that impairment loss is calculated on carrying 
value after charging depreciation of the year. 

 In the absence of specific instructions, deferred tax workings of current year have 
been shown as below: 

Statement showing Deferred Tax workings for the current year Rs. in 
lakhs 

Depreciation as per Accounting books for the current year ([999/(1-
.1391)] x.1391 

161.41 

Depreciation as per Income Tax Records for the current year [777/1-
.15)]x.15 

137.12 

Timing difference  24.29 
Tax effect of the above timing difference at 33%* (deferred tax asset) 
(A)  

8.02 

Impairment Loss recognised in the profit and loss account (999- 555)  444 
Impairment Loss allowed for tax purposes  Nil 
Timing difference  444 
Tax effect of the above timing difference at 33% (deferred tax asset) 
(B)  

146.52 

Total deferred tax asset (A+B)  154.54 

Note: 

1.  Deferred tax asset should be recognised and carried forward only to the extent 
that there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be 
available against which such deferred tax asset can be realised. The Board of 
Directors of Acute Ltd. have issued signed statement confirming virtual 
certainty of taxable incomes in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the company 
can recognize deferred tax asset during the current year. 

2.  The deferred tax asset calculated on account of difference of depreciation as 
per accounting and tax records is actually a reversal of deferred tax liability 
created in the previous years. 

3 Tax rate = 30%x 110%= 33%. 
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DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS (AS 24) 
Q 1:  A healthcare goods producer has changed the product line as follows: 

  Washing soap Bathing soap 

 January 2004 – September, 2004 per month 2,00,000 2,00,000 

 October 2004 – December, 2004 per month 1,00,000 3,00,000 

 January 2005 – March, 2005 per month 0 4,00,000 

 The company has enforced a gradual enforcement of change in product line on the 
basis of an overall plan.  The Board of Directors of the Company has passed a 
resolution in March, 2004 to this effect.  The company follows calendar year as its 
accounting year. Should it be treated as discontinuing operation? [RTP] 

Ans: Business enterprises frequently close facilities, abandon products, or even product 
lines, and cane the size of their work force in response to market forces. These kinds 
of terminations, generally, are not in themselves discontinuing operations unless they 
satisfy the definition criteria. By gradually reducing the size of operations in the 
product line of Washing Soap, the company has increased its scale of operations in 
Bathing Soap. Such a change is a gradual or evolutionary, phasing out of a product line 
or class of services and does not meet definition criteria in paragraph 3(a) of AS 24 – 
namely, disposing of substantially in its entirety, a component of the enterprise.  
Hence, this change over is not a discontinuing operation. 

Q 2:  A Cosmetic articles producing company provides the following information: 

  Cold Cream Vanishing Cream 

 January, 2006 – September, 2006 per month  2,00,000 2,00,000 

 October, 2006 – December, 2006 per month 1,00,000  3,00,000 

 January, 2007 – March, 2007 per month   0   4,00,000 

 The company has enforced a gradual change in product–line on the basis of an overall 
plan. The Board of Directors of the company has passed a resolution in March, 2006 
to this effect. The company follows calendar year as its accounting year. Should this 
be treated as a discontinuing operation? Give reasons in support of your answer.     

Ans: In response to the market forces, business enterprises often abandon products or 
even product lines and reduce the size of their work-force. These actions are not in 
themselves discontinuing operations unless they satisfy the definition criteria. In the 
instant case the company has been gradually reducing operation in the product line of 
cold creams, simultaneously increasing operation in the product line of vanishing 
creams. The company was not disposing of any of its components. Phasing out a 
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product line as undertaken by the company does not meet definition criteria in 
paragraph 3 of AS 24, namely, disposing of substantially in its entirety a component of 
the enterprise. Therefore, this change over is not a discontinuing operation. 

Q 3:  Qu Ltd. is in the business of manufacture of Passenger cars and commercial vehicles. 
The company is working on a strategic plan to shift from the Passenger car segment 
over the coming 5 years However no specific plans have been drawn up for sale of 
neither the division nor its assets. As part of its plan it will reduce the production of 
passenger cars by 20% annually. It also plans to commence another new factory for 
the manufacture of commercial vehicles and transfer plus employees in a phased 
manner. 

(i)  You are required to comment if mere gradual phasing out in itself can be considered 
as a ‘Discontinuing Operation' within the meaning of AS 24. 

(ii)  lf the company passes a resolution to sell some of the assets in the passenger car 
division and also to transfer few other assets of the passenger car division to the new 
factory, does this trigger the application of AS 24 ? 

(iii)  Would your answer to the above be different if the company resolves to sell the 
assets of the Passenger Car Division in a phased but time bound manner? [Nov 2013] 

Ans: Mere gradual phasing is not considered as discontinuing operation as defined under 
para 3 of AS 24,‘Discontinuing Operation. 

 Examples of activities that do not necessarily satisfy criterion of the definition, but 
that might do so in combination with other circumstances, include: 

(i)  Gradual or evolutionary phasing out of a product line or class of service. 

(ii)  Shifting of some production or marketing activities for a particular line of business 
from one location to another and 

(iii)  Closing of a facility to achieve productivity improvements or other cost savings. 

 A Reportable business segment or geographical segment as defined in AS-17, would 
normally satisfy criteria (b) of the definition. 

In view of the above the answers are: 

(i)  No. The company’sstrategic plan has no final approval from the board through a 
resolution and no specific time bound activities like shifting of Assets and employees 
and above all the new segment commercial vehicle production line and factory has 
started. 

(ii)  No. The resolution is salient about stoppage of the Car segment in definite time 
period. Though, some assets sales and transfer proposal was passed through a 
resolution to the new factory, closure road map and new segment starting road map 
is missing. Hence, AS-24 will not be applicable. 
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(iii)  Yes. Phased and time bound programme resolved in the board clearly indicates the 
closure of the passenger car segment in a definite time frame and clear road map. 
Hence, this action will attract AS-24 compliance. 

 

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING (AS 25) 
Q 1:  Sincere Corporation is dealing in seasonal product sales pattern of the product, 

quarter wise is as follows: 

 1st quarter  30thJune  10% 

 2nd quarter  30th September  10% 

 3rd quarter  31st December  60% 

 4th quarter  31st March  20% 

 Information regarding the 1st quarter ending on 30th June, 2006 is as follows: 

 Sales  80 crores 

 Salary and other expenses  60 crores 

 Advertisement expenses (routine)  4 crores 

 Administrative and selling expenses  8 crores 

 While preparing interim financial report for first quarter Sincere Corporation wants to 
defer Rs. 10 crores expenditure to third quarter on the argument that third quarter is 
having more sales therefore third quarter should be debited by more expenditure. 
Considering the seasonal nature of business and the expenditures are uniform 
throughout all quarters, calculate the result of the first quarter as per AS-25. Also give 
a comment on the company’s view.                                                                                                      

Ans: 

Particulars  (Rs. In crores) 
Result of first quarter ending 30th June, 2006  
Turnover  80 
Other Income  Nil 
Total (a)  80 
Less: Changes in inventories  Nil 
Salaries and other cost  60 
Administrative and selling Expenses (4+8)  12 
Total (b)  72 
Profit (a)-(b)   8 
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 According to AS-25 the Income and Expense should be recognized when they are 
earned and incurred respectively. Therefore seasonal incomes will be recognized 
when they occur. Thus the company’s view is not as per AS-25. 

 As per para 38 of AS 25, the costs should be anticipated or deferred only when 

(i)  it is appropriate to anticipate that type of cost at the end of the financial year, 
and 

(ii)  costs are incurred unevenly during the financial year of an enterprise. 

Therefore, the argument given by I-Corp relating to deferment of Rs. 10 crores is not 
tenable as expenditures are uniform throughout all quarters. 

Q 2:  Kaveri Ltd. shows the net profit of Rs. 5,40,000 for quarter III after incorporating the 
following: 

(i) Bad debt of Rs. 30,000 incurred during the quarter. 50% of the bad debts have been 
deferred to next quarter. 

(ii) Extraordinary loss of Rs. 28,000 incurred during the quarter has been fully recognized 
in this quarter. 

(iii) Additional depreciation of Rs. 36,000 of third quarter, resulting from the change of 
method of depreciation. 

 Do you agree with the treatment adopted by the company?  If not, find out correct 
quarterly income as per AS 25?  [May 2006] 

Ans: In the above case, the quarterly income has not been correctly stated. As per AS 25, 
the quarterly income should be adjusted and restated as follows: 

(i) Bad debt of Rs. 30,000 have been incurred during the current quarter. Out of this, the 
company has deferred 50% i.e., Rs. 15,000 to next quarter.  This is not correct.  Rs. 
15,000 therefore, should be deducted from Rs. 5,40,000. 

(ii) The treatment of extraordinary loss of Rs. 28,000 being recognized in the same 
quarter and recognizing the additional depreciation of Rs. 36,000 in the same quarter 
is correct and in tune with AS 25.  So, no adjustment required for these two items.  

 The company should report the quarterly income as Rs. 5,25,000 (i.e., Rs. 5,40,000 – 
Rs. 15,000). 

Q 3:  On 30.6.2007, Asmitha Ltd. incurred Rs. 2,00,000, net loss from disposal of a business 
segment. Also, on 30.7.2007, the company paid Rs. 60,000 for property taxes 
assessed for the calendar year 2007. How the above transactions should be included 
in determination of net income of Asmitha Ltd. for the six months interim period 
ended on 30.9.2007. [Nov 2008] 
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Ans: According to Para 10 of AS 25 “Interim Financial Reporting”, If an enterprise prepares 
and presents a complete set of financial statements in its interim financial report, the 
form and content of those statements should conform to the requirements as 
applicable to annual complete set of financial statements. As on 30.9.2007, Asmitha 
Ltd., would report the entire Rs. 2,00,000 loss on the disposal of its business segment 
since the loss was incurred during interim period. A cost charged as an expense in an 
annual period should be allocated to Interim periods on accrual basis. Since Rs.60,000 
Property Tax payment relates to entire calendar year 2007, Rs.30,000 would be 
reported as an expense for six months ended on 30th September, 2007 while 
remaining Rs.30,000 would be reported as prepaid expenses. 

Q 4:  Antarbarti Limited reported a Profit Before Tax (PBT) of Rs. 4 lakhs for the third 
quarter ending 30-09-2011. On enquiry you observe the following, give the treatment 
required under AS 25: 

(i)  Dividend income of Rs. 4 lakhs received during the quarter has been recognized to the 
extent of Rs. 1 lakh only. 

(ii)  80% of sales promotion expenses Rs. 15 lakhs incurred in the third quarter has been 
deferred to the fourth quarter as the sales in the last quarter is high. 

(iii)  In the third quarter, the company changed depreciation method from WDV to SLM, 
which resulted in excess depreciation of Rs. 12 lakhs. The entire amount has been 
debited in the third quarter, though the share of the third quarter is only Rs. 3 lakhs. 

(iv)  Rs. 2 lakhs extra-ordinary gain received in third quarter was allocated equally to the 
third and fourth quarter. 

(v)  Cumulative loss resulting from change in method of inventory valuation was 
recognized in the third quarter of Rs. 3 lakhs. Out of this loss Rs. 1 lakh relates to 
previous quarters. 

(vi)  Sale of investment in the first quarter resulted in a gain of Rs. 20 lakhs. The company 
had apportioned this equally to the four quarters. 

 Prepare the adjusted profit before tax for the third quarter.  [Nov 2012] 

Ans: As per para 36 of AS 25 “Interim Financial Reporting”, seasonal or occasional revenue 
and cost within a financial year should not be deferred as of interim date untill it is 
appropriate to defer at the end of the enterprise’s financial year. Therefore dividend 
income, extra-ordinary gain, and gain on sale of investment received during 3rd 
quarter should be recognised in the 3rd quarter only. Similarly, sales promotion 
expenses incurred in the 3rd quarter should also be charged in the 3rd quarter only. 

 Further, as per the standard, if there is change in the accounting policy within the 
current financial year, then such a change should be applied retrospectively by 
restating the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current financial 
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year. The change in the method of depreciation or inventory valuation is a change in 
the accounting policy. 

 Therefore, the prior interim periods’ financial statements should be restated by 
applying the change in the method of valuation retrospectively. Accordingly, the 
adjusted profit before tax for the 3rd quarter will be as follows:  

 Statement showing Adjusted Profit Before Tax for the third quarter  

      (Rs. in lakhs) 

  Profit before tax (as reported)  4 

  Add: Dividend income RRs. (4-1) lakhs  3 

  Excess depreciation charged in the 3rd quarter, due to change in the  

  method, should be applied retrospectively Rs. (12-3) lakhs  9 

  Extra ordinary gain R Rs. (2-1) lakhs  1 

  Cumulative loss due to change in the method of inventory valuation  

  should be applied retrospectively Rs. (3-2) lakhs  1 

  Less: Sales promotion expenses (80% of Rs. 15 lakhs)  (12) 

  Gain on sale of investment (occasional gain should not be deferred)  (5) 

  Adjusted Profit before tax for the third quarter  1  

Q 5:  On 30-6-2011, X Limited incurred Rs. 3,00,000 net loss from disposal of a business 
segment. Also on 31-7-2011, the company paid Rs. 80,000 for property taxes assessed 
for the calendar year 2011. How should the above transactions be included in 
determination of net income of X Limited for the six months interim period ended on 
30-9-2011?  [May 2012] 

Ans: Para 28 of AS 25 “Interim Financial Reporting” states that revenues and gains should 
be recognised in interim reports on the same basis as used in annual reports. As at 
September 30, 2011, X Ltd. would report the entire Rs. 3,00,000 loss on the disposal 
of its business segment since the loss was incurred during the interim period. 

 A cost charged as an expense in an annual period should be allocated among the 
interim periods, which are clearly benefited from the expense, through the use of 
accruals and/or deferrals. Since Rs. 80,000 property tax payment relates to the entire 
2011 calendar year, only Rs. 40,000 of the payment would be reported as an expense 
at September 30, 2011, while out of the remaining Rs. 40,000, Rs. 20,000 for Jan. 
2011 to March, 2011 would be shown as payment of the outstanding amount of 
previous year and another Rs. 20,000 related to quarter October, 2011 to December, 
2011, would be reported as a prepaid expense. 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 152 
 
 
 

Q 6:  An enterprise reports quarterly, estimates an annual income of Rs. 10 lakhs. Assume 
tax rates on 1st Rs. 5,00,000 at 30% and on the balance income at 40%. The estimated 
quarterly income are Rs. 75,000, Rs. 2,50,000, Rs. 3,75,000 and Rs. 3,00,000. Calculate 
the tax expense to be recognized in each quarter. [May 2011] 

Ans: As per para 29 of AS 25 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, income tax expense is 
recognised in each interim period based on the best estimate of the weighted average 
annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year. 

Estimated Annual Income  Rs.10,00,000 
Tax expense:  
30% on Rs. 5,00,000  Rs. 1,50,000 
40% on remaining Rs. 5,00,000  Rs.2,00,000 
 Rs.3,50,000 
Weighted average annual income tax rate = 3,50,000/10,00,000 
=  

35% 

Tax expense to be recognised in each of the quarterly reports  
Quarter I - Rs. 75,000 x 35%  Rs. 26,250 
Quarter II - Rs. 2,50,000 x 35%  Rs. 87,500 
Quarter III - Rs. 3,75,000 x 35%  Rs. 1,31,250 
Quarter IV - Rs. 3,00,000 x 35%  Rs. 1,05,000 
 Rs. 3,50,000 

Q 7:  To comply with listing requirements and other statutory obligations Quaker Ltd. 
prepares interim financial reports at the end of each quarter. The company has 
brought forward losses of Rs. 700 lakhs under Income Tax Law, of which 90% is 
eligible for set off as per the recent verdict of the Court, that has attained finality. No 
Deferred Tax Asset has been recognized on such losses in view of the uncertainty over 
its eligibility for set off. The company has reported quarterly earnings of Rs. 700 lakhs 
and Rs. 300 lakhs respectively for the first two quarters of Financial year 2013-14 and 
·anticipates a net earning of Rs. 800 lakhs in the coming half year ended March 2014 
of which Rs. 100 lakhs will be the loss in the quarter ended Dec. 2013. The tax rate for 
the company is 30% with a 10% surcharge. 

 You are required to calculate the amount of Tax Expense to be reported for each 
quarter of financial year 2013-14.  [May 2013] 

Ans: Estimated tax liability on annual income  

 = [Income Rs.1,800 lakhs less b/f losses Rs. 630 lakhs (90% of 700)] x 33% 

 = 33% of Rs. 1,170 lakhs = Rs. 386.10 lakhs 

 As per Para 29(c) of AS 25 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, income tax expense is 
recognised in each interim period based on the best estimate of the weighted average 
annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year. 
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 Thus, estimated weighted average annual income tax rate = Rs. 386.10 lakhs divided 
by Rs. 1,800 lakhs=21.45% 

 Tax expense to be recognised in each quarter   

 Rs. in lakhs  
Quarter I – Rs. 700 lakhs x 21.45%  150.15 
Quarter II – Rs. 300 lakhs x 21.45%  64.35 
Quarter III – (Rs. 100 lakhs) x 21.45%  (21.45) 
Quarter IV – Rs. 900 lakhs x 21.45%  193.05 

Q 8:  When different rates of tax are applicable to different portions of the estimated annual 
accounting income  

 Estimated annual income  Rs. 1 lakh  

 (inclusive of Estimated Capital Gains (earned in Quarter II)  Rs. 20,000  

 Assumed Tax Rates:   

On Capital Gains  10%  
On other income:   
First Rs. 40,000  30%  
Balance income  40%  

 Assuming there is no difference between the estimated taxable income and the 
estimated accounting income, calculate tax expense and weighted average 
annualeffective tax rate. Also, calculate tax expense for each quarter, when the 
estimatedincome of each quarter is Rs. 25,000 and income for 2nd quarter of Rs. 
25,000 includescapital gain of Rs. 20,000. 

Ans: 
Tax Expense:   
On Capital Gains portion of annual income:   
10% of Rs. 20,000  Rs. 2,000  
On other income: 30% of Rs. 40,000 + 40% of Rs.40,000  Rs.28,000  
Total:  Rs.30,000  
Weighted Average Annual Effective Tax Rate:   
On Capital Gains portion of annual income: 2000/20000 x 100 
=  

10%  

On other income: 28,000/80,000 x 100 =  35%  

 The estimated income of each quarter is Rs.25,000, when income of Rs.25,000 for 2nd 
Quarter includes capital gains of Rs.20,000, the tax expense for each quarter will be 
calculated as below:  

 Income  Tax Expense 
Quarter I:  Rs. 25,000  35% of Rs. 25,000 = Rs. 8,750  



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 154 
 
 
 

Quarter II:  Capital Gains: Rs. 20,000  10% of Rs. 20,000 = Rs. 2,000  
 Other: Rs. 5,000  35% of Rs. 5,000 = Rs. 1,750  
Quarter III:  Rs. 25,000  35% of Rs. 25,000 = Rs. 8,750  
Quarter IV:  Rs. 25,000  35% of Rs. 25,000 = Rs. 8,750  
Total tax expense for the year  Rs. 30,000  

 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (AS 26) 
Q 1 A company acquired for its internal use a software on 28.01.2012 from the USA for US 

$ 1,00,000. The exchange rate on that date was Rs. 52 per USD. The seller allowed 
trade discount @ 5 %. The other expenditure were: 

(i)  Import Duty : 20% 

(ii)  Purchase Tax : 10% 

(iii)  Entry Tax : 5 % (Recoverable later from tax department) 

(iv)  Installation expenses : Rs. 25,000 

(v)  Profession fees for Clearance from Customs : Rs. 20,000 

Compute the cost of Software to be capitalized.                                     [Nov 2012] 

Ans: Calculation of cost of software (intangible asset) acquired for internal use 

 Purchase cost of the software  $ 1,00,000 

 Less: Trade discount @ 5%  ($ 5,000) 

  $ 95,000 

 Cost in Rs. (US $ 95,000 x Rs. 52)  49,40,000 

 Add: Import duty on cost @ 20% (Rs.)  9,88,000 

  59,28,000 

 Purchase tax @ 10% (Rs.)  5,92,800 

 Installation expenses (Rs.)  25,000 

 Profession fee for clearance from customs (Rs.)  20,000 

 Cost of the software to be capitalised (Rs.)  65,65,800 

Q 2 A Pharma Company spent Rs 33 lakhs during the accounting year ended 31st March, 
2006 on a research project to develop a drug to treat “AIDS”. Experts are of the view 
that it may take four years to establish whether the drug will be effective or not and 
even if found effective it may take two to three more years to produce the medicine, 
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which can be marketed. The company wants to treat the expenditure as deferred 
revenue expenditure. Comment.  

Ans: As per AS 26 ‘Intangible Assets’, no intangible asset arising from research (or from the 
research phase of an internal project) should be recognized. Expenditure on research 
(or on the research phase of an internal project) should be recognized as an expense 
when it is incurred. 

 Thus the company cannot treat the expenditure as deferred revenue expenditure. 
The entire amount of Rs 33 lakhs spent on research project should be charged as an 
expense in the year ended 31st March, 2006. 

Q 3 AB Ltd. launched a project for producing product X in October, 2004. The Company 
incurred Rs.20 lakhs towards Research and Development expenses upto 31st March, 
2006. Due to prevailing market conditions, the Management came to conclusion that 
the product cannot be manufactured and sold in the market for the next 10 years. 
The Management hence wants to defer the expenditure write off to future years. 
Advise the Company as per the applicable Accounting Standard.  [May 2006] 

Ans: As per AS 26 “Intangible Assets”, expenditure on research should be recognized as an 
expense when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from development (or from 
the development phase of an internal project) should be recognized if, and only if, an 
enterprise can demonstrate all of the conditions specified in para 44 of the standard. 
An intangible asset (arising from development) should be derecognised when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use according to para 87 of the 
standard. Therefore, the manager cannot defer the expenditure write off to future 
years. 

 Hence, the expenses amounting Rs 20 lakhs incurred on the research and 
development project has to be written off in the current year ending 31st March, 
2006. 

Q 4 M Ltd. launched a project for producing product A in Nov. 2008. The company 
incurred Rs. 30 lakhs towards Research and Development expenses upto 31st March, 
2010. Due to unfavourable market conditions the management feels that it is not 
possible to manufacture and sold the product in the market for next so many years. 
The management hence wants to defer the expenditure write off to future years. 
Advise the company as per the applicable Accounting Standard.  [Nov 2010] 

Ans:  As per AS 26 “Intangible Assets”, expenditure on research should be recognised as an 
expense when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from development (or from 
the development phase of an internal project) should be recognized if and only if, an 
enterprise can demonstrate all of the conditions specified in para 44 of the standard. 
An intangible asset (arising from development) should be derecognised when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use according to the provisions of AS 
26. Therefore, the management can not defer the expenditure write off to future 
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years and the company is required to expense the entire amount of Rs. 30 lakhs in the 
Profit and Loss account of the year ended 31st March, 2010. 

Q 5 An enterprise acquired patent right for Rs. 400 lakhs. The product life cycle has been 
estimated to be 5 years and the amortization was decided in the ratio of estimated 
future cash flows which are as under: 

 Year  Estimated Future Cash Flows (Rs. in lakhs) 

 1  200 

 2  200 

 3  200 

 4  100 

 5  100 

 After 3rd year, it was ascertained that the patent would have an estimated balance 
future life of 3 years and the estimated cash flow after 5th year is expected to be Rs. 
50 lakhs. Determine the amortization under Accounting Standard 26.  [May 2013] 

Ans: Amortization of cost of patent as per AS 26 

Year  Estimated future cash 
flow 

Amortization Ratio Amortized Amount 

   (Rs. in lakhs) 
1  200  .25  100 
2  200  .25  100 
3  200  .25  100 
4  100  .40 (Revised)  40 
5  100  .40 (Revised)  40 
6  50  .20 (Revised)  20 
   400 

 In the first three years, the patent cost will be amortised in the ratio of estimated 
future cash flows i.e. (200: 200: 200: 100: 100). 

 The unamortized amount of the patent after third year will be Rs. 100 (400-300) 
which will be amortised in the ratio of revised estimated future cash flows 
(100:100:50) in the fourth, fifth and sixth year. 

Q 6 Dell International Ltd. is developing a new production process. During the financial 
Year 31st March, 2006, the total expenditure incurred on this process was Rs 40 lakhs. 
The production process met the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset on 1st 
Dec 2005. Expenditure incurred till this date was Rs 16 lakhs. Further expenditure 
incurred on the process for the financial year ending 31st March 2007, was Rs 70 
lakhs. As at 31-3-2007, the recoverable amount of know-how embodied in the 
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process is estimated to be Rs 62 lakhs. This includes estimates of future cash outflows 
as well as inflows. You are required to work out: 

(a)  What is the expenditure to be charged to the profit and loss account for the financial 
year ended 31st March 2006? (Ignore depreciation for this purpose) 

(b)  What is the carrying amount of the intangible asset as at 31st March 2006? 

(c)  What is the expenditure to be charged to the profit and loss account for the financial 
year ended 31st March 2007? (Ignore depreciation for this purpose) 

(d)  What is the carrying amount of the intangible asset as at 31st March 2007? 

Ans: 

(a)  Rs 16 lakhs 

(b)  Carrying amount as on 31-3-2006 will be expenditure incurred after 1-12-2005= Rs 24 
lakhs 

(c)  Book cost of intangible asset as on 31-3-2007 is as follows 

 Total Book cost = Rs(70 + 24) lakhs = Rs 94 lakhs 

 Recoverable amount as estimated = Rs 62 lakhs 

 Difference to be charged to Profit and Loss account = Rs 32 lakhs 

(d)  Rs 62 lakhs 

Q 7 NDA Corporation is engaged in research on a new process design for its product. It 
had incurred an expenditure of Rs 530 lakhs on research upto 31st March, 09. The 
development of the process began on 1st April, 09 and Development phase 
expenditure was Rs 360 lakhs upto 31st March, 10 which meets assets recognition 
criteria. 

 From 1st April, 10, the company will implement the new process design which will 
result in after tax saving of Rs 80 lakhs per annum for the next five years. The cost of 
capital of company is 10%. Explain: 

(1)  Accounting treatment for research expenses. 

(2)  The cost of internally generated intangible asset as per AS 26. 

(3)  The amount of amortization of the assets. (The present value of annuity factor of Rs 1 
for 5 years @ 10% = 3.7908) [Nov 2010, Nov 2013] 

Ans:  

(i)  Research Expenditure - According to para 41 of AS 26 ‘Intangible Assets’, the 
expenditure on research of new process design for its product Rs 530 lakhs should be 
charged to Profit and Loss Account in the year in which it is incurred. It is presumed 
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that the entire expenditure is incurred in the financial year 2008-09. Hence, it should 
be written off as an expense in that year itself. 

(ii)  Cost of internally generated intangible asset - The question states that the 
development phase expenditure amounting Rs 360 lakhs incurred upto 31st March, 
2010 meets asset recognition criteria. As per AS 26 for measurement of such 
internally generated intangible asset, fair value can be estimated by discounting 
estimated future net cash flows. 

 Savings (after tax) from implementation of new design for next 5 years : 80 lakhs p.a. 

 Company’s cost of capital 10 % 

 Annuity factor @ 10% for 5 years 3.7908 

 Present value of net cash flows (Rs 80 lakhs x 3.7908)  303.26 lakhs 

 The cost of an internally generated intangible asset would be lower of cost value Rs 
360 lakhs or present value of future net cash flows Rs303.26 lakhs. 

 Hence, cost of an internally generated intangible asset will be Rs 303.26 lakhs. 

 The difference of Rs 56.74 lakhs (i.e. Rs 360 lakhs – Rs 303.26 lakhs) will be amortized 
by the enterprise for the financial year 2009-10. 

(iii)  Amortisation - The company can amortise Rs 303.26 lakhs over a period of five years 
by charging Rs 60.65 lakhs per annum from the financial year 2010-11 onwards. 

Q 8:  Swift Ltd. acquired a patent at a cost of Rs.80,00,000 for a period of 5 years and the 
product lifecycle is also 5 years. The company capitalized the cost and started 
amortizing the asset at Rs.10,00,000 per annum. After two years it was found that the 
product life-cycle may continue for another 5 years from then. The net cash flows 
from the product during these 5 years were expected to be Rs.36,00,000, 
Rs.46,00,000, Rs.44,00,000, Rs.40,00,000 and Rs.34,00,000. Find out the amortization 
cost of the patent for each of the years.  [May 2006] 

Ans: Swift Limited amortised Rs.10,00,000 per annum for the first two years i.e. 
Rs.20,00,000. The remaining carrying cost can be amortized during next 5 years on 
the basis of net cash flows arising from the sale of the product. The amortisation may 
be found as follows: 

Year  Net cash flows  Amortization 
Ratio  

Amortization 
Amount 

I  -  0.125  10,00,000 
II  -  0.125  10,00,000 
III  36,00,000  0.180  10,80,000 
IV  46,00,000  0.230  13,80,000 
V  44,00,000  0.220  13,20,000 
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VI  40,00,000  0.200  12,00,000 
VII  34,00,000  0.170  10,20,000 
Total  2,00,00,000  1.000  80,00,000 

 It may be seen from above that from third year onwards, the balance of carrying 
amount i.e., Rs. 60,00,000 has been amortized in the ratio of net cash flows arising 
from the product of Swift Ltd. 

 Note: The answer has been given on the basis that the patent is renewable and Swift 
Ltd. got it renewed after expiry of five years. 

Q 9:  Refiners and Projects Limited is a company in the oil and gas sector. It undertakes 
extensive research and development work as part of its operations. It has till the end 
of the financial year 31 March, 2008 spent Rs. 592.23 crores on research expenses.  

 The development of a new process was completed in the accounting year 2008-2009 
after incurring an expenditure of Rs. 322.26 crores. In the accounting year 2009-2010, 
the company implemented the new process resulting in a post tax saving of Rs. 100 
crores in the first year of operation and savings of Rs. 80 crores per annum thereafter 
for the next four years.  

 The cost of capital to the company is 12 per cent.  

 Kindly indicate how you will, in the background of accounting standards prescribed, 
proceed to record the transactions in the books of accounts of the company.  

 You are given to understand that the research expenses shown above do not include 
any general or selling and administrative expenses.  

 The present value discounted at 12 per cent of a Rupee can be adopted at .893, .797, 
.712, .636 and .567 for the purposes of calculation.  [May 2010]  

Ans: As per para 41 of AS 26 “Intangible Assets”, no intangible asset arising from research 
(or from the research phase of an internal project) should be recognised. Expenditure 
on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) should be recognised as 
an expense when it is incurred. Therefore, the amount of Rs. 592.23 crores incurred 
on research till the end of financial year ended 31 March, 2008 cannot be capitalised 
and hence has to expensed in the year in which it is incurred. In case the same is still 
unexpensed it will have to be written off under ‘Prior period Expenditure’. As per para 
44 of the standard, an intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) should be recognised if, and only if, an 
enterprise can demonstrate all of the conditions specified in the standard.  

 From the facts given in the question, it can be reasonably assumed that the criteria 
specified in the standard for recognition of an internally generated intangible asset 
arising in the development phase are met and the Refiners and Projects Ltd. can 
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demonstrate that future economic benefits from the intangible asset are probable. 
Hence, development cost of Rs. 322.26 crores is eligible for capitalization.  

 As per para 62 of AS 26, after initial recognition, an intangible asset should be carried 
at its cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 
In the given case, present value of future cash flows amounting Rs.306.26 crores [(Rs 
100 crores x 0.893) + (Rs. 80 crores x 0.797) + (Rs.80 crores x 0.712) + (Rs. 80 crores x 
0.636) + (Rs. 80 crores x 0.567)] is less than the cost incurred, it is prudent to carry the 
intangible asset at the discounted value of future cash flows (Rs. 306.26 crores). The 
excess of cost incurred over present values amounting Rs. 16 crores (322.26 – 306.26) 
has to be recognised as an impairment loss in the year 2008 – 09.  

 According to para 63 of the standard, depreciable amount of an intangible asset 
should be allocated on a systematic basis over the best estimate of its useful life. 
There is a rebuttable presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not 
exceed ten years from the date when the asset is available for use. Amortization 
should commence when the asset is available for use. In the given case, the value of 
intangible asset should be amortized over a period of five years by following the 
straight line method. Therefore, an annual depreciation of Rs. 61.25 crores (Rs. 
306.26 crores/5) should be charged for each year beginning with 2009-10.  

Q 10:  During the financial year 2011-2012, Smart Ltd. had the following transactions: 

(i)  On 1st April 2011, Smart Ltd. purchased new asset of Ok Ltd. for Rs. 7,20,000. The fair 
value of Ok Ltd.’s identifiable net assets was Rs. 3,44,000. Smart Ltd. is of the view 
that due to popularity of Ok Ltd.’s products, the life of resulting goodwill is unlimited. 

(ii)  On May 2011, Smart Ltd., purchased a franchise to operate boating service from the 
State Government for Rs. 1,20,000 and at an annual fee of 1% of boating revenues. 
The franchise expires after 5 years. Boating revenues were Rs. 40,000 during financial 
year 2011-2012. Smart Ltd. projects future revenue of Rs. 80,000 in 2012-2013 and 
Rs. 1,20,000 per annum for 3 years thereafter. 

(iii)  On 5th July 2011, Smart Ltd. was granted a patent that had been applied for by Ok 
Ltd. During 2011-12, Smart Ltd. incurred legal costs of Rs. 1,02,000 to register the 
patent and an additional Rs. 1,70,000 to successfully prosecute a patent infringement 
suit against a competitor. Smart Ltd. expects the patents economic life to be 10 years. 
Smart Ltd. follows an accounting policy to amortize all intangibles on straight line 
basis over the maximum period permitted by accounting standard taking a full year 
amortization in the year of acquisition. 

 Prepare 

(a)  A schedule showing the intangible section in Smart Ltd. balance sheet at 31st March 
2012. 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 161 
 
 
 

(b)  A schedule showing the related expenses that would appear in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss of Smart Ltd. for 2011-2012. [RTP] 

Ans:  

(a)  Smart Ltd. 

 Balance Sheet (Extract) as on 31st March 2012 

  Note 
No. 

 Rs. 

II Assets   
(1)  Non- current asset   
 a) Fixed assets   
 Intangible assets  1  6,79,200 

(b)  Statement of Profit and Loss (Extract) for the year ended 31st March 2012 

  Note 
No.  

Rs. 

 Revenue from Operations   40,000 
 Total Revenue   ? 
 Expenses:   
 Amortization  2  88,800 
 Other expenses  3  400 
 Total Expenses   ? 

 Notes to Accounts (Extract)  Rs. 

1.  Intangible assets  
 Goodwill (Refer to note 1)  3,38,400 
 Franchise (Refer to Note 2)  96,000 
 Patents  2,44,800  
  6,79,200 
2.  Amortization expenses  
 Goodwill  37,600 
 Franchise  24,000 
 Legal Cost  27,200  
  88,800 
3.  Other expenses  
 Franchise for 1% of 40,000  400 

 Working Notes:  Rs. 

(1)  Cash Paid  7,20,000 
 Less: Fair value of net assets  (3,44,000) 
 Goodwill  3,76,000 
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 Less: Amortisation (over 10 years as per SLM)  (37,600) 
 Balance to be shown in the balance sheet  3,38,400 
(2)  Franchise  1,20,000 
 Less: Amortisation (over five years)  (24,000) 
 Balance to be shown in the balance sheet  96,000 
(3)  Legal Costs (Rs. 1,02,000 + Rs. 1,70,000)  2,72,000 
 Less: Amortisation (over ten years as per SLM)  (27,200) 
 Balance to be shown in the balance sheet  2,44,800 

As per para 63 of AS 26, ‘Intangible Assets’, there is a rebuttable presumption that 
useful life of a intangible asset will not exceed ten years. If life is taken for more than 
10 years, then company will have to disclose the significant reasons for the 
assumption. Here, Smart Ltd. has simply stated that life is unlimited by saying that Ok 
Ltd.’s products are popular. However, this cannot be constituted as significant reason. 
Therefore, this assumption has not been taken into consideration. 

Q 11 Nirman Solutions incurred costs to develop and produce a routine, low risk computer 
software product, as follows, as on 31st March, 2016: 

 Completion of detailed program design Rs.15,00,000 

 Costs incurred for coding and testing to establish technological feasibility Rs. 8,00,000 

 Other coding and testing costs after establishment of technological feasibility Rs. 
6,50,000 

 Cost of producing product masters for training materials Rs. 4,20,000 

 Duplication of computer software and training materials from Product masters  

 (5000 units) Rs. 2,50,000 

 Packaging product (2500 units) Rs. 1,50,000 

(i)  What amount should be capitalized as software cost, subject to amortization of 
Nirman Solutions as on 31st March, 2016. 

(ii)  What amount should be reported in Inventory of Nirman Solutions as on 31st March, 
2016.  

    [Nov 2016]  

Ans:  
(i)  As per AS 26, costs incurred in creating a computer software product should be 

charged to research and development expense when incurred until technological 
feasibility has been established for the product. Technological feasibility has been 
established upon completion of detailed program design or working model. In this 
case, Rs. 23,00,000 would be recorded as an expense (Rs. 15,00,000 for completion of 
detailed program design and Rs. 8,00,000 for coding and testing to establish 
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technological feasibility). Cost incurred from the point of technological feasibility until 
the time when products costs are incurred are capitalized as software cost. In this 
situation, Rs. 10,70,000 (i.e. Rs. 6,50,000 + Rs. 4,20,000) will be capitalized as the cost 
of the software.  

(ii)  The cost of duplication of computer software and training materials from product 
masters (5,000 units) amounting Rs. 2,50,000 and packaging product (2,500 units) 
amounting Rs. 1,50,000 should be reported as inventory cost as on 31st March, 2016 
i.e. inventory value is total of Rs. 4,00,000.  

 

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (AS 28) 
Q 1:  Mohan Ltd. gives the following estimates of cash flows relating to fixed asset on 31-

12-2000. The discount rate is 15% 

 Year Cash Flow (Rs. in lakhs) 

 2001 2000 

 2002 3000 

 2003 3000 

 2004 4000 

 2005 2000 

 Residual value at the end of 2005 500 

 Fixed asset was purchased on 1-1-1998 for Rs. 20,000 Lakhs 

 Useful Life was 8 years 

 Residual value estimated Rs. 500 lakhs at the end of 8 years. Net selling price Rs. 
10,000 lakhs. 

 Calculate on 31-12-2000 

a.  Impairment loss to be recognised for the year ended 31-12-2000 

c.  Depreciation charge for 2001 

Ans:  

Value in use   Rs. 9,513 lakhs 
Carrying amount on 31-12-2000 Rs. 12687 lakhs 
Net Selling price as given  Rs. 10000 lakhs 
Recoverable amount (higher of 9513 and 10000) Rs. 10000 lakhs 
Impairment loss Rs. 2687 lakhs 
Depreciation charge for 2001  = (10,000 – 500) /5   Rs. 1900 lakhs  
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Q 2:  A plant was acquired 15 years ago at a cost of Rs. 5 crores. Its accumulated 
depreciation as at 31st March, 2009 was Rs. 4.15 crores. Depreciation estimated for 
the financial year 2009-10 is Rs. 25 lakhs. Estimated Net Selling Price as on 31st 
March, 2009 was Rs. 30 lakhs, which is expected to decline by 20 per cent by the end 
of the next financial year. Its value in use has been computed at Rs. 35 lakhs as on 1st 
April, 2009, which is expected to decrease by 30 per cent by the end of the financial 
year.  

(i)  Assuming that other conditions for applicability of the impairment Accounting 
Standard are satisfied, what should be the carrying amount of this plant as at 31st 
March, 2010?  

(ii)  How much will be the amount of write off for the financial year ended 31st March, 
2010?  

(iii)  If the plant had been revalued ten years ago and the current revaluation reserves 
against this plant were to be Rs. 12 lakhs, how would you answer to questions (i) and 
(ii) above?  

(iv)  If the value in use was zero and the enterprise were required to incur a cost of Rs. 2 
lakhs to dispose of the plant, what would be your response to questions (i) and (ii) 
above?  [May 2010] 

Ans: As per AS 28 “Impairment of Assets”, if the recoverable amount of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset should be reduced to its 
recoverable amount and that reduction is an impairment loss. An impairment loss on 
a revalued asset is recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. 
However, an impairment loss on a revalued asset is recognised directly against any 
revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not 
exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. In the given 
case, recoverable amount (higher of asset’s net selling price and value in use) will be 
Rs. 24.5 lakhs on 31.3.2010 according to the provisions of AS 28 [Refer working note]. 
  

  (Rs. in lakhs)  
(i)  Carrying amount of plant (after impairment) as on 31st 

March, 2010  
24.50 

(ii)  Amount of write off (impairment loss) for the financial year 
ended 31st March, 2010 [Rs. 60 lakhs – Rs. 24.5 lakhs] 

 35.50  

(iii)  If the plant had been revalued ten years ago   
 Debit to revaluation reserve  12.00  
 Amount charged to profit and loss account (Rs. 35.50 lakhs–

Rs. 12 lakhs)  
23.50  

(iv)  If Value in use is zero   
 Value in use (a)  Nil  
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 Net selling price (b)  (-)2.00  
 Recoverable amount [higher of (a) and (b)]  Nil  
 Carrying amount (closing book value)  Nil  
 Amount of write off (impairment loss)(Rs. 60 lakhs – Nil)  60.00  

 Entire book value of plant will be written off and charged to profit and loss account.  

 Working Note:  

 Calculation of Closing Book Value, Estimated Net Selling Value and Estimated Value 
in Use of Plant at 31stMarch, 2010.  (Rs. in lakhs)  

Opening book value as on 1.4.2009 (Rs. 500 lakhs –Rs. 415 lakhs)  85  
Less: Depreciation for financial year 2009 – 10  (25)  
Closing book value as on 31.3.2010  60  
Estimated net selling price as on 1.4.2009  30  
Less: Estimated decrease during the year (20% of Rs. 30 lakhs)  (6)  
Estimated net selling price as on 31.3.2010  24  
Estimated value in use as on 1.4.2009  35.0  
Less: Estimated decrease during the year (30% of Rs. 35 lakhs)  (10.5)  
Estimated value in use as on 31.3.2010  24.5  

Q 3:  Enterprise M has three cash-generating units: A, B and C. There are adverse changes 
in the technological environment in which M operates. At the end of 2010, the 
carrying amounts of A, B and C are Rs. 100 lakhs, Rs. 150 lakhs and Rs. 200 lakhs 
respectively. 

 The operations are conducted from a headquarter. The carrying amount of the 
headquarter assets is Rs. 200 lakhs: a headquarter building of Rs. 150 lakhs and a 
research centre of Rs. 50 lakhs. The relative carrying amounts weighted according to 
life, of the cash-generating units are a reasonable indication of the proportion of the 
head-quarter building devoted to each cash-generating unit. The carrying amount of 
the research centre cannot be allocated on a reasonable basis to the individual cash-
generating units. 

 The remaining estimated useful life of cash-generating unit A is 10 years. The 
remaining useful lives of B, C and the headquarter assets are 20 years. The 
headquarter assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

 There is no basis on which to calculate a net selling price for each cash-generating 
unit. Value in use is to be calculated using a pre-tax discount rate of 15%. 

 Cash Flows projected are as follows (Rs. in lakhs) 

 Year A B C M 

 1 18 9 10 39 
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 2 31 16 20 72 

 3 37 24 34 105 

 4 42 29 44 128 

 5 47 32 51 143 

 6 52 33 56 155 

 7 55 34 60 162 

 8 55 35 63 166 

 9 53 35 65 167 

 10 48 35 66 169 

 11  36 66 132 

 12  35 66 131 

 13  35 66 131 

 14   33 65 128 

 15  30 62 122 

 16  26 60 115 

 17  22 57 108 

 18  18 51 97 

 19  14 43 85 

 20  10 35 71 

 Calculate Impairment loss and carrying amount of assets 

Ans:  The carrying amount of the headquarter building is allocated to the carrying amount 
of each individual cash-generating unit. A weighted allocation basis is used because 
the estimated remaining useful life of A’s cash-generating unit is 10 years, whereas 
the estimated remaining useful lives of B and C’s cash-generating units are 20 years. 

 Calculation of a weighted allocation of the carrying amount of the headquarter 
building  

 (Amount in Rs. lakhs) 
End of 20X0  A  B  C  Total 
Carrying amount  100  150  200  450 
Useful life  10 

years 
 20 years  20 years  

Weighting based on useful life  1  2  2  
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Carrying amount after weighting  100  300  400  800 
Pro-rata allocation of the building  12.5%  37.5%  50%  100% 
Allocation of the carrying amount of the 
building 

    

(based on pro-rata above)  19  56  75  150 
Carrying amount (after allocation of the 
building)  

119  206  275  600 

 The ‘bottom-up’ test requires calculation of the recoverable amount of each 
individual cash-generating unit. The ‘top-down’ test requires calculation of the 
recoverable amount of M as a whole (the smallest cash generating unit that includes 
the research centre). 

 Calculation of Value in use 

 A  B  C  M 
Value in use  199  164  271  720 

 Calculation of Impairment Losses 

 In accordance with the ‘bottom-up’ test, M compares the carrying amount of each 
cash-generating unit (after allocation of the carrying amount of the building) to its 
recoverable amount. 

Application of ‘bottom-up’ test  (Amount in Rs. lakhs) 
End of 20X0  A  B  C 
Carrying amount (after allocation of the 
building)   

119  206  275 

Recoverable amount   199  164  271 
Impairment loss  0  (42)  (4) 

 The next step is to allocate the impairment losses between the assets of the cash-
generating units and the headquarter building. 

Allocation of the impairment losses for cash-
generating units B and C  

(Amount in Rs. lakhs) 

Cash-generating unit  B C 
To headquarter building  (12) 

(42*56/206) 
(1) 

(4*75/275) 
To assets in cash-generating unit  (30) 

(42*150/206)  
(3) 

(4*200/275) 
 (42)  (4) 

 In accordance with the ‘top-down’ test, since the research centre could not be 
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to A, B and C’s cash-generating units, 
M compares the carrying amount of the smallest cash generating unit to which the 
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carrying amount of the research centre can be allocated (i.e., M as a whole) to its 
recoverable amount. 

Application of the ‘top-down’ test  (Amount in Rs. lakhs) 
End of 20X0  A  B  C  Building  Researc

h  
M 

Carrying amount  100  150  200  150  50  650 
Impairment loss arising from the 
‘bottom-up’ test  

–  (30
)  

(3)  (13)  –  (46) 

Carrying amount after the ‘bottom-
up’ test  

100  120  197  137  50  604 

Recoverable amount      720 
Impairment loss arising from ‘top-
down’ test 

      0 

 Therefore, no additional impairment loss results from the application of the ‘top-
down’ test. Only an impairment loss of Rs. 46 lakhs is recognised as a result of the 
application of the ‘bottom-up’ test. 

Q 4:  At the end of 2000, enterprise F tests a plane for impairment. The plane is a cash-
generating unit. It is carried at depreciated historical cost and its carrying amount is 
Rs. 1,500 lakhs. It has an estimated remaining useful life of 10 years. 

 It is assumed that the plane’s net selling price is not determinable.  Value in use is 
calculated using a pre-tax discount rate of 14%. 

 Management approved budgets reflect that: 

(a) in 2004, capital expenditure of Rs. 250 lakhs will be incurred to renew the engine of 
the plane; and 

(b) this capital expenditure will improve the performance of the plane by decreasing fuel 
consumption. 

 At the End of 2000 value in use is estimated at Rs. 1211.28 Lakhs excluding renewal 
effects and Rs. 1235.66 after including renewal effects. 

 At the end of 2004, renewal costs are incurred. The plane’s estimated future cash 
flows reflected in the most recent management approved budgets are Rs. 1220.72 
discounted at 14%. This includes estimated benefits from renewal of engine. 

 Calculate carrying amount of plane account at the end of 2004 after reversal of 
impairment of loss. 

Ans: At the End of 2000 

 The plane’s carrying amount is less than its recoverable amount (value in use). 
Therefore, F recognises an impairment loss for the plane at the end of 2000. 



                           +91-7731007722 
 

www.cachiranjeevjain.com Page 169 
 
 
 

Calculation of the impairment loss at the end of 2000  (Amount in 
Rs. lakhs) 

 Plane 
Carrying amount before impairment loss  1,500.00 
Recoverable amount   1,211.28 
Impairment loss  (288.72) 
Carrying amount after impairment loss  1,211.28 
Impairment of Assets  599 

 Years 2001-2003 

 No event occurs that requires the plane’s recoverable amount to be re-estimated. 
Therefore, no calculation of recoverable amount is required to be performed. 

 At the End of 2004 

 The capital expenditure is incurred. Therefore, in determining theplane’s value in use, 
the future benefits expected from the renewal of theengine are considered in 
forecasting cash flows. This results in an increase in the estimated future cash flows 
used to determine value in use at the end of 20X0. Therefore, the recoverable 
amount of the plane is recalculated at the end of 2004. 

Calculation of the reversal of the impairment loss at the end of 2004  (Amount 
in Rs. 

lakhs) 
 Plane 
Carrying amount at the end of 2000   1,211.28 
End of 2004  
Depreciation charge (2001 to 2004)  (484.52) 
Renewal expenditure  250.00 
Carrying amount before reversal  976.76 
Recoverable amount   1,220.72 
Maximum impairment loss 243.96 

 The increased carrying amount of an asset due to a reversal of an impairment loss 
should not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of 
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior accounting periods. 

Maximum impairment loss  243.96 
Recoverable amount 1,220.72  
Carrying amount: depreciated historical cost at the end of 
2004 

1,150.00  

Reversal not allowed  70.72 
Reversal of the impairment loss   173.24 
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 Calculation of Carrying amount of plane after reversal at the end of 2004 

Carrying amount before reversal at the end of 2004 976.76 
Add: Reversal of the impairment loss 173.24 
Carrying amount after reversal at the end of 2004 1,150.00 

 Working Note: 

 Calculation of depreciated historical cost at the end of 2004 

Year Depreciated historical 
cost 

2000  1,500.00 
2001  1,350.00 
2002  1,200.00 
2003  1,050.00 
2004  900.00 
Add: Renewal Expenditure 250.00 
 1,150.00 

Q 5:  Kay Ltd. purchased a Fixed Asset four years back at a cost of Rs. 100 lakhs and 
depreciates it on SLM basis at 10% per annum. At the end of this year, it has revalued 
the asset at Rs. 50 lakhs and has written off the loss on revaluation to the Profit and 
Loss Account. However, on the date of revaluation, the Market price is Rs. 45 lakhs 
and the expected disposal costs are Rs. 2 lakhs. What will be the treatment in respect 
of Impairment Losses in the following situations on the basis that fair value for 
revaluation purposes is determined by market value? 

(a)  Value in Use is not estimated; 

(b)  Value in Use is estimated at Rs. 40 lakhs;  

(c)  Value in Use is estimated at Rs. 48 lakhs. [RTP] 

Ans: Recognition of Loss on Revaluation: 

 Particulars Computation Rs. in lakhs 
(1) Original Cost of the Asset Given 100.00 
(2) Accumulated Depreciation for four 

years 
100.00 x 10% x4 years 40.00 

(3) Carrying amount before Revaluation 
Net Book Value  

(1) – (2)  60.00 

(4) Fair Value = Revalued amount Given 50.00 
(5) Loss on Revaluation debited to Profit 

and Loss Account 
(3) – (4)  10.00 

(6) Carrying amount after revaluation (3) – (5) [or] Fair 
Value (Market Value) 

50.00 
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 Recognition of Impairment Loss, if any: 

 Situation (a) (b) (c) 
(1) Net Selling Price = Market Value – 

Disposal Costs  [Rs. 45– Rs. 2] 
43 lakhs Rs. 43 

lakhs 
Rs. 43 lakhs 

(2) Value in use Not 
applicable 

Rs. 40 
lakhs 

Rs. 48 lakhs 

(3) Recoverable Amount = Net Selling 
Price or Value in Use, whichever is 
higher  

Rs. 43 lakhs Rs. 43 
lakhs 

Rs. 48 lakhs 

(4) Carrying Amount after revaluation Rs. 50 lakhs Rs. 50 
lakhs 

Rs. 50 lakhs 

(5) Impairment Loss = Carrying 
amount Less Recoverable Amount 

Rs. 7 lakhs Rs. 7 lakhs Rs. 2 lakhs 

 Note: In certain cases, Fair Value for revaluation purposes may be determined by 
methods other than Market Value. In such cases, the revaluation requirements should 
be applied first, and thereafter AS-28 should be applied to recognise Impairment 
Losses, if any.   

Q 6:  From the following details of an asset 

(i)   Find out impairment loss 

(ii)  Treatment of impairment loss 

(iii)  Current year depreciation 

 Particulars of asset:  

 Cost of asset  Rs. 56 lakhs 

 Useful life period  10 years 

 Salvage value  Nil 

 Current carrying value  Rs. 27.30 lakhs 

 Useful life remaining  3 years 

 Recoverable amount  Rs. 12 lakhs 

 Upward revaluation done in last year  Rs. 14 lakhs 

  [June 2009] 

Ans: According to para 59 of AS 28 “Impairment of Assets”, an impairment loss on a 
revalued asset is recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. 
However, an impairment loss on a revalued asset is recognised directly against any 
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revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not 
exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. 

Impairment Loss and its treatment  Rs. 
Current carrying amount (including revaluation amount of Rs..14 
lakhs)  

27,30,000 

Less: Current recoverable amount  12,00,000 
Impairment Loss  15,30,000 
Impairment loss charged to revaluation reserve  14,00,000 
Impairment loss charged to profit and loss account  1,30,000 

 As per para 61 of AS 28, “after the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation 
(amortization) charge for the asset should be adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic 
basis over its remaining useful life.” In the given case, the carrying amount of the 
asset will be reduced to Rs..12,00,000 after impairment. This amount is required to be 
depreciated over remaining useful life of 3 years (including current year). Therefore, 
the depreciation for the current year will be Rs..4,00,000 

Q 7:  Alpha Ltd., purchased a Fixed Asset four years back at a cost of Rs..100 lakhs and 
depreciates it on SLM basis at 10% per annum. At the end of this year, it has revalued 
the asset at Rs. 50 lakhs and has written off the loss on revaluation to the Profit and 
Loss Account. However, on the date of revaluation, the Market price is Rs. 45 lakhs 
and the expected disposal costs are Rs. 2 lakhs. What will be the treatment in respect 
of Impairment Loss on the basis that fair value for revaluation purposes is determined 
by market value and Value in Use is estimated at Rs. 40 lakes?  

Ans:  

 Recognition of Loss on Revaluation:   
 Particulars  Computation  Rs. in lakhs 
(1)  Original Cost of the Asset  Given  100.00 
(2)  Accumulated Depreciation for four 

years  
100 x 10% x 4 years  40.00 

(3)  Carrying amount before Revaluation 
Net Book Value  

(1)-(2)  60.00 

(4)  Fair Value = Revalued amount  Given  50.00 
(5)  Loss on Revaluation debited to Profit 

and Loss Account  
(3) – (4) 10.00 

(6)  Carrying amount after revaluation  (3) – (5) [or] Fair 
Value 

 

  (Market Value) 50.00 
 Recognition of Impairment Loss:  
(1)  Net Selling Price = Market Value – Disposal Costs   
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 = Rs. 45 lakhs – Rs. 2 lakhs  Rs. 43 lakhs 
(2)  Value in use  Rs. 40 lakhs 
(3)  Recoverable Amount = Net Selling Price or Value in Use,   
 whichever is higher  Rs. 43 lakhs 
(4)  Carrying Amount after revaluation  Rs. 50 lakhs 
(5)  Impairment Loss = Carrying amount less Recoverable 

Amount.  
Rs. 7 lakhs 

Q 8:  An asset does not meet the requirements of environment laws which have been 
recently enacted. The asset has to be destroyed as per the law. The asset is carried in 
the Balance Sheet at the year end at Rs. 6,00,000. The estimated cost of destroying 
the asset is Rs. 70,000. How is the asset to be accounted for?  [Nov 2010] 

Ans:  As per AS 28 “Impairment of Assets”, impairment loss is the amount by which the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, where, recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price* and its value in use·. In the given 
case, recoverable amount will be nil [higher of value in use (nil) and net selling price 
(Rs.70,000)]. Thus impairment loss will be calculated as Rs. 6,00,000 [carrying amount 
(Rs.6,00,000) – recoverable amount (nil)]. Therefore, asset is to be fully impaired and 
impairment loss of Rs. 6,00,000 has to be recognized as an expense immediately in 
the statement of Profit and Loss as per para 58 of AS 28.  

*  Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. In the 
given case, Net Selling Price = Selling price – Cost of disposal = Nil – Rs.70,000 = Rs. 
(70,000)  

*  Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise 
from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 
In the given case, value in use is nil.   

Q 9:  G Ltd., acquired a machine on 1st April, 2005 for Rs. 7 crore that had an estimated 
useful life of 7 years. The machine is depreciated on straight line basis and does not 
carry any residual value. On 1st April, 2009, the carrying value of the machine was 
reassessed at Rs. 5.10 crore and the surplus arising out of the revaluation being 
credited to revaluation reserve. For the year ended March 2011, conditions indicating 
an impairment of the machine existed and the amount recoverable ascertained to be 
only Rs. 79 lakhs. You are required to calculate the loss on impairment of the machine 
and show how this loss is to be treated in the books of G Ltd., G Ltd., had followed the 
policy of writing down the revaluation surplus by the increased charge of depreciation 
resulting from the revaluation.  [Nov 2011] 

Answer:  (Rs. in crores) 

Carrying amount of the machine as on 1st April 2005   7.00 
Depreciation for 4 years i.e. 2005-06 to 2008-09 [  (4.00) 
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7crores/7years x 4years ]  
Carrying amount as on 31.03.2009   3.00 
Add: Upward Revaluation (credited to Revaluation Reserve 
account)  

 2.10 

Carrying amount of the machine as on 1st April 2009 
(revalued)  

 5.10 

Less: Depreciation for 2 years i.e. 2009-10 & 2010-11 [ 
5.10crores/3years x 2years]  

 (3.40) 

Carrying amount as on 31.03.2011   1.70 
Less: Recoverable amount   (0.79) 
Impairment loss   0.91 
Less: Balance in revaluation reserve as on 31.03.2011:   
Balance in revaluation reserve as on 31.03.2009  2.10  
Less: Enhanced depreciation met from revaluation reserve   
2009-10 & 2010-11=[(1.70 – 1.00) x 2 years]  (1.40)  
Impairment loss set off against revaluation reserve balance 
as per para 58 ofAS 28 “Impairment of Assets” 

 (0.70) 

Impairment Loss to be debited to profit and loss account   0.21 

Q 10:  X Ltd. purchased a fixed asset four years ago for Rs. 150 lakhs and depreciates it at 
10% p.a. on straight line method. At the end of the fourth year, it has revalued the 
assetat Rs. 75 lakhs and has written off the loss on revaluation to the profit and loss 
account. However, on the date of revaluation, the market price is Rs. 67.50 lakhs and 
expected disposal costs are Rs. 3 lakhs. What will be the treatment in respect of 
impairment loss on the basis that fair value for revaluation purpose is determined by 
market value and the value in use is estimated at Rs. 60 lakhs?   [May 2013] 

Ans: Treatment of Impairment Loss: As per para 57 of AS 28 “Impairment of assets”, if the 
recoverable amount (higher of net selling price and its value in use) of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset should be reduced to its 
recoverable amount. In the given case, net selling price is Rs. 64.50 lakhs (Rs. 67.50 
lakhs – Rs. 3 lakhs) and value in use is Rs. 60 lakhs. 

 Therefore, recoverable amount will be Rs. 64.50 lakhs. Impairment loss will be 
calculated as Rs. 10.50 lakhs [Rs. 75 lakhs (Carrying Amount after revaluation - Refer 
Working Note) less Rs. 64.50 lakhs (Recoverable Amount)]. 

 Thus impairment loss of 10.50 lakhs should be recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss immediately since there was downward revaluation of 
asset which was already charged to Statement of Profit and Loss. 

 Working Note: Calculation of carrying amount of the fixed asset at the end of the 
fourth year on revaluation 

 (Rs. in lakhs) 
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Purchase price of a fixed asset  150.00 
Less: Depreciation for four years [(150 lakhs / 10 years) x 4 years]  (60.00) 
Carrying value at the end of fourth year  90.00 
Less: Downward revaluation charged to profit and loss account  (15.00) 
Revalued carrying amount  75.00 

Q 11:  A Ltd. is the sole manufacturer of product X. A particular machine is exclusively used 
for production of product X. The company had near monopoly of the product. A 
competitor has recently come out with a cheaper substitute of product X. The 
company is anticipating significant fall in demand for its product and cash flow from 
the machine used in production of X is also expected to fall. As per the latest budget 
estimates, taking the entry of the competitor in consideration, the operating pre-tax 
cash flows from the machine expected over next 5 years are Rs. 9 lakh, Rs. 8 lakh, Rs. 
6 lakh, Rs. 5.5 lakh and Rs. 5 lakh respectively. The expected life of the machine is 10 
years. Declining growth rates for future cash flows are estimated from year 6 onwards 
at 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 60% respectively. The disposal value (net of expected cost of 
disposal) realisable at the end of year 10 is Rs. 1 lakh. 

 The machine can be disposed off immediately for Rs. 25 lakh subject to payment of 
brokerage 2% on disposal value. The carrying amount of the machine on the current 
date is Rs. 35 lakh.Taking the risk involved in the use of the machine for production of 
X in consideration, a pre-tax rate of return of 10% seems to be appropriate. 
Determine impairment loss if any and give the journal entries in the books of A Ltd. 

Ans:  As per paras 57 and 58 of AS 28 ‘Imapirment of Assets’, if the recoverable amount of 
an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset should be 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss which should 
be recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss immediately. 

 Impairment Loss 

 Net Selling Price = Disposal value – Brokerage = Rs. 25 lakh – 2% of Rs. 25 lakh = Rs. 
24.5 lakh 

 Value in use = Rs. 32.98 lakh (Refer Working Note) 

 Recoverable value = Rs. 32.98 lakh (Higher of value in use and net selling price) 

 Carrying amount = Rs. 35 lakh 

 Impairment loss = Rs. 35 lakh - Rs. 32.98 lakh = Rs. 2.02 lakh. 

Journal Entries  Rs. in lakhs  Rs. in lakhs 
Impairment Loss A/c  

To Machine A/c  
(Being impairment loss recognised) 

Dr.  2.02  
  2.02 
   

Profit & Loss A/c  Dr.  2.02  
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To Impairment Loss A/c  
(Being impairment loss transferred to Profit 
and Loss Account) 

  2.02 
   

 Working Note: Calculation of Value in use 

Year  Growth Operating Disposal Cash DF Present 
 Rate cash flow value flow  Value 
  Rs. 000 Rs. 000 Rs. 000  (10%) Rs. 000 
1   900   900  0.909  818.10 
2   800   800  0.826  660.80 
3   600   600  0.751  450.60 
4   550   550  0.683  375.65 
5   500   500  0.621  310.50 
6  -10%  450   450  0.564  253.80 
7  -20%  360   360  0.513  184.68 
8  -30%  252   252  0.467  117.68 
9  -40%  151.20   151.20  0.424  64.11 
10  -60%  60.48  100  160.48  0.386  61.95 
      3,297.87 

Q 12:  The following information is available as regards to the fixed asset of a company: 

(i)  Carrying amount of the asset shown in the balance sheet net of accumulated 
depreciation is Rs. 340 lakhs. Assets are 2 years old. The present market price of the 
asset is Rs. 300 lakhs. The company charges depreciation @10% on SLM assuming 10 
years as its useful life. 

(ii)  At the beginning of the current year, on review, remaining useful life of the asset has 
been assessed as 5 years because of technological changes. 

(iii)  Market rate of interest has declined. Accordingly, there is decline in the discount 
factor from 16% to 15%. 

(iv) Book value to market capitalisation ratio of the company is 0.80.  

 Is there an indication of impairment of asset? If yes, then how should it be adjusted? 

Ans: Impairment loss is said to occur when the carrying amount is more than recoverable 
amount. Recoverable amount, in turn, is the higher of Net Selling Price and Value in 
Use. Based on this, the following determination is made. Para 8 of AS 28 ‘Impairment 
of Assets’ states some minimum indications for assessing whether there can be any 
impairment of an asset. These are: 

(i) Decline in Net Selling Price: In the instant case, market price is indicated at Rs. 300 
lakhs. This is lower than carrying amount i.e. Rs. 340 lakhs. Hence, there is an 
indication of impairment loss. 
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(ii)  Estimated remaining useful life of the asset: Estimated remaining useful life of the 
asset has declined from 8 years to five years due to technological changes that have 
taken place. This change from eight to five years is considered as a "significant change 
in the useful life of asset". Therefore, there is an indication of impairment of assets 

(iii)  Decline in market interest rates: The decline in market interest rate from 16% to 15% 
does not indicate impairment. 

(iv)  Higher carrying amount of the net assets to its market capitalization: 

 Here, carrying amount of the asset to market capitalisation ratio is also favourable i.e. 
0.80 (i.e., book value is 0.8, and market capitalisation is 1). Therefore, there is no 
indication of impairment. 

 Out of the above four parameters, two are unfavourable. More particularly, market 
price being lower by Rs. 40 lakhs is an important element. Hence, there is an 
indication of impairment of asset. It is advisable to review the adequacy of 
depreciation charge, and if this is readjusted to fall in line with the remaining useful 
life of five years, the impairment would be taken care automatically. 

 Where the useful life of a depreciable asset undergoes a change i.e. reduced, 
impairment is automatically taken care of since the unamortised amount is 
depreciated over the shorter remaining useful life resulting into higher depreciation 
amount. When higher depreciation amount is charged, the net book value of the 
asset shown in books is less. 

 In this case, annual depreciation charge would be Rs. 340 lakhs/5 = Rs. 68.00 lakhs 
and the revised net book value would be Rs. 272.00 lakhs (340-68). This is well below 
the market price, and the impairment is automatically taken care of. 

Q 13:  A publisher owns 150 magazine titles of which 70 were purchased and 80 were self-
created. The price paid for a purchased magazine title is recognised as anintangible 
asset. The costs of creating magazine titles and maintaining the existingtitles are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. Cash inflows from direct salesand 
advertising are identifiable for each magazine title. Titles are managed bycustomer 
segments. The level of advertising income for a magazine title dependson the range of 
titles in the customer segment to which the magazine title relates.Management has a 
policy to abandon old titles before the end of their economiclives and replace them 
immediately with new titles for the same customer segment.What is the cash-
generating unit?  [RTP] 

Ans: It is likely that the recoverable amount of an individual magazine title can beassessed. 
Even though the level of advertising income for a title is influenced, to acertain 
extent, by the other titles in the customer segment, cash inflows from directsales and 
advertising are identifiable for each title. In addition, although titles aremanaged by 
customer segments, decisions to abandon titles are made on anindividual title basis. 
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 Therefore, it is likely that individual magazine titles generate cash inflows that 
arelargely independent one from another and that each magazine title is a 
separatecash-generating unit. 

Q 14: A significant raw material used for plant Y’s final production is an intermediate 
product bought from plant X of the same enterprise. X’s products are sold to Y at a 
transfer price that passes all margins to X. 80% of Y’s final production is sold to 
customers outside of the reporting enterprise. 60% of X’s final production is sold to Y 
and the remaining 40% is sold tocustomers outside of the reporting enterprise. 

 For each of the following cases, what are the cash-generating units for X and Y? 

 Case 1: X could sell the products it sells to Y in an active market. Internal transfer 
prices are higher than market prices. 

 Case 2: There is no active market for the products X sells to Y. 

Ans: Case 1 

 X could sell its products on an active market and, so, generate cash inflows from 
continuing use that would be largely independent of the cash inflows from Y. 
Therefore, it is likely that X is a separate cash-generating unit, although part of its 
production is used by Y. 

 It is likely that Y is also a separate cash-generating unit. Y sells 80% of its products to 
customers outside of the reporting enterprise. Therefore, its cash inflows from 
continuing use can be considered to be largely independent. 

 Internal transfer prices do not reflect market prices for X’s output. Therefore, in 
determining value in use of both X and Y, the enterprise adjusts financial 
budgets/forecasts to reflect management’s best estimate of future market prices for 
those of X’s products that are used internally. 

 Case 2 

 It is likely that the recoverable amount of each plant cannot be assessed 
independently from the recoverable amount of the other plant because: 

(a)  the majority of X’s production is used internally and could not be sold in an 
active market. So, cash inflows of X depend on demand for Y’s products. 
Therefore, X cannot be considered to generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent from those of Y; and 

(b)  the two plants are managed together. 

 As a consequence, it is likely that X and Y together is the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent. 
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Q 15: Enterprise M produces a single product and owns plants A, B and C. Each plant is 
located in a different continent. A produces a component that is assembled in either B 
or C. The combined capacity of B and C is not fully utilised. M’s products are sold 
world-wide from either B or C. For example, B’s production can be sold in C’s 
continent if the products can be delivered faster from B than from C. Utilisation levels 
of B and C depend on the allocation of sales between the two sites. For each of the 
following cases, what are the cash-generating units for A, B and C? 

 Case 1: There is an active market for A’s products. 

 Case 2: There is no active market for A’s products. 

Ans: Case 1 

 It is likely that A is a separate cash-generating unit because there is an active market 
for its products. 

 Although there is an active market for the products assembled by B and C, cash 
inflows for B and C depend on the allocation of production across the two sites. It is 
unlikely that the future cash inflows for B and C can be determined individually. 
Therefore, it is likely that B and C together is the smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent. 

 In determining the value in use of A and B plus C, M adjusts financial 
budgets/forecasts to reflect its best estimate of future market prices for A’s products. 

 Case 2 

 It is likely that the recoverable amount of each plant cannot be assessed 
independently because: 

(a)  there is no active market for A’s products. Therefore, A’s cash inflows depend 
on sales of the final product by B and C; and 

(b)  although there is an active market for the products assembled by B and C, cash 
inflows for B and C depend on the allocation of production across the two sites. 
It is unlikely that the future cash inflows for B and C can be determined 
individually. 

 As a consequence, it is likely that A, B and C together (i.e., M as a whole) is the 
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent. 

 

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT 
ASSETS(AS 29) 
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Q 1 A manufacturer gives warranties to the purchasers of its goods. Under the terms 
ofthe warranty the manufacturer undertakes to make good, by repair or replacement, 
manufacturing defects that become apparent within three years from the date of sale 
to the purchasers. 

 On 31 January 20X1 a manufacturing defect was detected in the goods manufactured 
by the entity between 1 December 20X0 and 31 January 20X1. 

 At 31 December 20X0 (the entity’s reporting date) the entity held about one week’s 
sales in inventories. 

 The entity’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20X0 have not yet 
been finalised. 

 There are three separate categories that require separate consideration. 

 Category 1: Defective goods sold on or before 31 December 20X0 

Ans: The obligating event is the sale of the product with a warranty. At 31 December 20X0 
the entity has a legal obligation to make good the defective goods sold to its 
customers. The obligation is of uncertain timing or amount (ie a provision). 

 Category 2: Defective goods held on 31 December 20X0 

Ans: At 31 December 20X0 the entity did not have a present obligation to make good the 
unsold defective goods that it held in inventories. Accordingly, at 31 December 20X0 
the entity must not recognise a provision in respect of the defective inventories.  

 However, the entity must write down the inventories to its net realisable value in 
accordance with AS 2. With respect to this category, the detection of the 
manufacturing defect in January 20X1 is an adjusting event after the end of the 
reporting period (see AS 4). It provides evidence of a manufacturing defect in 
inventories held at 31 December 20X0. 

 Category 3: Defective goods manufactured in 20X1 

Ans: At 31 December 20X0 the entity did not have a present obligation to make good any 
defective goods that it might manufacture in the future. Accordingly, at 31 December 
20X0 the entity must not recognise a provision in respect of the defective goods 
manufactured in 20X1. 

 With respect to this category, the detection of the manufacturing defect in January 
20X1 is a non-adjusting event after the end of the reporting period (see AS 4). 

Q 2  An entity sells 1,000 units of a product with warranties under which the entity will 
repair any manufacturing defects that become apparent within the first six months 
after purchase. If a minor defect is detected in a product, estimated repair costs of Rs. 
100 will result. If a major defect is detected in a product, estimated repair costs of Rs. 
400 will result. The entity’s experience together with its future expectations indicate 
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that 75 per cent of the goods sold have no defects, 20 per cent of the goods sold have 
minor defects and 5 per cent of the goods sold have major defects. 

Ans: When the provision involves a large population of items, the best estimate of the 
amount reflects the weighting of all possible outcomes by their associated 
probabilities. 

 The expected value of the cost of repairs is 

 (75% × 1,000 units sold × nil) + (20% × 1,000 units × Rs. 100) + (5% × 1,000 units × Rs. 
400) = 

 Rs. 40,000. 

 Therefore a provision of Rs. 40,000 would be appropriate. 

Q 3  A customer has initiated a lawsuit against an entity associated with personal injury 
when using one of the entity’s products. The entity’s lawyers estimate from 
experience that at the reporting date (31 December 20X1) the entity has a 30 per cent 
chance of being ordered to pay the customer compensation of Rs. 20 lacs and a 70 
per cent chance of being ordered to pay compensation of Rs. 3 lacs. 

Ans: The expected value of the compensation is 

 (30% × Rs. 20,00,000) + (70% × Rs. 300,000) = Rs. 810,000. 

 Therefore a provision of Rs. 8,10,000 would be appropriate. 

Q 4  The facts are the same as in above example. However, in this example, the lawyers 
estimate that the entity has a 25 per cent chance of winning the lawsuit and thereby 
avoiding the payment of compensation. Furthermore, the entity’s lawyers estimate 
that the entity has a 35 per cent chance of being ordered to pay the customer 
compensation of Rs. 20 lacs and a 40 per cent chance of being ordered to pay 
compensation of Rs. 300,000. 

Ans: The expected value of the compensation is 

 Expected value: (Rs. 0 × 25%) + (Rs. 20,00,000 × 35%) + (Rs. 300,000 × 40%) = Rs. 
8,20,000. 

 Therefore a provision of Rs. 8,20,000 would be appropriate. 

 

Q 5 At the end of the financial year ending on 31st December, 2007, a company finds that 
there are twenty law suits outstanding which have not been settled till the date of 
approval of accounts by the Board of Directors. The possible outcome as estimated by 
the Board is as follows: 

  Probability  Loss  (Rs) 
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 In respect of five cases  

 -  Win 100%  --- 

 Next ten cases  

 - Win 60%  --- 

 - Lose (Low damages)  30%  1,20,000 

 - Lose (High damages)  10%  2,00,000 

 Remaining five cases  

 - Win  50%  --- 

 - Lose (Low damages)  30%  1,00,000 

 - Lose (High damages)  20%  2,10,000 

 Outcome of each case is to be taken as a separate entity. Ascertain the amount of 
contingent loss and the accounting treatment in respect thereof.  [May 2010] 

Ans: In this case, the probability of winning of first five cases is 100% and hence, question 
of providing for contingent loss does not arise. The probability of winning of next ten 
cases is 60% and for remaining five cases is 50%. As per AS 29, we make a provision if 
the loss is probable. As the loss does not appear to be probable and the possibility of 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not remote rather there is 
reasonable possibility of loss, therefore disclosure by way of note should be made. 
For the purpose of the disclosure of contingent liability by way of note, amount may 
be calculated as under: 

 Expected loss in next ten cases = 30% of Rs 1,20,000 + 10% of Rs 2,00,000 

 = Rs 36,000 + Rs 20,000 = Rs 56,000 

 Expected loss in remaining five cases = 30% of Rs 1,00,000 + 20% of Rs 2,10,000 

 = Rs 30,000 + Rs 42,000 = Rs 72,000 

 To disclose contingent liability on the basis of maximum loss will be highly unrealistic. 

 Therefore, the better approach will be to disclose the overall expected loss of Rs 
9,20,000 (Rs 56,000 X 10 + Rs 72,000 X 5) as contingent liability. 

Q 6 An engineering goods company provides after sales warranty for 2 years to its 
customers. Based on past experience, the company has been following policy for 
making provision for warranties on the invoice amount, on the remaining balance 
warranty period: 

 Less than 1 year :  2% provision 

 More than 1 year :  3% provision 
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 The company has raised invoices as under:  

 Invoice Date  Amount Rs. 

 19th January, 2011  40,000 

 29th January, 2012  25,000 

 15th October, 2012  90,000 

 Calculate the provision to be made for warranty under Accounting Standard 29 as at 
31stMarch, 2012 and 31stMarch, 2013. Also compute amount to be debited to Profit 
and Loss Account for the year ended 31stMarch, 2013. [May 2013] 

Ans: Provision to be made for warranty under AS 29 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets’ 

As at 31st March, 2012  = Rs. 40,000 x .02 + Rs. 25,000 x .03 = Rs. 800 + 
Rs. 750 =  

Rs. 
1,550 

As at 31st March, 2013  = Rs. 25,000 x .02 + Rs. 90,000 x .03 = Rs. 500 + 
Rs. 2,700 =  

Rs. 
3,200 

Amount debited to Profit and Loss Account for year ended 31st March, 
2013 

Rs. 

Balance of provision required as on 31.03.2013  3,200 
Less: Opening Balance as on 1.4.2012  (1,550) 
Amount debited to profit and loss account  1,650 

 Note: No provision will be made on 31st March, 2013 in respect of sales amounting 
Rs. 40,000 made on 19th January, 2011 as the warranty period of 2 years has already 
expired. 

Q 7 An enterprise in the oil industry causes contamination but does not clean up because 
there is no legislation requiring cleaning up, and the enterprise has been 
contaminating land for several years. At 31 March 2005 it is virtually certain that a law 
requiring a clean-up of land already contaminated will be enacted shortly after the 
year end. Specify the disclosure requirements of AS-29. 

Ans: Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - The obligating event is the 
contamination of the land because of the virtual certainty of legislation requiring 
cleaning up. 

 An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits in settlement - Probable. 

 Conclusion - A provision is recognised for the best estimate of the costs of the clean-
up.  

Q 8:  An enterprise operates an offshore oilfield where its licensing agreement requires it 
to remove the oil rig at the end of production and restore the seabed. Ninety per cent 
of the eventual costs relate to the removal of the oil rig and restoration of damage 
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caused by building it, and ten per cent arise through the extraction of oil. At the 
balance sheet date, the rig has been constructed but no oil has been extracted. 
Specify the disclosure requirements of AS-29. 

Ans: Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - The construction of the oil rig 
creates an obligation under the terms of the licence to remove the rig and restore the 
seabed and is thus an obligating event. At the balance sheet date, however, there is 
no obligation to rectify the damage that will be caused by extraction of the oil. 

 An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits in settlement - Probable. 

 Conclusion - A provision is recognised for the best estimate of ninety per cent of the 
eventual costs that relate to the removal of the oil rig and restoration of damage 
caused by building it. These costs are included as part of the cost of the oil rig. The ten 
per cent of costs that arise through the extraction of oil are recognised as a liability 
when the oil is extracted. 

Q 9:  Under new legislation, an enterprise is required to fit smoke filters to its factories by 
30 September 2005. The enterprise has not fitted the smoke filters. Specify the 
disclosure requirements of AS-29. 

Ans:  At the balance sheet date of 31 March 2005 

 Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - There is no obligation 
because there is no obligating event either for the costs of fitting smoke filters or for 
fines under the legislation. 

 Conclusion - No provision is recognised for the cost of fitting the smoke filters  

 Note: No provision is recognised for the costs of fitting smoke filters. However, a 
provision is recognised for the best estimate of any fines and penalties that are more 
likely than not to be imposed. 

Q 10 During 2004-05, Enterprise A gives a guarantee of certain borrowings of Enterprise B, 
whose financial condition at that time is sound. During 2005-06, the financial 
condition of Enterprise B deteriorates and at 30 September 2005 Enterprise B goes 
into liquidation. Specify the disclosure requirements of AS-29. 

Ans:  

(a)  At 31 March 2005 

 Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - The obligating event is the 
giving of the guarantee, which gives rise to an obligation.  

 An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits in settlement - No outflow of 
benefits is probable at 31 March 2005. 
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 Conclusion - No provision is recognised. The guarantee is disclosed as a contingent 
liability unless the probability of any outflow is regarded as remote. 

(b)  At 31 March 2006 

 Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - The obligating event is the 
giving of the guarantee, which gives rise to a legal obligation.  

 An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits in settlement - At 31 March 
2006, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. 

 Conclusion - A provision is recognised for the best estimate of the obligation. 

 Note: This example deals with a single guarantee. If an enterprise has a portfolio of 
similar guarantees, it will assess that portfolio as a whole in determining whether an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is probable. Where an enterprise 
gives guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AS 9, Revenue 
Recognition. 

Q 11 An airline is required by law to overhaul its aircraft once in every five years. The 
pacific Airlines which operate aircrafts does not provide any provision as required by 
law in its final accounts. Discuss with reference to relevant Accounting Standard 29.
 [May 2012] 

Ans: Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event - There is no present 
obligation. 

 Conclusion - No provision is recognised. 

 The costs of overhauling aircraft are not recognised as a provision because, at the 
balance sheet date, no obligation to replace the lining exists independently of the 
company’s future actions. Even a legal requirement to overhaul does not make the 
costs of overhaul a liability, because no obligation exists to overhaul the aircraft 
independently of the enterprise’s future actions - the enterprise could avoid the 
future expenditure by its future actions, for example by selling the aircraft. 

Q 12 Sun Ltd. has entered into a sale contract of Rs. 5 crores with X Ltd. during 2009-10 
financial year. The profit on this transaction is Rs 1 crore. The delivery of goods to 
take place during the first month of 2010-11 financial year. In case of failure of Sun 
Ltd. to deliver within the schedule, a compensation of Rs 1.5 crores is to be paid to X 
Ltd. Sun Ltd. planned to manufacture the goods during the last month of 2009-10 
financial years. As on balance sheet date (31.3.2010), the goods were not 
manufactured and it was unlikely that Sun Ltd. will be in a position to meet the 
contractual obligation. Should Sun Ltd. provide for contingency as per AS 29?  

Ans: AS 29 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” provides that when 
an enterprise has a present obligation, as a result of past events, that probably 
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requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of obligation, a provision should be recognised. Sun Ltd. has the obligation to deliver 
the goods within the scheduled time as per the contract. It is probable that Sun Ltd. 
will fail to deliver the goods within the schedule and it is also possible to estimate the 
amount of compensation. Therefore, Sun Ltd. should provide for the contingency 
amounting Rs 1.5 crores as per AS 29.  

Q 13 A company is in a dispute involving allegation of infringement of patents by a 
competitor company who is seeking damages of a huge sum of Rs. 900 lakhs. The 
directors are of the opinion that the claim can be successfully resisted by the 
company. How would you deal the same in the annual accounts of the company? 
 [Nov 2012, Nov 2014] 

Ans: As per AS 29 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets', a 
provisionshould be recognised when: 

(i)  An enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past event; 

(ii)  It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
berequired to settle the obligation; and 

(iii)  A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 If these conditions are not met, no provision should be recognised. 

 A contingent liability is disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote. The possibility of an outflow of 
resourcesembodying economic benefits is remote in the given situation, since the 
directors ofWZW Ltd. are of the opinion that the claim can be successfully resisted by 
the company.Therefore, the company shall not disclose the same as contingent 
liability.  

Q 14 M/s. Shishir Ltd., a public Sector Company, provides consultancy and 
engineeringservices to its clients. In the year 2014-15, the Government set up a 
commission todecide about the pay revision. The pay will be revised with respect 
from 1-1-2012 basedon the recommendations of the commission. The company 
makes the provision of Rs. 1250 lakhs for pay revision in the financial year 2014-15 on 
the estimated basis as thereport of the commission is yet to come. As per the 
contracts with client on cost plus job,the billing is done on the actual payment made 
to the employees and allocated to jobsbased on hours booked by these employees on 
each job. 

 The company discloses through notes to accounts: 

 “Salaries and benefits include the provision of Rs. 1250 lakhs in respect of pay 
revision.The amount chargeable from reimbursable jobs will be billed as per the 
contract whenthe actual payment is made.” 
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 The Accountant feels that the company should also book/recognize the income by Rs. 
1250 lakhs in Profit & Loss Account as per the terms of the contract. Otherwise, it 
willbe the violation of matching concept & understatement of profit.Comment on the 
opinion of the Accountant with reference to relevant AccountingStandards. [May 
2015] 

Ans: As per AS 29, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, where some 
orall of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed 
byanother party, the reimbursement should be recognized when, and only when, it 
isvirtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the enterprise settles 
theobligation. The reimbursement should be treated as a separate asset. The 
amountrecognized for the reimbursement should not exceed the amount of the 
provision. 

 Accordingly, potential loss to an enterprise may be reduced or avoided because 
acontingent liability is matched by a related counter-claim or claim against a third 
party. Insuch cases, the amount of the provision is determined after taking into 
account theprobable recovery under the claim if no significant uncertainty as to its 
measurability orcollectability exists. 

 In this case, the provision of salary to employees of Rs. 1,250 lakhs will be 
ultimatelycollected from the client, as per the terms of the contract. Therefore, the 
liability of Rs. 1,250 lakhs is matched by the counter claim from the client. Hence, the 
provision forsalary of employees should be matched with the reimbursable asset to 
be claimed fromthe client. It appears that the whole amount of Rs. 1,250 lakhs is 
recoverable from clientand there is no significant uncertainty about the collection. 
Hence, the net charge to profitand loss account should be nil. 

 The opinion of the accountant regarding recognition of income of Rs. 1,250 lakhs is 
not asper AS 29 and also the concept of prudence will not be followed if Rs. 1,250 
lakhs issimultaneously recognized as income. Rs. 1,250 lakhs is not the revenue at 
present butonly reimbursement of claim for which an asset is created. However the 
accountant iscorrect to the extent as that non- recognition of Rs. 1,250 lakhs as 
income will result in theunderstatement of profit. To avoid this, in the statement of 
profit and loss, expenserelating to provision may be presented net of the amount 
recognized for reimbursement. 

Q 15:  X Company has entered into a sale contract of Rs.10,00,000 with B Company during 
financial year 2006-07. The profit on this transaction is Rs.2,00,000. The delivery of 
the goods to be taken place during the first month of the financial year 2007- 2008. In 
case of failure of X Company to deliver within the schedule, a compensation of 
Rs.3,00,000 is to be paid to B Company. X Company planned to manufacturer the 
goods during the last month of the financial year 2006-2007. As on the Balance Sheet 
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date (i.e., 31-3-2007), goods were not manufactured and it was unlikely that X 
Company would be in a position to meet the contractual obligation. 

(i)  Should X Company provide for the contingency? 

(ii)  Should X company measure provision as the excess of compensation to be paid over 
the profit? [RTP] 

Ans:  

(i)  Yes, X Company should provide for the contingency because it is unlikely that X 
company should be in a position to meet contractual obligation. 

(ii)  No, X company can’t measure provision as the excess of compensation to be paid 
over profit. It has to provide for the total compensation amount. 

Q 16:  Raja Ltd. had announced a Voluntary Retirement Scheme (VRS) for its employees on 
1st January 2012. The scheme is scheduled to close on 30th June 2012. The scheme 
envisaged an initial lump-sum payment of maximum of Rs. 2 Lakhs and monthly 
payments over the balance period of service of employees coming under the plan. 
200 employees opted for the scheme as on 31st March 2012. The total lump sum 
payment for these employees would be Rs. 250 Lakhs and the aggregate of future 
payments to them would amount to Rs. 1,500 Lakhs. 

 However no payment had been made to the employees under the scheme up to 31st 
March 2012. The Company had not made any provision in its accounts towards any 
liability under the scheme. Give your views on the above. [RTP] 

Ans: Recognition- As per AS 29 a provision should be recognised if the following conditions 
are satisfied. 

 Condition -1 Present obligation is a result of past event: VRS started in January 2012 
and existed on the balance sheet date. As on the balance sheet date, nearly 200 
employees had opted for the scheme evidencing the existence of a liability on the 
balance sheet date. 

 Condition -2 Outflow of the resources to settle the obligation is probable: As and 
when the employees' applications are accepted, the outflow of resources to settle the 
obligation is probable. Also it is probable that the liability will increase, if more people 
opt for VRS. 

 Condition -3 Reliable estimates of the amount can be made: Lumpsum payment is 
Rs. 250 lakhs and estimated payment is Rs. 1,500 lakhs (given). 

 Treatment and Conclusion: Since all the conditions for recognition of a Provision are 
satisfied, a Provision should be recognized for the year ending 31st March 2012. 
Hence, the treatment of the Company for not recognizing the provision violates AS 29 
requirements. 
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Q 17:  Quick Ltd. is a company engaged in the trading of spare parts used in the repair of 
automobiles. The company has been regular in depositing the tax, as such there is no 
liability of Income Tax etc. for the Financial Year 2012-13. 

 The figures for the year are as under: 

 Income chargeable to tax  Rs. 211.64 lakhs 

 Total income after adjustments  Rs. 228.48 lakhs 

 Tax thereon  Rs. 74.13 lakhs 

 TDS deducted during the year  Rs. 30.45 lakhs 

 Tax paid for the year  Rs. 43.68 lakhs 

 The company has prepared its Balance Sheet as per above figures. However, during 
the assessment proceeding held before the finalization of the Balance Sheet the 
Income Tax Officer has issued demand of Rs. 7.52 lakhs, insisting that this amount of 
TDS has not been uploaded online and thus is not acceptable as deduction. 

 The company has in reply to the same filed a rectification with the Assessing Officer. 
The company is trying to collect the TDS certificates, but Rs. 2.39 lakhs deducted by XY 
LTD., is not traceable. The rectification is lying pending with the Assessing Officer. 

 Please suggest the treatment of Rs. 2.39 lakhs and Rs. 7.52 lakhs in Balance Sheet. 

  [May 2013] 

Ans: As per para 10 of AS 29 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, a 
contingent liability is: (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and the 
existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the enterprise; or (b) 
a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: (i) it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; or (ii) a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation cannot be made. An obligation is a present obligation if, based on the 
evidence available, its existence at the balance sheet date is considered probable, i.e., 
more likely than not. 

 In the given case, TDS shall be allowed by the IT department on submission of 
duplicate TDS certificates. Since the company is making efforts and is hopeful for its 
ultimate collection, contingent liability will be made for Rs. 2.39 lakhs in the books of 
account. 

 Further as per para 15 of the standard, where it is more likely that no present 
obligation exists at the balance sheet date and the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is remote, no contingent liability is disclosed. 
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 TDS certificates for Rs. 5.13 lakhs (Rs. 7.52 lakhs less Rs. 2.39 lakhs) have been 
submitted and the company has filed a rectification with the Assessing Officer. 
Therefore, the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
remote; the company shall not disclose it as contingent liability. This amount should 
be disclosed by way of a note to the accounts. 

Q 18:  A company, incorporated under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013, have main 
objective to promote the trade by organizing trade fairs / exhibitions. When company 
was organizing the trade fair and exhibitions it decided to charge 5%contingency 
charges for the participants/outside agencies on the income received from them by 
the company, while in the case of fairs organized by outside agencies,5% contingency 
charges are levied separately in the invoice, the contingency charges in respect of 
fairs organized by the company itself are inbuilt in the space rent charged from the 
participants. Both are credited to Income and Expenditure Account of the company. 

 The intention of levying these charges is to meet any unforeseen liability, which 
mayarise in future. The instances of such unforeseen liabilities could be on account 
ofinjury/loss of life to visitors/ exhibitors, etc., due to fire, terrorist attack, 
stampede,natural calamities and other public and third party liability. The chances 
ofoccurrence of these events are high because of large crowds visit the fair. 
Thedecision to levy 5% contingency charges was based on assessment only as 
actualliability on this account cannot be estimated. 

 The following accounting treatment and disclosure was made by the company in 
itsfinancial statements: 

1.  5% contingency charges are treated as income and matching provision for thesame is 
also being made in accounts. 

2.  A suitable disclosure to this effect is also made in the notes forming part ofaccounts. 

Required: 

(i)  Whether creation of provision for contingencies under the facts andcircumstances of 
the case is in conformity with AS 29. 

(ii)  If the answer of (i) is "No" then what should be the treatment of the provisionwhich is 
already created in the balance sheet. [RTP] 

Ans: 

(i) Para 14 of AS 29 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets"states that 
a provision should be recognised when (a) An enterprise has apresent obligation as a 
result of a past event and (b) It is probable that anoutflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle theobligation and (c) A reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of theobligation. If these conditions are not met, no 
provision should be recognised. 
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 From the above, it is clear that in the contingencies considered by thecompany, 
neither a present obligation exists as a result of past event, nor areliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. Accordingly, aprovision cannot be 
recognised for such contingencies under the facts andcircumstances of the case. 

(ii)  "Provision" is the amount retained by the way of providing for any knownliability. 
Since the contingencies stipulated by the company are not known atthe balance sheet 
date, the provision in this regard cannot be created.Therefore, the provision so 
created by the company shall be treated as a‘Reserve’. 

Q 19:  Lucky P Limited has been assessed to Income-tax, in which a demand of Rs. 10 lacs 
hasbeen made. The company has gone in appeal. The company has deposited Rs. 6.00 
lacsagainst the demand, on being pursued by the department. The company has 
beenadvised by its counsel that there is 80% chance of losing in respect of one of the 
groundswhich may end up confirming the demand of Rs. 4.00 lacs, while on other 
grounds, there is fair chance of winning the appeal. How the company should treat 
the same while preparing the final accounts for the year ending 31st March, 2015? 

Ans:  In the given case, there is a present obligation of demand of Rs.10 lacs raised by the 
Income-tax department. As per the advise by the counsel, the outflow of resources up 
to Rs. 4 lacs is more likely to happen to settle the obligation since there is 80% 
probability of losing on one ground. Therefore, a provision of Rs. 4 lacs shall be made 
in the books of account for the year ended 31st March, 2015. 

 However, in respect of other grounds, there are fair chances of winning the appeal. 
Thus, no provision is required to be made for the remaining amount of Rs. 6,00,000 
and it should be shown as contingent liability in the books of the company while 
preparing the final accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2015. 

 The company paid Rs. 6 lacs against demand on being pursued by the department but 
created a provision of Rs. 4 lacs only. Hence it is expecting to get a refund in due 
course. Till the final settlement of the case, Rs. 6 lacs paid against income tax demand 
will appear under the heading ‘Non-current/Current Loans and Advances’ and 
‘Provision for taxation’ under the heading Long/Short term Provisions’, based on the 
expected date of settlement. 


